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FAB at a Glance

FAB at a Glance
The UAE's largest bank and one of the world's largest and safest financial institutions

5

7

Continents

Emirates

Global
presence

Domestic
network

79
Branches/
cash offices
in UAE

FAB has the strongest combined credit ratings amongst MENA Banks

Aa3
Moody’s

AA-

AA-

S&P

Fitch

Robust Financial Metrics – FY’18

Global Finance magazine’s
World’s Safest Banks ranking

#1

in UAE &
Middle East

#4

in Emerging
Markets

The Bankers’ Top 10001
World Banks ranking

#21

#1

World’s Safest
Commercial
Banks

in UAE &
Middle East

As of October 2018

#81
in the World

#116

AED

744

353

465

Total Assets

Loans and Advances

Customer Deposits

AED

AED

AED

Billion

+10% YOY

Billion

+7% YOY

Billion

+18% YOY

154

19.4

12.0

Market Capitalisation

Revenue

+10% YOY

Billion

+38% YOY

Billion

Stable YOY

2.5%

Cost-Income ratio (excl. integration cost) 25.9%

NPL ratio

3.1%

Billion
Net Profit

As of 31 Dec 2018 unless specified otherwise

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

118%

Provision coverage

110%

Basel III CET1

12.4%

Cost of Risk (loans & advances)

48bps

Basel III Capital Adequacy

15.7%

(by Assets)
1 - by Tier 1 capital strength; July 2018

AED

Return on Risk Weighted Assets

16.2%

in the World

Largest Bank in the UAE

AED

Return on Tangible Equity

Award-winning franchise
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Where We Operate

Where We Operate

With a global network across
5 continents in addition to the UAE,
FAB will continue to strengthen and
facilitate inward and outward trade
and investment flows.

Europe and Americas (E&A)

France | UK | Switzerland | USA | Brazil

Middle East and Africa (MEA)

UAE | Bahrain | Egypt | Kuwait
Libya | Oman | Saudi Arabia

Asia Pacific (APAC)

China | Hong Kong | India
Labuan (Malaysia) | Singapore
South Korea
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Chairman’s Statement

A historic year for the
UAE’s largest bank
2018 was an exceptional year
for FAB as we continued to
deliver on our commitment
of maximising returns for
our shareholders, while
completing the final
milestone of our integration
journey.

AED

74 12.0
fils

dividend per share

Billion

net profit

I am pleased to report that FAB delivered

of this performance, the Board of Directors

strong financial results in 2018 with a full

recommended the distribution of a cash

year Group Net Profit of AED 12.0 Billion,

dividend per share of 74 fils for the year

an increase of 10% from 2017. By the end

ended 31 December 2018, resulting in total

of 2018, FAB displayed solid fundamentals,

cash dividends for the year of AED 8.06

robust capital and liquidity ratios while

Billion, a 6% increase from 2017.

maintaining a healthy asset quality. In light

These strong results and our successful
systems’ integration reflect the fundamental
strength of the bank, its prudent approach
to growth in a competitive market, and a
firm focus on delivering our strategic agenda.
This is exemplified by our expansion into
Saudi Arabia, where we obtained investment
banking and commercial banking licenses
last year, and the bank’s launch of the
Abu Dhabi Government’s digital payment
portal, developed in collaboration with the
Abu Dhabi Smart Solutions and Services
Authority.
It is fitting that FAB should register such
a strong performance during 2018 – the
‘Year of Zayed’ – and the vision of our late
founding father, Sheikh Zayed bin Sultan
Al Nahyan, will continue to serve as our
inspiration moving forward.
On behalf of FAB’s Board of Directors, I would
like to thank the President of the United Arab
Emirates, His Highness Sheikh Khalifa bin
Zayed Al Nahyan, for his wise leadership and
support, His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin

Rashid Al Maktoum, Vice President,
Prime Minister and the Ruler of Dubai, His
Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed
Al Nahyan, Crown Prince of Abu Dhabi, His
Highness Sheikh Mansour bin Zayed
Al Nahyan, Deputy Prime Minister and
Minister of Presidential Affairs, and their
Highnesses, the rulers of the UAE, and
members of the Supreme Council for their
continued guidance.
I would also like to express my gratitude
to the UAE Central Bank, the UAE Securities
and Commodities Authority, Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange and our partners,
and thank customers for their loyalty and
support throughout our integration journey.
Finally, I would like to thank our board
members, the executive management
and our talented employees for making 2018
a truly historic year for our bank.
Tahnoon Bin Zayed Al Nahyan
Chairman
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Group CEO Statement

From Integration
to Transformation

It gives me great pleasure to present FAB’s key
achievements and financial results for 2018.
As the UAE’s Year of Zayed, 2018 will always
stand out as a special year, and this is all the
more so following the successful completion
of our IT systems integration in the fourth
quarter. This milestone concluded our UAE
integration journey, leaving us as a fully
unified bank able to provide enhanced banking
products and services to our customers.
FAB delivered a strong set of financial results
in 2018, recording a Group Net Profit of
AED 12.0 Billion, an increase of 10% from
2017. Our full year cost-to-income ratio
improved to 25.9% from 27.7%, reflecting the
bank’s continued progress in delivering cost
efficiencies across the organisation.

package announced in 2018 by the President
of the United Arab Emirates, His Highness

Thank you for your ongoing support.
Yours sincerely,

Sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan. As the

Abdulhamid Saeed

UAE’s most international bank, FAB aims to

Group Chief Executive Officer

build bridges between people, markets and

With our UAE
integration activities
complete, 2019 will be
the year in which
we begin to unlock our
full potential as one
of the world’s largest
and safest banking
institutions.
Dear Shareholders,

a three-year AED 50 billion economic stimulus

cultures at home and abroad during
the coming ‘Year of Tolerance’.

AED

12.0
Billion

Group Net Profit
+ 10% YOY
Approximately 75% of our 2020 cost synergy
run-rate target has been achieved so far, with
further synergies set to be unlocked through
process simplifications, automation and
network optimisation.
Reflecting FAB’s continued focus on
disciplined, strategic growth, the bank
continued its international expansion in 2018
and commenced operations in the Kingdom

AED

19.4
Billion

Revenue
(Flat YOY)

of Saudi Arabia, the region’s biggest economy.
Meanwhile, in Egypt, the Arab world’s most
populous country, we grew our personal and
corporate banking offerings.
With our UAE integration activities complete,
2019 will be the year in which we begin to
unlock our full potential as one of the world’s
largest and safest banks. We will continue to
invest in creating the most customer-friendly
banking experience in the region and look
forward to supporting Ghadan 2021,

25.9%
Cost-Income

Ratio
(vs. 27.7% in 2017)

16.2%

Return on
Tangible Equity
(vs. 14.6%
in 2017)
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Financial Performance

Financial
Performance
Moving from strength to strength
FAB delivered a strong set of results for the year ended
31 December 2018, reporting a full-year group net profit
of AED 12.0 Billion. This was an increase of 10% from 2017 and
a remarkable achievement delivered in the context of our final
UAE integration activities.

Our full year group revenue was broadly in

Our capital position remained robust in 2018

line with 2017, a resilient performance given

with Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio at

challenging market conditions against a strong

14.0%, or 12.4% post dividend, and Capital

comparative period in 2017 which included

Adequacy Ratio (CAR) at 15.7% comfortably

opportunistic investment gains. Total cash

in excess of regulatory requirements

dividends of AED 8.06 Billion, amounting to

considering FAB’s Domestic Systemically

AED 0.74 per share, were declared and paid

Important Bank (D-SIB) status. FAB continued

for 2018. This is a record total for the bank

to leverage its status as the only AA- or

and a 6% increase on 2017, underscoring our

equivalent rated bank in the MENA region and

firm commitment to maximising shareholder

one of the safest banks worldwide. 2018 was

returns.

a milestone year on the wholesale funding

FAB further strengthened its balance sheet
and financial ratios in 2018, with loans and
advances at AED 353 Billion and customer

Key Financial Highlights

deposits at AED 465 Billion, representing
year-on-year increases of 7% and 18%

LOAN TO DEPOSIT
RATIO

respectively. Our liquidity position and funding

CUSTOMER
DEPOSITS GROWTH

76%

profile remains comfortable, with the bank’s

+18%

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE
RATIO

Liquidity Coverage Ratio at 118%.

CASA GROWTH

integration costs) of 25.9% marks a significant
improvement from the 27.7% registered in

STRONG
LIQUIDITY &
BALANCE SHEET

2017, as FAB continues to realise cost synergies
and underscore its standing as one of the
world’s most efficient banks.

NPL RATIO

3.1%

SUPERIOR
ASSET
QUALITY

ROBUST
CAPITAL
& RETURN

RETURN ON
TANGIBLE EQUITY
(ROTE)

16.2%

As of 31 December 2018, FAB had total assets
of AED 744 Billion, up 10% from 2017 and
maintaining our position as the largest lender
in the UAE and one of the largest in the region.
The group presented healthy asset quality
metrics across corporate and retail portfolios
in 2018 with Non-Performing Loans (NPL)
of AED 11.5 Billion, and a stable NPL ratio

PROVISION
COVERAGE RATIO

110%

BASEL III CET1

14.0%

(PRE-DIVIDEND)

across multiple currencies and geographies
while navigating volatile market conditions.
This included a benchmark USD 650 Million
RegS Sukuk issuance in the first quarter of
2018. 2018 also saw the bank further diversify
its investor base in Europe and Asia through
the successful issuance of public local currency
bonds.

Our cost-to-income ratio (excluding

+6%

118%

side, with the Group raising over USD 2.3 Billion

at 3.1%. Adequate provision buffers post
IFRS9 implementation and Purchase Price
Allocation, coupled with risk optimisation in
Personal Banking, led to a 28% reduction in net
impairment charges year-on-year, translating
to a cost of risk (on loans and advances) of
48 basis points, down 21 basis points from the
previous year.

Performance by business
Corporate and Investment Banking Group (CIB)
delivered a solid performance in 2018,
achieving double-digit growth in balance sheet
and revenue despite increased competition
and market volatility. This standout
performance was driven by growth in Global
Transaction Banking, Global Markets and
Global Corporate Finance. Operating costs were
significantly lower year-on-year, reflecting
ongoing post-merger cost synergies and
improved efficiency across the business.

11
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Financial Performance

Personal Banking Group (PBG)

International Banking Group

PBG delivered a good performance in 2018

Revenue from our international operations

in spite of market headwinds and strong

grew 7% year-on-year, with contribution to

competition. Net profit and risk-adjusted

group revenue increasing to 13.3% from 12.4%

returns improved significantly from 2017,

in 2017. The international loan book recorded

due to a reduction in operating expenses and

solid growth year on year with a notable

impairment charges.

contribution from Asia-Pacific and the MENA

In a landmark fourth quarter, we unified legacy
IT systems into a single platform, allowing FAB

Financial Summary

region, while liquidity position remained
strong.

customers to open and manage their accounts

The Group’s international value proposition

through single channels and processes.

was under review, with operations outside of

In line with its commitment to innovation,

the UAE realigned to deliver maximum value

PBG signed a memorandum of understanding

going forward.

with the government of Abu Dhabi to codevelop a full digital payment solution, while

YoY %

launching enhanced online and mobile banking

7

services for its customers in the fourth quarter.

Group Revenue by Business

18

Group Revenue by Geography

6
11
(0)
0

38%

FY’18

Revenue
AED 19.4Bn

1%

Personal Banking
Subsidiaries

10%

Head Office

51%

Corporate &
Investment
Banking

FY’18

Revenue
AED 19.4Bn

87%

UAE

10%

Europe, Americas,
Middle East & Africa
(EAMEA)

3%

Asia-Pacific (APAC)

13

14

FAB Annual Review 2018

Integration Journey

Concluding Our
Integration Journey
“Given the level of complexity involved in unifying our legacy
IT systems, the successful completion of our UAE integration
journey in less than two years is testament to FAB’s robust risk
management framework and continued focus on execution.
We begin 2019 as a fully unified entity, ready to deliver
enhanced products and services for our customers, and
maximum value to our shareholders.”
Abdulhamid Saeed
Group Chief Executive Officer

In an historic moment for the Group, FAB

disciplined growth strategy and further cost

ended 2018 as a fully unified bank, thereby

synergies are expected from ongoing process

concluding its UAE integration journey in less

refinements, simplification and automation in

than two years. The final milestone in this

2019 and 2020.

journey was our systems integration,
a complex undertaking in the fourth quarter
whose success is testament to the bank’s
continued focus on execution and robust
risk management framework. Preparations
included five dress rehearsals over a period
of 9 months, covering all potential scenarios
and allowing systems integration to take
place with minimal disruption to the bank’s
operations.

Looking ahead, the Group can now begin to
unlock the full potential of a fully unified
bank with a strong focus on customer
In this regard, the strategic review of FAB’s
international value proposition is close to
completion, with operations outside of the

exemplified by the bank’s expansion into Saudi
crucial markets for 2019 and beyond.

approximately 75% of the 2020 cost synergy
run-rate target achieved to date and a fullyear cost-to-income ratio of 25.9%, down from
27.7% in 2017. These achievements reflect our

Merger
announcement

Legal merger
completion

Finalisation of
organisation
structure and
operating model

Harmonisation
of Group
policies and risk
framework

3rd Dec 2018
Unification of legacy systems
final milestone of UAE integration journey

Strategic
alignment of
international
operations

Network and
channels
rebranding

Product
and pricing
harmonisation

Process
refinements and
automation

Ongoing
network
optimisation

Launch of
key strategic
initiatives

maximum value moving forward. This is

schedule in 2018, including PBG product and

Islamic. Cost synergies continued apace with

2nd Apr 2017

UAE realigned to drive growth and deliver

Arabia and increased offering in Egypt, two

of the bank’s Islamic financial services to FAB

3rd Jul 2016

experience, digitisation and continued growth.

All integration milestones were delivered on
pricing harmonisation along with the rebrand

Reflecting on our
successful journey

Leading market position
Excellent progress in
delivering cost synergies

Optimised network and processes
Expansion in Saudi Arabia
underway

Strongest combined credit ratings of any other bank in MENA (AA- or equivalent)

15
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Market Overview

Market Overview
2018 was an unstable year for global
markets. Higher interest rates in the US, trade
wars, coupled with uncertainty over Brexit,
and increased geopolitical tensions impacted
market conditions and was a significant
contributor to slowing economies in key
markets.
The hydrocarbon industry was the primary
contributor for growth in the UAE in 2018,
with output rising to a record high of over
3.3 million barrels per day by the end of
the year. The UAE’s crude oil production
was nearly 3% higher than in 2017, and this
helped offset the slowdown in the nonoil sectors of the economy. However, an
aggressive re-pricing in the rates market

programme called ‘Vision 2030’.
A modest rate of growth is expected in 2019
as the pace of monetary tightening slows
weakening financial market sentiment, and
elevated uncertainties. According to the IMF,
global growth should moderate from 3.7% in

opening weeks of 2019, coupled with the
prospect of rising public investment and
easing fiscal consolidation, is expected to
prove supportive for oil exporting countries,
while oil importers should continue to benefit
from policy reforms.

to 3.2% in 2019, up from an estimated

price gains.

2.9% in 2018, and buoyed by a 17% rise in

2018 in the wake of the UAE and KSA
implementing VAT.
GCC GDP growth nonetheless strengthened
in 2018 to 2.7%, from the dismal 0.5%
in 2017 according to the IMF and is now
expected to register further gains in 2019 to
+3.5% as oil prices edge higher, supported by
OPEC/NOPEC oil production adjustments.

2018, are expected to improve UAE business
competitiveness over the medium term,
attract Foreign Direct Investment (FDI), and
contribute to non-oil private sector growth.

is expected to contribute AED 60-70 Billion
to GDP over the next three years, supporting

Realise advantages of scale
from our current position
as one of the largest
banks in the region

Mobile-centric
digitisation

Talent
mobilisation

Transform customer
experience and enable
efficiency & top line growth
(within & beyond banking)

Drive the transformation
as one team, while becoming
a magnet for the best
global talent

economic growth and diversification in line
with the Abu Dhabi Economic Vision 2030.
Of the AED 50 Billion assigned to the threeto the 2019 development programme.

a massive economic and social reform

Step change propositions and
disrupt distribution model
in UAE, while accelerating
international growth

In Abu Dhabi, the Ghadan 2021 stimulus plan

economy in the region in 2018 but similar

Saudi Arabia, which has embarked on

Drive value
from scale

reforms and incentives announced during

year plan, AED 20 Billion has been allocated

adopted in all six GCC countries particularly

Growth and
leadership in PBG

Leverage unique position as the
largest and most advanced
corporate bank in the region

federal government spending. A series of

The UAE remained the most diversified
structural changes are also now being

Regional dominance &
international relevance in CIB

In the Middle East, oil price recovery in the

resulted in a reversal of the year-to-date oil

moderated, after spiking initially in Q1

Strategy Pillars

2018 to 3.5% in 2019.

In the UAE, we expect real GDP to accelerate

in 2018 as global growth expectations

Our Vision - Creating value for our customers,employees,
shareholders and communities togrow stronger through
differentiation, agility and innovation.

against a backdrop of softening global trade,

and shift by investors toward a risk-off bias

Inflation remained anchored in the region

Our Strategy

17
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CIB Review

Corporate and Investment
Banking (CIB) Group
Contribution
to Group FY’18
metrics

Loans & advances

72%

Revenue

51%

Customer deposits

80%

Profit after Tax

56%

FAB’s award-winning CIB franchise offers a diverse and
sophisticated portfolio of products and services including
Credit facilities, Global Transaction Services, Corporate
Finance, Islamic Finance and Global Markets products for both
UAE and international clients.
Our achievements
CIB delivered a strong performance
during 2018, as the business continued to
demonstrate leading capabilities regionally
and internationally, while successfully
navigating competitive headwinds
and market volatility. All of our coverage
teams had a significant year, exceeding targets
and demonstrating the strength of
our client-centric model.
Global Corporate Finance
Global Corporate Finance (GCF) specialises
in corporate loans, bonds and equities. We
have significant experience in the origination,
structuring, pricing and distribution of debt
and equity products.
In 2018, we saw a material uptick in debt
capital market activity across Asia Pacific
and MENA, with deals executed totalling
USD 4.4 Billion. Of particular note is the first
DCM transaction in Saudi Arabia, through
our recently-established investment banking
subsidiary. This was a key milestone for
the Group as it strategically leverages
opportunities in a new market and the region’s
largest economy.
FAB led more deals than any other bank in

the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) and
GCC loan markets in 2018, as bond and sukuk
league tables continued to be influenced by
major sovereign transactions.
Global Markets
Our Global Markets operation benefits
from our position as the strongest bank in
the UAE with access to diverse sources of
liquidity. We have a presence throughout the
MENA, Asian and African markets and our
dedicated Markets Research team provides
timely insights on market movements. Our
e-commerce trade execution platform offers
clients complete control over their trades using
world-class technology. Operating income grew
14% year-on-year driven by higher returns
from ALM and credit portfolios despite volatile
market conditions, and fewer liquidations
compared to 2017. Increased client activity and
continued strength in flow products resulted in
significant revenue growth in GM Sales, which
exceeded AED 1 Billion for the first time.
Global Transaction Banking (GTB)
Global Transaction Banking (GTB) performed
well in 2018. Revenue grew 22% year-on-year
driven by our cash management business on
the back of rate hikes, new client mandates,
and the conversion of escrow business

opportunities. Momentum from trade finance
activity was sustained resulting in higher
unfunded balances and an increase in fee
income. The number of clients on-boarded
and transacting through GTB’s e-channels
also significantly increased during the year,
enhancing the speed, transparency and
convenience of transactions.
Dominant regionally and relevant
internationally
With our IT systems successfully unified in the
fourth quarter of 2018, we are now able to
provide clients with harmonised products and
services and act as the preferred bank for large
corporates and medium-sized businesses.
FAB’s international business, built around
regional expertise and strong relationships,
remains a key competitive advantage with
operations in 17 countries outside the
UAE. With a wholesale-driven international
strategy, it is a key differentiator and a
significant contributor to both liquidity and
risk diversification. Lending activity in the UAE,
regionally and in Asia Pacific was sustained in
2018, with the overall CIB loan book expanding
year-on-year.
Recognition
Our achievements in 2018 are reflected
in the numerous awards that the bank

received during the year. These include being
recognised as the:
 Most Innovative Investment Bank from the 		
Middle East - The Banker/FT
(third year in succession)
 Best Investment Bank in the UAE Euromoney (second year in succession)
 Best Investment Bank in the UAE Global Finance
 Best Equity Bank in the Middle East Global Finance
 Best New Islamic Bank Award Globally - IFN
 Best Trade Finance bank in MENA Global Trade Review
 Best Cash Management Bank in UAE International Finance Magazine
Looking Ahead
A key priority is to strengthen and maintain
our market leading position in the UAE
and become a regional bank of choice for
Corporate and Investment Banking clients.
We will also focus on becoming a relevant
player in key international markets such
as KSA, Egypt and across Asia. This will
be coupled with ongoing expansion and
simplification of our product offering and
investment in our digital capabilities to
meet the ever changing requirements of our
customers.

LEAGUE TABLE RANKINGS
#

1 Bookrunner

of MENA Syndicated Loans

#

1

of MENA
Syndicated
Loans

#

5

Bookrunner of
MENA Bonds
and Sukuk1

for second consecutive year,
nearest regional bank
competitor is #10

#

1

Bank for MENA
Liability
Management

#

1

UAE
custodian
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PBG Review

Serve all types
of customers

Large
distribution
network

Full suite of
products

Personal Banking
Group
2.5Mn
79 (PBG)
branches and pay offices in
UAE with a presence across
all 7 emirates

PBG Contribution
to Group FY’18
metrics

More than

Loans

27%

Revenue

Customer
Deposits

19%

Profit After Tax

customers

38%
72%
33%

Enhanced customer experience

merchant portfolio, launching its online

During 2018, the business continued to

analytics tool, Merchant Portal, while the

focus on delivering distinctive propositions,

Business Banking team witnessed significant

improving customer service and growing

growth across liabilities. The business also

acquisitions in a highly competitive market,

launched its product offering in Saudi Arabia.

while increasing reliance on digital channels to
drive sales and enhance productivity. Following
FAB’s successful systems integration in the last
quarter, PBG launched a new online banking

With a focus on the diverse needs of the retail, affluent,
private banking and SME customer segments, the Personal
Banking Group (PBG) offers a wide range of attractive
products, from current accounts, deposits, credit cards and
loans for day-to-day banking needs to more sophisticated
investment solutions and small banking products and services.
Our achievements

During the second quarter of 2018, FAB

PBG delivered a strong performance in 2018,

announced plans to integrate the business

with profitability improving on the back of a

of its consumer finance subsidiary, Dubai

reduction in operating expenses, coupled with

First, into PBG, as part of the bank’s ongoing

a decrease in impairment charges. Operating

integration journey and efforts to optimise

income was lower year-on-year, principally due

its operations, products and services. FAB also

to the impact of risk-asset optimisation on

organised the National Housing Exhibition in

interest and non-interest revenue sources.

September, which was attended by over 7,000

Through successful digital lead-sourcing and

potential customers.

product campaigns, PBG’s loan portfolio

As of the end of December 2018, FAB’s

grew sequentially during the year, leading to

domestic network comprised 79 branches and

renewed momentum in personal lending and

cash offices compared to a count of 103 a

credit cards. Customer deposits saw a healthy

year prior. This reflects the bank’s continued

growth in 2018, boosted by higher CASA

efforts to improve operating efficiency and

balances.

leverage digital solutions through a ‘smart’
multichannel distribution model.

Serve all types
of customers

79

Full suite of
products

branches and pay offices in
UAE with a presence across
all 7 emirates

PBG Contribution
to Group FY’18
metrics

More than

Large
distribution
network

2.5Mn

Loans

27%

Revenue

Customer
Deposits

19%

Profit After Tax

customers

38%
72%
33%

platform and mobile banking app, reflecting
our commitment to digital transformation for

Recognition
FAB investment managers were recognised by
Global Investor Group and awarded UAE Asset
Manager of the Year and Sukuk Manager of
the Year 2018.

an enhanced customer experience. PBG also

Looking Ahead

continued to enhance offerings across Private

Going forward, our key focus is to continue

Banking, Elite and Business Banking.

to be a leading retail franchise in the UAE

New offerings
In 2018, PBG successfully launched the UAE’s
first fully-featured digital wallet, ‘Payit’, which
allows its users to send and receive money
instantly at any time of day, make payments
through merchant partner applications,
websites or by scanning QR codes, as well as
split bills with friends and track their spending.
PBG also continued to build on its strong

and to build a strong presence in selected
international markets such as KSA and Egypt.
We will also focus on developing our digital
capabilities and continue in our efforts
to leverage customer driven data to build
differentiating customer value propositions
with competitive product and services across
all our customer segments.
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Our People

Our People

range of platforms including social media,
university open days, career fairs and
advertising, we received over 400,000 job
applications from across the world in 2018 to
help us identify the right talent for the bank.
Our Talent Acquisition team was nominated
for Best Talent Acquisition Team (UAE) and
Best Employer Brand at the LinkedIn Talent
Awards after a challenging selection process
from more than 1000 organisations across the
MENA region. This achievement is testament
to our commitment to acquiring and
developing the right people to support FAB’s
strategic priorities, as well as our leveraging
of both digital and offline channels to engage
talent from across the world.

At FAB, we have established a work
culture that puts our customers at the
heart of everything we do, delivering
superior value and sustainable growth
for our shareholders.
2018 highlights
As part of our efforts to drive
efficiency and improve cost
management, we undertook a
compensation review in the UAE and
harmonised policies and procedures
across our international locations to
ensure alignment across the group.

Total number of employees (FTE)
Number of UAE-based employees

Our workforce*

22

Number of international employees
Percentage of women in the workforce
Number of nationalities (FTE)
Emiratisation ratio (UAE-based)
Total Emiratis hired

5,451
4,184
1,267
39%
82
32.8%
253

* Full time employees (FTE), excludes outsourced and other contract staff

We also continue to invest in people and
technology to create the most customerfriendly banking experience possible and
to support the growth ambitions of our
shareholders.
Talent Acquisition
To meet the strategic growth aspirations of
the bank, the HR team recruited key talent
at all levels of the organisation in 2018,

which included focused hiring for revenue
generating, risk and integration roles. Other
hires supported significant growth in Egypt,
our expansion into Saudi Arabia, as well as
upgraded senior leadership positions in the
UAE and internationally.
FAB has proven to be a highly desirable
employer in the region and, through a wide

UAE National Development
As the largest bank in the UAE, we remain
steadfast in our commitment to invest and
contribute to the country’s development
by investing in its people. Our Emiratisation
Strategy focuses on delivering a unique
Employee Value Proposition based on the
three key pillars of Talent, Development and
Engagement.
This year FAB partnered with the Ministry of
Human Resources and Emiratisation (MoHRE)
for successful recruitment of UAE nationals.
We also welcomed 253 UAE nationals to the
bank, of which 87 were fresh graduates who
started their career with us as part of our
Nujoom Management Training Programme,
an 18-month accelerated development
programme to develop the best talent for the
future. We also welcomed 99 female Emirati
colleagues from the Northern Emirates as part
of our ‘work from home’ initiative, which aims
to support Emirati females to balance their
professional aspirations alongside personal
responsibilities.

Learning offerings for our Emirati Talent
In 2018, FAB rolled out several learning
programmes for the development of Emirati
colleagues. These programmes aim to equip
participants with the knowledge and skills to
take up future leadership positions at FAB and
in the wider region. Over 1300 UAE nationals
participated in the programmes in 2018, which
ranged from entry level technical capabilities
to senior leadership development programmes,
delivered in partnership with world-class
learning providers.
Our mission is to ensure that every Emirati
colleague has access to the best learning tools
to improve in their current role and to enhance
skills which will prepare them for the next.
To this end, we offer the following bespoke
development programmes for our Emirati
talent:
Nujoom
Management
Training
Programme

Al Masar
Programme

Qeyada
Programme

Tamkeen
Programme

Supports fresh UAE
national graduates to take
on middle management
roles within 18 months.

Helps our Emirati employees
to realise their career
development aspirations by
reviewing current capabilities,
proposing development
solutions, and supporting
them throughout their
transformational journey

Focuses on Emirati
succession planning and
developing colleagues with
leadership potential to take
on senior roles at FAB

Provides tailored
development and progression
planning for Emiratis in
non-managerial roles to
pursue their career ambitions
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The bank also offers a coaching programme to
high-potential UAE nationals to identify and
develop their skill sets. We have also partnered
with Abu Dhabi Global Markets (ADGM) as
well as a reputed consultancy to deliver
functional programmes as part of the FAB
Business School learning curriculum, in order to
develop the skills of our people in critical roles
across the group. To date, our development
programmes have supported over 100 Emiratis
to progress into senior roles across the
organisation, enabling them to embrace new
challenges and grow stronger.
FAB Business School
At FAB, we aim to provide our colleagues
with the best-in-class learning solutions
to help them deepen their knowledge and
support their professional development.
Since integration was our key focus in 2018,
FAB Business School designed and offered
over 200 online learning modules to ensure
that colleagues were well aware of the bank’s
integration activities, processes and systems.
These modules were tailored to suit the
needs specific functions across the bank and
will enable us to deliver a unified banking
experience to all our customers now that our
IT systems integration is complete.
FAB Business School also partnered with
banking specialists to offer our employees
a wide range of functional curriculums,
certifications and qualifications to help them
strengthen their functional and behavioral
capabilities. As part of our talent development
efforts, our Leadership Centre of Excellence
rolled out leadership training programmes in
partnership with world-renowned institutions
such New York University (NYU), INSEAD and
Harvard Business Publishing ME to ensure that
we provide the right development plan for all
of our leaders across the bank.

2018 also saw FAB Business School launch
its Responsible Banker programme which
comprises essential knowledge on risk,
compliance, our core businesses and products,
as well as insights as to how employees can
live the FAB Values.
Organisational Development
In 2018, FAB’s Organisation Development team
rolled out diverse programmes which helped
embed our values across the bank and
shape a culture based on employee
engagement and recognition. During the
year we introduced a range of engagement
programmes for our colleagues to help build
positive relationships, recognise achievements,
improve wellbeing, and promote FAB’s values.
To this end, we implemented a number of
quarterly and annual recognition initiatives
to celebrate those who achieve excellence
in embodying our values.

FAB’s approach
to sustainability
As the UAE’s largest bank and one of the largest in the
MENA region, FAB has a significant opportunity to shape
a sustainable future for its customers, employees and
shareholders wherever we operate. FAB’s approach to
sustainability is embedded throughout all facets of the bank,
as we seek to generate greater economic, social and
environmental value for our stakeholders.

Embedding
sustainability
throughout our strategy and
corporate culture is the foundation stone
of our approach to conducting business in a
responsible, sustainable manner. Our objective
is to maximise stakeholder value through the
identification of new opportunities and the active
management of current and future ESG risks.
FAB seeks to respond to emerging issues through
its sustainability framework and policies
which actively inform its corporate
strategy. Key facets of this
approach include:

FAB’s Corporate
Sustainability
team, which guides
and implements
our sustainability
strategy

Our Corporate
Strategy, which is
a prioritised set of
actions for achieving
our vision, with clear
focal areas and longterm targets

A set of policies
that embed relevant
sustainability principles
in our day-to-day
operations, such as
FAB’s Code of Conduct
and Environmental
Policy

A group-wide
Sustainability Policy,
which sets out
broad principles for
taking a precautionary
and responsible
approach to
business
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2018 highlights

Looking ahead

Included in the MSCI Emerging Markets
Index and FTSE4Good Emerging Index –
reinforcing FAB’s position as a regional
leader in sustainability

Acted as arranger for the MENA region’s
first Green Loan, providing funding to
Masdar for global clean technology and
sustainable real estate projects

Received a B score by CDP for our
climate change response, once again
demonstrating our environmental
leadership among UAE banks

Acted as bookrunner for a benchmark
Green Bond issue for State Bank of India,
with the funds earmarked for clean
energy projects

FAB aims to preserve and further strengthen

plans to continue to lend, invest and facilitate

its position as a regional leader in sustainability

a total of $10 billion of financing within the

across the financial sector and the wider

next 10 years for environmentally sustainable

business community. We will further align our

projects.

operations with international best practices as
part of our three-year corporate roadmap and
continue to deliver top shareholder returns in a
sustainable way.

Put a special policy in place to 300
employee volunteers to take four days
volunteering leave and take up roles at the
Special Olympics World Games being held
in Abu Dhabi in 2019

FAB issued its first post-merger
sustainability report, meeting the growing
demands of regional and international
investors for environmental, social and
governance (ECG) information

From January to July 2018, over
1,000 employees participated in FAB’s
blood donation campaign and helped
make a difference to 3,000 lives

Launched #PeopleWithPurpose
volunteering programme to support
FAB’s corporate community investment
commitments and help employees to
embody our values

Sustainability focus areas
Aligned to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), our
priority areas for sustainability are as follows:

Responsible banking

Responsible employment

To achieve long-term success in today’s

Our outstanding team of talented and

financial world, we believe that taking

empowered individuals is the foundation

a responsible approach to banking is

for our current success and the key to our

paramount.

future.

Governance, integrity and
risk management

Positive social
impact

Our strong governance framework creates

We strive to be a respected

the parameters for responsible management,

community partner that understands local

accountability and decision-making at FAB,

needs and shapes long-term relationships.

while assuring the highest ethical behaviour in
everything we do.

FAB is committed to maintaining a strong
relationship with our stakeholders, from
shareholders and investors, to governments,
regulators, local communities, suppliers

The bank will continue to make strides in

and our employees. We will maintain a high

addressing climate change, sustainable

degree of transparency when reporting on

investing and lending, responsible employment

our sustainability priorities and the impact of

and governance, as well as ethics and risk

our operations. FAB is committed to providing

management. This will be achieved by taking a

as much useful, up-to-date information as

holistic approach to sustainable development

possible to its stakeholders and to keep them

and the bank’s obligations as a responsible

informed through a variety of mechanisms,

corporate citizen. Through its green bond, FAB

both financial and non-financial.

27

28

FAB Annual Review 2018

Board of Directors

H.H. Sheikh Tahnoon
Bin Zayed Al Nahyan
Chairman
National Security Advisor
Chairman of Royal Group

H.E. Nasser Ahmed
Alsowaidi
Vice Chairman of the Board
Chairman of ETECH

H.E. Khaldoon
Khalifa Al Mubarak
Board Member
CEO and MD of Mubadala
Investment Company
Chairman of the Executive Affairs Authority
of the Government of Abu Dhabi

H.E. Sheikh Ahmed Mohammed
Sultan Al Dhaheri
Board Member
Chairman of Bin Suroor Engineering
Vice Chairman of Abu Dhabi
National Hotels Company

H.E. Mohammed Thani
Al-Romaithi
Board Member
Chairman of the Federation of UAE
Chambers of Commerce and Industry
Board Member of Al Etihad
Credit Bureau

H.E. Mohamed Saif
Al Suwaidi
Board Member
Director General of Abu Dhabi
Fund for Development
Board Member of DP World
and Agthia

H.E. Jassim Mohammed
Al Siddiqi
Board Member
CEO and MD of Abu Dhabi
Financial Group (ADFG)
Chairman of Shuaa and
Eshraq Properties

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

H.E. Khalifa Sultan
Al Suwaidi
Board Member
Executive Director at the Abu Dhabi
Investment Council (ADIC)
Board Member of UNB, ADIC
and Barakah One

H.E. Sheikh Mohammed Bin Saif
Bin Mohammed Al Nahyan
Board Member
Chairman of Abu Dhabi National
Insurance Company (ADNIC)
Chairman of Risk Management
Committee of ADNIC

Abdulhamid Saeed

Group Chief Executive Officer

André Sayegh
Deputy Group CEO & Group
Head of Corporate and
Investment Banking

James Burdett
Group Chief Financial
Officer

Zulﬁqar Ali Sulaiman
Group Head of International
Banking & Group Chief
Operating/Integration Officer

Fadhel Al Ali
Group Chief Customer
Experience and Digital
Officer

Arif Shaikh
Group Chief Risk Officer

Shirish Bhide
Group Chief Credit Officer

Karim Karoui
Group Head of Subsidiaries,
Strategy and Transformation

Peter Baker
Group Chief People Officer

Hana Al Rostamani
Group Head of
Personal Banking

Nurendra Peerera
Group Chief Audit Officer
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Corporate Governance
Since the merger, FAB has committed itself

High-level overview of the FAB Corporate

to creating a corporate governance framework

Governance Framework

that is designed to improve the quality of

FAB is governed by a framework of boards

decision-making across the organisation and

and committees. Following the merger, the

build strong relationships with stakeholders

bank undertook a comprehensive structural

through a transparent structure that

review of the management committees as

supports high-quality disclosures. FAB is

part of its continuing work to establish a

highly focused on achieving best practices

streamlined and effective reporting structure

in corporate governance, business integrity

to the Board Committees. This included a

and professionalism. The bank approved

review of the charters for each committee

a corporate governance framework which

in order to maximise the efficiency of

is aligned with its strategic objectives and

operations and to ensure clear lines of

reflects applicable regulatory guidelines,

accountability for decisions. The corporate

including those of the Central Bank of the

governance framework identifies the

UAE (“CBUAE”) and its other regulators. FAB’s

responsibilities and accountabilities for: the

governance structure also includes a strong,

Board and individual Board Directors, Board

ethical code of conduct which all employees

Committees, the Executive Committee and its

must be aware of and comply with in their

supporting Management Committees, and the

daily interactions.

organisation’s support and control functions.

FAB’s overarching corporate governance
protocols are overseen by the Board, which

FAB

Board of Directors

FAB Board Sub-Committees

** Shariah Board of Directors

Executive Management Committee

Subsidiary Companies

Management Committees and Subsidiary
Companies Board and Management Committees
*Indicates flow of information and not reporting lines
** The bank also operates a Sharia Supervisory Board which advises all relevant parts of the FAB business on key aspects of its Islamic activities.

Board of Directors

of the paid-up capital of FAB, or exceeds AED

Pursuant to the FAB Group’s Articles of

5 million (or an equivalent amount in a foreign

directs the Group’s affairs and works with

Association and in accordance with Federal

currency, whichever is less).

Executive Management to set the bank’s

Law No. 2 of 2015 concerning Commercial

strategic objectives. FAB is driven by the

Companies, FAB Board of Directors consists of

selection of productive strategies and

nine (9) members.

management of risk. It also has a closely
monitored delegation of authority framework
that supports the need for independence in
decision-making and escalation of reporting,
with clearly articulated individual and
collective accountabilities and compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations.
This allows the bank to satisfy the interests of
stakeholders through transparent and material
disclosures, meets its regulatory obligations
and engage positively and transparently with
the community and its customers.

The Board of FAB has overall responsibility
for directing the Group’s affairs, to create
and preserve value through the group’s

The composition of the Board satisfies the

operations, and to consider the shareholders’

generally acceptable corporate governance

and other stakeholders’ interests. The Board,

practice relating to the separation of Chairman

either directly or through its committees, is

and Group Chief Executive and the majority

responsible for oversight in the following areas:

membership of non-executive Directors.

strategic planning, defining risk appetite,

The Board considers that a Director is

the identification and management of risk,

independent if neither himself nor any of his

capital management, fostering a culture of

first-degree relatives have been a member of

integrity, internal controls, succession planning

the Senior Management of FAB during the last

and evaluation of senior management,

two years or has a relationship that creates

communication, public disclosure and

any financial transactions or deals with FAB or

corporate governance. It has documented its

any of its subsidiaries totaling a value of 5%

roles and responsibilities in a Board Charter
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and associated policies. The Board Charter

Board Audit Committee (BAC)

Sharia Supervisory Board

underwent a structural review in 2018 and the

and a number of associated policies have

The BAC ensures the quality and integrity of

FAB is supervised from a Sharia perspective

associate framework is constantly evolving

been reviewed and amended as necessary to

financial statements and financial reporting,

by a Sharia Supervisory Board (SSB) who are

to reflect the current direction of the bank.

reflect the evolution of the bank following the

including oversight of the internal and external

appointed by the Board of Directors (BOD) of

The composition, guiding principles and

merger. This includes a comprehensive Code

auditor, and assesses the effectiveness

the bank. The SSB consists of renowned and

detailed roles and responsibilities of all FAB

of Conduct for Directors which reflects their

of internal control, risk management and

qualified Sharia scholars who are responsible

management committees are set out in their

role in setting the tone for the conduct of the

governance systems.

for ensuring that all of the bank’s Islamic

respective charters.

whole organisation. The Board delegates its
authority to Executive Management through
the Board and Board Committees and the
delegation of authority framework.

Board Risk and Compliance
Committee (BRCC)
The BRCC provides oversight and advice to
the Group Board in relation to current and

Aside from certain authorities and powers

potential future risk and compliance exposures

reserved by the Board for its own decision-

of the FAB Group. It also considers and helps

making, the Group Chief Executive is delegated

direct future risk strategy, including the

full responsibility for the management,

determination of risk appetite and tolerance,

operations and compliance of FAB. To satisfy

and the promotion of a risk and compliance

its oversight role, the Board has defined

awareness culture among the Group.

a clear control structure, which monitors
management activities, in addition to creating
supporting controls and reporting structures
both internal and external to the bank. The
delegation and control structure is also subject
to compliance with and oversight by regulators
and third parties, including the CBUAE and the

Board Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (REMCO)
The REMCO oversees the composition of the
Group Board Directors and succession planning
for the Group Executive Committee members.
It also reviews FAB’s reward policy framework.

Securities and Commodities Authority of the

Each of these committees remains an

UAE (“SCA”), and regulators in jurisdictions

integral part of the Board and its members

where FAB operates.

are Directors of the Board. The remit of these

Board Sub-Committees
To enable the Board to carry out its objectives,
authority is delegated to the committees
appointed by the Board as required. The Board
has established the following four Board subcommittees:

Committees is to research and consider topics
in greater detail and provide recommendations
to the Board, to manage conflicts of interest,
to satisfy regulatory requirements, provide
leadership, satisfy the interests of shareholders
and provide management oversight to ensure
the proper governance of the Group. The

Board Management Committee (BMC)

Committee Charters are reviewed annually to

The BMC approves and oversees execution

align closely with the evolving business and

of the FAB Group’s business plan as per the

structure of the Group.

strategy approved by the Board, and oversees
and reviews material aspects of the Group’s
business.

banking products, services and operations are
in compliance to the Sharia principles, and
reviewing them on an ongoing basis.
The bank’s Islamic banking operation regularly
seeks the guidance of the SSB on matters
relating to Sharia. The SSB also supervises
the bank’s Islamic subsidiaries in all matters
related to Sharia. These subsidiaries are First
Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC and Aseel
Finance Pvt. JSC respectively.

Subsidiary company and
International governance
Dubai First Pvt. JSC, Aseel Finance Pvt.
JSC, First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt.
JSC, and FAB Securities LLC are regulated
subsidiary companies of FAB in the UAE, and
each operates within the bank’s overarching
corporate governance framework. FAB
subsidiary companies operate corporate
governance frameworks suited to their

FAB also has an Internal Shariah Unit (ISU)

business. They have their own Boards and

consisting of personnel qualified in Sharia

supporting committees as required by

and Islamic banking. ISU is responsible for

applicable laws and regulations.

managing and performing all related Sharia
functions including Sharia review, advisory and
structuring; Shariah Secretariat to the SSB;
Shariah research and training; Shariah audit;
and Shariah risk management.
Management Committees
FAB has a number of management
committees, including the Executive
Management Committee. The management
committees’ structures helps drive senior-level
management decision-making within the
bank across a range of matters including the
management of issues pertaining to strategy,
finance, capital, risk, operations, information
technology and employees. The Integration
Steering Committee was prominent
throughout 2018 and provided leadership for
the integration of FAB’s products, services, IT

To assist, guide, direct and challenge the senior
management of FAB subsidiary companies,
the Board of Directors consists of senior
professionals with substantial banking,
finance, Islamic and risk experience. They are
primarily FAB Group employees unless the
legal and/or regulatory requirements mandate
the need for independent (non-FAB) directors.
However, these Directors are taken from a
different line of business so that they can
offer an independent perspective. The Board
of Directors of FAB subsidiary companies
have a majority of UAE Nationals as required
under the UAE Commercial Companies Law
and FAB is committed to developing the
leadership skills of Emiratis through a strong
Emiratisation programme.

platforms and supporting documentation. As

In addition to its UAE subsidiaries, FAB has

noted above, the management committees

several international subsidiaries with their
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own fully constituted Board and committee

a key focus for FAB as it is considered good

protecting customer and personal data

Recognition and Achievements

structure. However, the majority of the bank’s

governance. This includes providing a response

confidentiality, sensitive information and

A key achievement in 2018 was the successful

international presence is through branches and

to regulator consultations through the UAE

confidential commercial information. These

integration programme under the direction

representative offices, providing operations

Banks Federation (“UBF”).

considerations are embedded in the Employee

of the Integration Steering Committee as

Code of Conduct and the bank’s values system.

noted above. The bank also successfully

Shareholder rights and interests include powers

provided a response to the CBUAE consultation

reserved in the UAE Commercial Companies

on its proposed UAE Corporate Governance

Law and FAB’s Articles of Association and are

Regulations and Standards through the

supported by the duty of the Board to act

UBF, and will continue to provide its views

and services at a local level and supported
by regional and Group management as
appropriate. FAB has developed a risk control
governance framework for each international
location that sets out the governance

The Board provides guidance and oversight in
terms of risk appetite, significant compliance
and risk strategies, as well as dealing with
compliance and risk outcomes.

structure including the senior management

Codes of Conduct

in the best interests of the Company. FAB

and maintain constructive dialogue with its

organisation structure, committees, decision-

In addition to the Board Code of Conduct

acknowledges that there are diverse interests

regulators moving forward.

making forums and reporting lines.

noted above, the Bank has a comprehensive

within the shareholder base and the Board

employee Code of Conduct which applies to

considers such interests when determining the

Directors, employees and subsidiaries of FAB.

objectives and strategies for the Group.

Regulatory Compliance
FAB is regulated by the CBUAE and is therefore
required to comply with CBUAE regulations,
circulars and notices. In addition, FAB is
required to comply with all applicable laws
and regulations of the UAE, including, without
limitation, the UAE Commercial Companies
Law and the 2018 Federal UAE Banking Law,
rules and standards established by the SCA
and the bank’s Articles of Association. FAB has
a specialist compliance team that reviews new
laws and regulations and assesses their impact
on the bank, advising the Board as necessary
through the Committee framework. FAB is also
impacted by international regulations that
have global or regional impact where the bank
conducts business, such as BASEL III and the

The codes encourage appropriate behaviour,
define inappropriate behaviour and the
process and outcomes for the identification
and reporting of such behaviour. Consistent
with FAB’s approach to employing high
standards for transparency and disclosure
for the benefit of shareholders and other
stakeholders, the bank publishes a wide range
of reports containing financial and nonfinancial data through its Investor Relations
function, in addition to disclosures required

Executive Compensation
Executive Management compensation at FAB
aims at achieving sustainable business growth
and protecting stakeholder value.
Our compensation structure contains a mix of
fixed and discretionary variable pay. The fixed
pay is aligned to external market benchmarks
to ensure that senior leadership is adequately
compensated and that there is relative stability
at those levels.

for regulatory purposes. This includes FAB’s

Variable pay is linked to achievement of results

first Environmental Sustainability Governance

as per the elements of the balanced scorecard

(ESG) report, which can be found on the bank’s

(Financials, Customer, Process and People) as

website.

well as demonstration of their achievement
in line with Bank’s stated values. Managerial

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).

FAB has established a number of

The bank is also mandated to comply with all

functions committed to engagement and

international regulations in all jurisdictions

communication with external stakeholders.

where it operates. This is achieved through

These include Investor Relations, Corporate

local compliance staff, with oversight and

Communications, Sustainability, Regulatory

Additionally, adequate safety measures such

guidance provided as necessary at Group level.

Compliance and Corporate Governance. In

as partial deferral of variable compensation

Senior management has the responsibility

addition, internal transparency and disclosure

are in place to ensure that decision making

to ensure compliance with applicable laws

is considered from operational, ethical and

is on the basis of long term sustainability.

and regulations across the geographic spread

regulatory perspectives, ensuring that

Such deferrals are applied on the basis of the

of the Group and report on such matters to

staff are aware of developments, strategies

value of the discretionary variable pay and

the Board. Developing a strong relationship

and risks pertaining to FAB, as well as their

is commensurate with the level of decision

with regulators and partnering with them is

personal responsibilities and duties, whilst

making and impact to the business.

discretion is also applied to ensure that there is
a true reflection of ‘how’ the business growth
is achieved in addition to ‘what’ was achieved.
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Shareholder Information
2018/2017 Financial and Events Calendar

Shareholder Returns & Share Price Information

Date

Event

Description

29/04/2018

Q1’2018 Financial Results Announcement

24/07/2018

Q2/H1’2018 Financial Results Announcement

22/10/2018

Q3/9M’2018 Financial Results Announcement

30/01/2019

Q4/FY’2018 Financial Results Announcement

25/02/2019

General Assembly Meeting

06/03/2019

Ex-Dividend Date

Returns to shareholders ¹:
Capital Gains ²
Cash Dividend Yield³
Stock Dividends (Bonus shares)4
Cash Dividend (AED/share)
Total Cash Dividends (AED Bn)5
Cash Dividend Payout6

06/03/2019

Analyst & Investor Day

FAB Share Information
Listing Date

20001

Exchange

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX)

Symbol

FAB

ISIN

AEN000101016

Number of Shares Issued

10,897,545,318

Closing Price as of 31 Dec 2018

AED 14.10

Market Cap as of 31 Dec 2018

AED 153.7Bn (USD 41.8Bn)

Foreign Ownership Limit

40%2

FAB 2017 (Pro forma)

FAB 2018

2.6%
6.8%
–
0.70
7.63
73%

2.6%
5.2%
–
0.74
8.06
70%

111,700
10,898
10.7x
1.6x

153,655
10,898
13.3x
2.2x

11.55
9.72
10.25
2,864,449

14.84
10.45
14.10
3,382,382

5.9%
(25.0)%

25.8%
46.2%

Market Capitalisation (AED Mn)
Number of Shares Issued (Mn)
Price to Tangible Earnings ratio (on Basic EPS)
Price to Tangible Book ratio
Share Price (AED/share):
High
Low
Closing as of 31 Dec 2018
Daily Average Volume (shares)
Relative Returns (capital gains):
FAB vs ADX return
FAB vs MSCI EM Banks’ Index return

1. This is referring to the listing date of NBAD shares on ADX
2. Foreign Ownership Limit increase from 25% to 40% approved by FAB shareholders
at the General Assembly Meeting on 25 February 2019; effective 14 April 2019

FAB Index Weights

FAB Share Price Performance vs. Benchmark indices4 (rebased)

+38%

+12%

-25%

-17%

-17%

1 Based on Issued Shares
2 Percentage change in price during the year (31 Dec’17 –31 Dec’18)
3 Dividend yield based on cash dividends per share as a percentage of closing
share price as on 31 December or last traded day of the relevant financial year
4 Shown as a percentage of face value
5 Based on number of shares issued as at 31 December of the relevant
financial year

4 - Rebased to FAB share price as on 29 December 2017

6 Dividend payout ratio based on cash dividends as a percentage of attributable
profits (net profits after minority interest and payment on Tier-1 capital notes)

ADX (as of 31 Dec 2018) (as per Bloomberg)

43.7%

MSCI Emerging Markets Index

0.22%

MSCI Emerging Markets Banks Index

1.19%

FTSE Emerging Markets Index

0.25%

7 High / Low based on daily closing prices

FGB-NBAD Merger

Source: Bloomberg, FAB financials 2018, FAB Pro forma financials 2017

On 7 December 2016, the shareholders of First Gulf Bank (“FGB”) and National Bank of Abu Dhabi
(“NBAD”) approved the merger of FGB and NBAD. The merger was effected through a share-swap
transaction at an exchange ratio of 1.254 NBAD shares for every one share of FGB.

Ownership Structure as of December-end 2018

As of 31 December 2018, FAB’s share capital stood at AED 10,897,545,318 divided into 10,897,545,318 shares of AED 1 each.

FGB shares were delisted from the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and on 2 April 2017 NBAD
issued 5,643 million new shares to the shareholders of FGB. Following the completion of the

FAB Shareholding3 by Nationality

FAB Shareholding3 by Category

merger, FGB shareholders owned approximately 52 percent of the combined bank and NBAD
shareholders owned approximately 48 percent.

Abu Dhabi Investment
Council 33.4%

Abu Dhabi Investment
Council 33.4%

Mubadala
Development
Company 3.7%
Other UAE companies
and individuals 51.1%

Mubadala 3.7%

GCC (ex-UAE) 1.1%
Foreign (ex-GCC) 10.7%

3 - Shareholding percentage based on total outstanding number of shares (issued less Treasury shares of 25,530,837)

Other Government
Institutions 1.8%
Corporate 36.3%
Individuals 24.8%

Upon the effective date of the merger, assets and liabilities of FGB were automatically vested
into NBAD in consideration for the issue of shares in the new NBAD entity to existing FGB
shareholders. On 24 April 2017, the shareholders approved the proposal to change the name
of the combined bank to ‘First Abu Dhabi Bank’.
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Financial Summary

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

As at 31 December
Assets

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

For the year ended 31 December
2018
USD’000

2017
USD’000

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2018
USD’000

2017
USD’000

182,908,727

138,111,054

49,798,183

37,601,703

Interest income

21,836,404

18,846,918

5,945,114

5,131,206

14,620,910

19,320,764

3,980,645

5,260,213

Interest expense

(8,810,445)

(5,740,867)

(2,398,705)

(1,562,991)

Due from banks and financial institutions

19,176,092

13,829,490

5,220,825

3,765,176

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

Reverse repurchase agreements

19,033,451

21,346,974

5,181,990

5,811,863

13,025,959

13,106,051

3,546,409

3,568,214

Derivative financial instruments

13,084,192

11,399,432

3,562,263

3,103,575

353,205,228

330,465,888

96,162,600

89,971,655

Fee and commission income

90,433,574

88,457,710

24,621,175

24,083,232

Fee and commission expense

Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties

7,388,493

6,927,692

2,011,569

1,886,113

Property and equipment

3,991,215

3,535,501

1,086,636

962,565

Intangibles

19,699,711

19,901,374

5,363,384

5,418,289

Other assets

20,583,602

15,672,416

5,604,030

4,266,925

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

744,125,195

668,968,295

202,593,301

182,131,308

===========

===========

===========

===========

Total assets
Liabilities

40,266,535

30,576,336

10,962,846

8,324,622

Repurchase agreements

34,769,685

37,674,016

9,466,290

10,257,015

Commercial paper

18,144,105

24,124,097

4,939,860

6,567,955

Derivative financial instruments

15,219,464

14,941,331

4,143,606

4,067,882

465,475,874

395,843,664

126,729,070

107,771,213

42,268,173

42,145,718

11,507,806

11,474,467

401,979

420,381

109,442

114,452

25,606,380

21,033,339

6,971,516

5,726,474

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

642,152,195

566,758,882

174,830,437

154,304,079

Customer accounts and other deposits
Subordinated notes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

---------------------

---------------------

923,597

915,291

Net foreign exchange gain

2,042,480

1,003,284

556,079

273,151

826,225

1,582,442

224,946

430,831

Net gain on investments and derivatives
Other operating income

General, administration and other operating expenses
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas income tax expense

10,897,545

2,966,933

2,966,933

Share premium

53,188,043

53,026,644

14,480,818

14,436,876

Shareholders of the Bank

Treasury shares

(25,530)

(42,433)

(6,951)

(11,553)

Non-controlling interests

9,483,238

7,081,074

2,581,878

1,927,872

Convertible notes - equity component
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank
Non-controlling interest
Total Equity
Total liabilities and equity

(382,085)

3,361,864

10,897,545

Share option scheme

1,297,376

(405,014)

---------------------

Share capital

Tier 1 capital notes

1,328,611

3,392,372

Equity

Other reserves

4,765,261
(1,403,397)

---------------------

Profit for the year

Statutory and special reserves

4,879,988
(1,487,616)

Net fee and commission income

Operating income

Due to banks and financial institutions

Term borrowings

Net interest income

158,706

479,344

43,209

130,505

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

19,445,742

19,532,985

5,294,240

5,317,992

(5,328,555)

(5,875,349)

(1,450,736)

(1,599,605)

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

14,117,187

13,657,636

3,843,503

3,718,387

(1,725,794)

(2,384,334)

(469,860)

(649,152)

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

12,391,393

11,273,302

3,373,644

3,069,236

(325,004)

(323,538)

(88,485)

(88,085)

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

12,066,389

10,949,764

3,285,159

2,981,150

===========

===========

===========

===========

12,010,820

10,915,157

3,270,030

2,971,728

Profit attributable to:
55,569

34,607

15,129

9,422

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

(37,477)

962,736

(10,203)

262,112

12,066,389

10,949,764

3,285,159

2,981,150

10,754,750

10,754,750

2,928,056

2,928,056

===========

===========

===========

===========

266,841

256,265

72,649

69,770

-

108,265

-

29,476

17,083,868

18,677,552

4,651,203

5,085,094

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

101,611,278

101,722,398

27,664,383

27,694,636

361,722

487,015

98,481

132,593

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

101,973,000

102,209,413

27,762,864

27,827,229

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

---------------------

744,125,195

668,968,295

202,593,301

182,131,308

===========

===========

===========

===========
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PRO FORMA CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The following pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements (“Pro forma financial statements”) illustrates
the effects on the statement of financial position and financial performance of the combination (Merger) between
National Bank of Abu Dhabi and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “NBAD”) and First Gulf Bank and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “FGB”).
The Pro forma financial statement consists of the audited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position of NBAD and FGB (together referred to as “the Group”) as at 31 December 2018, and its audited
Pro forma Condensed Consolidated statement of Profit or Loss for the year then ended. These statements are
prepared as if the Merger has taken place as at 1 Jan 2017.
The purpose of the Pro forma financial statements is to show the material effects that the Merger of NBAD and FGB
would have had on the historical consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss if the Group had already existed in the structure created by the Merger. They are not representative of
the financial situation and performance that could have been observed if the indicated business combination had
been undertaken at an earlier date.
The presentation of the Pro forma financial statements of the Group is based on certain pro forma assumptions and
has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and, because of its nature, the pro forma consolidated statement
of financial position and financial performance addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not
represent and may not give a true picture of the financial position and financial performance of the Group.
Furthermore, the Pro forma financial statements are only meaningful in conjunction with the historical consolidated
financial statements of NBAD and FGB as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.
The Pro forma financial statements have been compiled based on the accounting policies adopted by the Group for
the preparation of 31 December 2018 financial statements. The Pro forma financial statements does not take into
consideration the effects of expected synergies or costs incurred to achieve these synergies as a result of the
Merger. The Pro forma financial statements gives no indication of the results and future financial situation of the
activities of the Group.

Pro forma Condensed consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December
Assets

Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Other assets
Total assets

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

182,908,727
14,620,910
19,176,092
19,033,451
13,084,192
353,205,228
90,433,574
7,388,493
3,991,215
19,699,711
20,583,602
--------------------------------------744,125,195
================

138,111,054
19,320,764
13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
330,465,888
88,457,710
6,927,692
3,535,501
19,901,374
15,672,416
-----------------------------------668,968,295
================

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
15,219,464
465,475,874
42,268,173
401,979
25,606,380
---------------------------------------642,152,195

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
14,941,331
395,843,664
42,145,718
420,381
21,033,339
------------------------------------566,758,882

10,897,545
53,188,043
(25,530)
9,483,238
(37,477)
10,754,750
266,841
17,083,868
----------------------------------------

10,897,545
53,026,644
(42,433)
7,081,074
962,736
10,754,750
256,265
108,265
18,677,552
-------------------------------------

101,611,278
361,722
----------------------------------------101,973,000
----------------------------------------744,125,195
=================

101,722,398
487,015
------------------------------------102,209,413
-------------------------------------668,968,295
================

Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial paper
Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Subordinated notes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Treasury shares
Statutory and special reserves
Other reserves
Tier 1 capital notes
Share option scheme
Convertible notes - equity component
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to shareholders of
the Bank
Non-controlling interest
Total Equity
Total liabilities and equity

Pro forma Condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December
Note
Interest income
Interest expense

1
2

Net interest income
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

21,836,404
(8,810,445)
-----------------------------------13,025,959

18,846,918
(5,740,867)
-----------------------------------13,106,051

4,879,988
(1,487,616)
----------------------------------3,392,372

4,765,261
(1,403,397)
----------------------------------3,361,864

Net fee and commission income

3

Net foreign exchange gain
Net gain on investments and derivatives
Other operating income

4
5
6

2,042,480
826,225
158,706
-----------------------------------19,445,742

1,003,284
1,582,442
479,344
-----------------------------------19,532,985

7

(5,328,555)
-----------------------------------14,117,187

(5,875,349)
-----------------------------------13,657,636

8

(1,725,794)
-----------------------------------12,391,393

(2,384,334)
-----------------------------------11,273,302

(325,004)
---------------------------------12,066,389
===============

(323,538)
---------------------------------10,949,764
===============

12,010,820
55,569
--------------------------------12,066,389
==============

10,915,157
34,607
--------------------------------10,949,764
==============

Operating income
General, administration and other operating expenses
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas income tax expense
Net profit for the period
Profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Group
Non-controlling interests

Segmental information
Business Segment

Geographic Segment

_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________
_

Corporate and
Investment
Banking
AED’000

Personal
Banking Group
AED’000

Europe,
Americas, Middle
UAE
East and Africa
AED’000
AED’000

Subsidiaries
AED’000

Head Office
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Net Interest income
Net non-interest income

5,594,591
4,314,443

5,520,961
1,785,142

(40,251)
189,079

1,950,658
131,119

13,025,959
6,419,783

11,298,979
5,551,567

Operating income

9,909,034
=============
1,741,348

7,306,103
=============
2,768,574

148,828
=============
137,375

2,081,777
=============
681,258

19,445,742

1,222,562
=============
6,945,124
=============
188,097
=============
6,757,027
=============

457,486
=============
4,080,043
=============
94,001
=============
3,986,042
=============

(13,704)
=============
25,157
=============
33,163
=============
(8,006)
=============

59,450
=============
1,341,069
=============
9,743
=============
1,331,326
=============

1,725,794

630,066,190
================

101,659,261
===============

13,179,664
===============

127,546,798
================

Asia - Pacific
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,451,086
597,591

275,894
270,625

13,025,959
6,419,783

16,850,546
=============
4,381,444

2,048,677
=============
731,204

546,519
=============
215,907

19,445,742

1,807,162
=============
10,661,940
=============
2,678
=============
10,659,262
=============

(155,810)
=============
1,473,283
=============
295,843
=============
1,177,440
=============

74,442
=============
256,170
=============
26,483
=============
229,687
=============

1,725,794

619,662,984
================

205,297,041
===============

32,858,649
================

For the year ended 31 December 2018

General administration and other
operating expenses
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas taxation
Net profit for the period

5,328,555

12,391,393
325,004
12,066,389

5,328,555

12,391,393
325,004
12,066,389

As at 31 December 2018
Segment total assets
Inter segment balances
Total assets
Segment total liabilities
Inter segment balances
Total liabilities

618,795,941
================

92,621,803
===============

9,916,308
===============

49,144,861
===============

872,451,913
(128,326,718)
------------------------------------------------744,125,195
================
770,478,913
(128,326,718)
------------------------------------------------642,152,195
================

528,049,917
==============

198,827,604
=============

28,968,153
===============

857,818,674
(113,693,479)
------------------------------------------744,125,195
================
755,845,674
(113,693,479)
------------------------------------------642,152,195
================

Segmental information (continued)
Business Segment

Geographic Segment

_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________
_

Corporate and
Investment
Banking
AED’000

Personal
Banking Group
AED’000

Europe,
Americas, Middle
UAE
East and Africa
AED’000
AED’000

Subsidiaries
AED’000

Head Office
AED’000

Total
AED’000

5,472,776
3,520,778

5,736,227
1,905,096

(74,843)
603,859

1,971,891
397,201

13,106,051
6,426,934

11,504,018
5,597,193

8,993,554
===============

7,641,323
==============

529,016
=============

2,369,092
===============

19,532,985

1,996,249

3,056,071

142,247

680,782

299,658
=============
6,697,647
==============
184,647
=============
6,513,000
==============

2,240,698
=============
2,344,554
=============
114,408
=============
2,230,146
==============

50,961
=============
335,808
=============
21,973
=============
313,835
=============

(206,983)
=============
1,895,293
==============
2,510
=============
1,892,783
==============

450,441,539
==================

106,156,609
================

13,606,508
================

126,839,637
==================

Asia - Pacific
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,327,963
643,165

274,070
186,576

13,106,051
6,426,934

17,101,211
===============

1,971,128
==============

460,646
=============

19,532,985

5,875,349

5,022,733

672,909

179,707

5,875,349

2,384,334

2,304,790
=============
9,773,688
==============
5,264
=============
9,768,424
==============

80,704
=============
1,217,515
==============
287,270
=============
930,245
=============

(1,160)
=============
282,099
=============
31,004
=============
251,095
=============

2,384,334

538,512,342
================

156,465,447
=================

23,406,626
================

For the year ended 31 December 2017
Net Interest income
Net non-interest income
Operating income
General administration and other
operating expenses
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas taxation
Net profit for the period

11,273,302
323,538
10,949,764

11,273,302
323,538
10,949,764

As at 31 December 2017
Segment total assets
Inter segment balances
Total assets
Segment total liabilities
Inter segment balances
Total liabilities

438,610,883
==================

100,270,288
================

6,170,495
================

49,783,214
================

697,044,293
(28,075,998)
---------------------------------------------------668,968,295
==================
594,834,880
(28,075,998)
---------------------------------------------------566,758,882
==================

451,819,450
==================

144,661,282
=================

19,694,270
================

718,384,415
(49,416,120)
---------------------------------------------------668,968,295
==================
616,175,002
(49,416,120)
--------------------------------------------------566,758,882
==================

Notes to the condensed consolidated Pro-forma financial statements
1

Interest income
Interest from:
Central banks
Banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Non-trading investments
Loans and advances

2

2017
AED’000

968,840
1,040,394
388,117
385,429
2,310,733
16,742,891
--------------------------------21,836,404
==============

393,633
534,255
297,671
425,735
2,129,967
15,065,657
--------------------------------18,846,918
=============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

800,414
706,723
432,428
5,307,623
1,542,847
20,410
---------------------------8,810,445
============

698,074
409,014
178,992
3,029,734
1,404,651
20,402
---------------------------5,740,867
============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,053,033
33,569
25,535
141,906
7,090
1,333,257
1,885,819
60,165
115,273
224,341
---------------------------4,879,988
----------------------------

998,445
43,241
49,245
116,331
8,115
1,171,248
1,896,355
59,397
116,571
306,313
---------------------------4,765,261
----------------------------

42,530
32,548
1,086,900
306,290
19,348
---------------------------1,487,616
---------------------------3,392,372
============

35,553
30,618
1,025,697
262,840
48,689
---------------------------1,403,397
---------------------------3,361,864
============

Interest expense
Interest to:
Banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial paper
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Subordinated notes

3

2018
AED’000

Net fees and commission income
Fee and commission income
Trade finance
Collection services
Brokerage income
Asset management and investment services
Investments, derivatives and risk participation
Retail and corporate lending
Cards and e-services
Accounts related services
Commission on transfers
Others
Total fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage commission
Handling charges
Credit card charges
Retail and corporate lending
Others
Total fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

4

Net foreign exchange gain

Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives
Dealings with customers

5

2017
AED’000

1,776,161
266,319
----------------------------2,042,480
============

626,664
376,620
----------------------------1,003,284
=============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

891,021
(136,412)
71,616

630,797
913,064

-----------------------------

-----------------------------

Net gain on investments and derivatives

Net realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives
Net gain from sale of non-trading Investments
Dividend income

6

2018
AED’000

38,581

826,225

1,582,442

============

=============

Investment property (loss) / income

2018
AED’000
(75,574)

2017
AED’000
331,960

Leasing related income

106,905

103,590

Other income

127,375

43,794

Other Operating Income

-----------------------

-----------------------

158,706

479,344

==========

==========

Includes gain on sale of property and equipment amounting to AED 111.4 million (2017: AED 2.2 million)

7

General, administration and other operating expenses

Staff costs
Other general and administration expenses
Depreciation
Intangible amortisation
Sponsorships and donations

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

3,167,377
1,686,352
235,586
201,663
37,577
---------------------------5,328,555
============

3,422,654
1,877,303
374,101
159,156
42,135
---------------------------5,875,349
============

8

Net impairment charge

Impairment charge on
loans and advances
other financial assets
unfunded exposure
Recoveries
Write-off of impaired financial assets

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2,107,219
33,147
(326,543)
(303,770)
215,741
---------------------------1,725,794
============

2,660,652
957
(310,393)
33,118
---------------------------2,384,334
============

Consolidated Financial
Statements

December 31, 2018

The audited Consolidated Financial Statements are subject to approval of the Central Bank of UAE and adoption by Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting.
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KPMG Lower Gulf Limited
Level 19, Nation Tower 2
Abu Dhabi Corniche, UAE
Tel. +971 (2) 40 14800, Fax +971 (2) 632 7612

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statements
of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates
(“UAE”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.
Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements (continued)
31 December 2018

Key audit matters (continued)
Impairment of loans and advances
Refer to note 4 for transition impact and notes 12 and 35 of the consolidated financial
statements for year-end disclosures.
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) was adopted by the Group on 1 January 2018
and has resulted in:


change in accounting for impairment from an incurred loss model to an expected
credit loss model (“ECL”) which involves complex estimates and judgements;



transition adjustments recognised in retained earnings on 1 January 2018, being
the date of adoption of IFRS 9;



use of statistical models and methodologies for determination of expected credit
losses;



significant change in processes, data and control that have not been subject to
testing previously; and



complex disclosure requirements regarding impact of initial application of IFRS 9
and explanation of key judgements and material inputs used in determination of
expected credit losses.

Given the inherently judgemental nature of computation of ECL for loans and advances,
this is considered a key audit matter.
Our response
We have performed end to end process walkthroughs to identify the key systems,
applications and controls used in the ECL Process and to understand the governance
framework around model review, validation and approval of ECL model, data gathering
and its integrity and underlying estimates and assumptions used by management.
Our procedures included the following:


Testing key controls over the modelling process, including model review,
validation and approval;



Testing key controls over the accuracy of key inputs and appropriateness of key
assumptions and judgments used in the models;



Testing key controls over significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) criteria
involved testing controls relating to authorisation of the criteria and the application
of the criteria in the models;



Testing key controls over internal credit grading (which is a key driver in
determining SICR) and monitoring process, to assess if the risk grades allocated to
counterparties were appropriately identified and updated on a timely basis;



Testing key controls relating to the selection and implementation of material
economic variables and the controls over the scenario selection and probabilities;
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Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements (continued)
31 December 2018

Key audit matters (continued)
Impairment of loans and advances (continued)


Testing key controls over the assessment of model outputs and authorisation and
review of post model adjustments and management overlays;



We involved our Financial Risk Modelling (“FRM”) specialists to review the
reasonableness and appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions used in
various components of ECL modelling. This included challenging key
assumptions/judgments relating to significant increase in credit risk, definition of
default, probability of default, recovery rates, use of macro-economic variables and
probability weighted outcomes. FRM specialists also re-performed key elements
of the Group’s models calculations and evaluated the models performance results
for accuracy;



We have involved our Information Technology (“IT”) specialists to assist in testing
the relevant General IT and Application Controls over Key Systems used in the
ECL process;



Sample testing over key inputs and assumptions impacting ECL calculations
including economic forecasts and weightages to confirm the accuracy of
information used;



Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s SICR determinations and selecting
samples of financial instruments to determine whether a SICR was appropriately
identified;



Selecting a sample of key post model adjustments and management overlays in
order to assess the reasonableness of the adjustments by challenging key
assumptions, inspecting the calculation methodology and tracing to source data
on a sample basis;



Performing credit assessments for a sample of selected customers, including
Stage 3 customers, to test the appropriateness of the credit grades at a given
point in time and assess the financial performance of the borrower, source of
repayment and future cash flows of the borrower to assess recoverability and ECL
by comparing key assumptions to progress against business plans and our own
understanding of relevant industries and business environment and where
possible to externally derived evidence such as business performance and real
estate valuations for assessing the appropriateness of collateral values held by the
Group; and



Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure in relation to transition impact
arising from first time application of IFRS 9 and use of significant estimates and
judgments by reference to the requirements of the relevant accounting standards.
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Key audit matters (continued)
Carrying value of goodwill
Refer to note 3 for significant accounting policies and notes 16 and 43 of the
consolidated financial statements for year-end disclosures.
During quarter one 2018, the Group finalised a purchase price allocation exercise in
order to calculate the carrying value of the National Bank of Abu Dhabi financial assets
and liabilities as at the date of acquisition being 1 April 2017. This resulted in the
Group recognising goodwill within its balance sheet which is subject to an annual
impairment assessment.
Goodwill may be impaired if the carrying value of goodwill in the balance sheet is not
supported by the estimates of value-in-use of cash generating units (”CGUs”) based
on the estimated discounted future cash flows of the underlying business.
The estimation of future cash flows and the assumptions involved in calculating the
discounted value of these cash flows by CGUs both involve the application of
management judgment and estimation which is considered to be a significant risk.
Our response
Our procedures included the following:


For each of the CGUs we assessed the reasonableness of the cash flow
projections alongside with the growth rate assumption to externally available
industry, economic and financial data;



We involved our valuation specialists to critically assess the appropriateness of the
discount rates used in order to determine estimated discounted cash flows and
benchmarking these against external data sources and peer banks’ data;



We performed sensitivity analysis over the estimated discounted future cash
flows on the sensitivity to the change in discount and growth rate estimates;



We performed an assessment over management’s ability to accurately forecast
compared to actual results based on historic data available; and



We reviewed budgets approved by the Board Management Committee to critically
assess whether projected cash flows for the CGUs are in line with approved
plans.

5
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International
Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is registered and licensed as a foreign branch under the laws of the United Arab Emirates

First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.
Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements (continued)
31 December 2018

Key audit matters (continued)
IT systems integration and controls over financial reporting
Following the merger, we assessed the Group’s IT systems, including controls over
financial reporting due to the increased risk of error arising from the integration of
some financial accounting and reporting systems (“systems”) in the current financial
year and also maintaining separate systems after the merger up to the date of
systems integration, in accordance with the phasing of the system integration plan,
resulting in the existence of manual elements within the process of consolidation of
the financial information from various sources. Those systems are dependent on
complex technology due to the extensive volume and variety of transactions which are
processed daily and there is a risk that automated accounting procedures and related
internal controls are not accurately designed and operating effectively. Due to the
complexity involved in the IT environment, heightened by changes in the systems as a
result of the merger, it is considered as a key audit matter.
Our response
Our audit approach relies on automated controls and therefore our procedures are
designed to test access and control over relevant IT systems. We performed a
combination of controls testing and substantive testing in order to determine whether
we could place reliance on the completeness and accuracy of system generated
information. We involved our IT audit specialists in the audit of the Group’s IT
systems.
Our procedures included the following:


Obtained an understanding of management’s plans, processes and controls in
relation to the Group IT systems including detailed integration plans;



Reviewed the governance framework over the Group’s IT organization and testing
the controls over the program development and changes, access to programs and
data and IT operations, including compensating controls where required;



Assessed the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the controls over
the integrity of the IT systems that are relevant to financial reporting;



Reviewed and tested the data migration process from decommissioned systems
to target systems used in the preparation of financial reporting;



Reviewed and tested the detailed reconciliations performed by management to
ensure all balances transferred from the decommissioned systems to the relevant
target systems are complete and accurate; and



Tested the consolidation process and reconciled the audited in scope component
information to the consolidation workings of the Group to verify the completeness
of the information in the financial reporting systems used to prepare the
consolidated financial statements.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the Chairman’s statement, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our audit report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this
audit report, and the Group’s Annual report which are expected to be made available
to us after that date.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have
obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:



Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:
i)

we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes
of our audit;

ii)

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all
material respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2)
of 2015;

iii)

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv)

the financial information included in the Chairman’s statement, in so far as it
relates to these consolidated financial statements, is consistent with the books
of account of the Group;

v)

as disclosed in notes 9 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has purchased or invested in shares during the financial year ended 31
December 2018;

vi)

note 42 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party
transactions and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii)

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come
to our attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened
during the financial year ended 31 December 2018 any of the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Group, its
Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or its
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2018; and

viii)

note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social
contributions made during the year.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December
Note

Interest income
Interest expense

28
29

Net interest income
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

21,836,404
(8,810,445)
------------------------------------13,025,959

16,331,787
(4,935,594)
------------------------------------11,396,193

4,879,988
(1,487,616)
------------------------------------3,392,372

4,026,061
(1,128,206)
------------------------------------2,897,855

Net fee and commission income

30

Net foreign exchange gain
Net gain on investments and derivatives
Other operating income

31
32
33

2,042,480
826,225
158,706
------------------------------------19,445,742

928,188
686,131
472,090
------------------------------------16,380,457

34

(5,328,555)
------------------------------------14,117,187

(4,901,496)
------------------------------------11,478,961

35

(1,725,794)
------------------------------------12,391,393

(2,086,717)
------------------------------------9,392,244

36

(325,004)
----------------------------------12,066,389
================

(224,989)
----------------------------------9,167,255
================

12,010,820
55,569
----------------------------------12,066,389
===============

9,132,648
34,607
----------------------------------9,167,255
===============

1.06
==========
1.06
==========

0.91
==========
0.91
==========

Operating income
General, administration and other operating expenses
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas income tax expense
Profit for the year
Profit attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings per share (AED)

41

Diluted earnings per share (AED)

41

The notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 10.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

12,066,389

9,167,255

Items that are or may subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations
Net change in fair value reserve during the year (including ECL)

(270,017)
(936,930)

44,878
212,420

Items that will not be subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss
Net change in fair value of investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations
Board of Director’s remuneration

(102,223)
(13,601)
(54,750)

(7,102)
(49,000)

------------------------------------(1,377,521)
------------------------------------10,688,868
-------------------------------------

---------------------------201,196
--------------------------------9,368,451
=============

10,655,460
33,408
------------------------------------10,688,868

9,314,218
54,233
---------------------------9,368,451

===============

=============

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank
Non-controlling interest
Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 10.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

12,391,393

9,392,244

437,249
95,764
(1,551)
(111,422)
2,029,564
36,452
(670,603)
10,576
--------------------------------------------14,217,422

470,574
(179,916)
(35,715)
(2,214)
2,384,494
84,952
425,056
20,467
--------------------------------------------12,559,942

7,093,387
(9,379,910)
2,298,167
(26,951,609)
(5,009,629)
9,690,199
(2,904,331)
69,633,766
(2,308,854)
4,086,161
--------------------------------------------60,464,769
(293,342)
(49,000)
--------------------------------------------60,122,427

(2,343,581)
(2,286,988)
1,978,416
9,340,457
29,166
(21,993,151)
17,964,674
(2,933,193)
645,189
1,580,062
--------------------------------------------14,540,993
(278,196)
(51,000)
--------------------------------------------14,211,797

(5,381,782)
(270,046)
20,990
(885,837)
--------------------------------------------(6,516,675)

(12,721,340)
(553,203)
263,644
121,258,636
(430,038)
--------------------------------------------107,817,699

178,302
(7,578,784)
(5,979,992)
9,076,645
(7,735,417)
(495,047)
--------------------------------------------(12,534,293)
--------------------------------------------41,071,459
134,605,917
--------------------------------------------175,677,376
=================

34,025
(4,489,524)
2,130,547
3,135,955
(11,433,020)
(381,089)
--------------------------------------------(11,003,106)
--------------------------------------------111,026,390
23,579,527
--------------------------------------------134,605,917
=================

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss (gain) on revaluation of investment properties
Gain on sale of investment property
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Net impairment charges
Accreted interest
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Share option scheme

15,16
14

35

Changes in:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from central banks, banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Loans and advances
Other assets
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Customer accounts and other deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

Overseas income tax paid, net of recoveries
Directors' remuneration paid

24

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Net purchase of non-trading investments
Purchase of investment property
Sale proceeds from disposal of investment property
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals
Net cash (used) / from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option scheme
Dividend paid
Net movement of commercial paper
Issue of term borrowings
Repayment of term borrowings
Payment on Tier 1 capital notes

27
25
22
22
26

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

37

The notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 10.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December

Share
capital

AED’000
Balance at 1 January 2017
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Business combination transaction (note 43)
Accounting policy alignment (note 44)
Transfer during the year
Transactions with owners of the Group
Zakat
Share options exercised (note 27)
Dividend for the year 2017
Options granted to staff
Payment on Tier 1 capital notes (note 26)
Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2018
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
(note 4)
Restated balance at 1 January 2018
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners of the Group
Zakat
Share options exercised (note 27)
Dividend for the year (net of treasury shares)
Options granted to staff
Payment on Tier 1 capital notes (note 26)
Transfer during the year
IFRS 9 reserve movement
Balance at 31 December 2018

Share
premium Treasury shares
AED’000
AED’000

Statutory
and special
reserves
AED’000

Equity
attributable to
share-holders Non-controlling
of the Group
interest
AED’000
AED’000

Other reserves
AED’000

Tier 1 capital
notes
AED’000

Share option
scheme
AED’000

Convertible
notes – equity
component
AED’000

4,000,000
6,754,750
-

235,798
-

108,265
-

16,969,016
9,132,648
(56,102)
(659,283)
(1,826,530)

37,224,190
9,132,648
181,570
60,670,978
(659,283)
-

432,782
34,607
19,626
-

37,656,972
9,167,255
201,196
60,670,978
(659,283)
-

Retained
earnings
AED’000

Total
AED’000

4,500,000
6,397,545
-

52,997,018
-

(46,832)
-

(5,775,566)
1,826,530

725,064
237,672
-

------------------------------10,897,545
=================

29,626
-

4,399
-

-

-

-

20,467
-

-

(1,108)
(4,500,000)
(381,089)

(1,108)
34,025
(4,500,000)
20,467
(381,089)

-

(1,108)
34,025
(4,500,000)
20,467
(381,089)

-------------------------------

------------------------

----------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

-------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

---------------------------------

------------------------

---------------------------------

53,026,644

(42,433)

7,081,074

962,736

10,754,750

256,265

108,265

18,677,552

101,722,398

487,015

102,209,413

=================

============

===============

=============

================

============

============

================

=================

============

=================

10,897,545

53,026,644

(42,433)

7,081,074

962,736

10,754,750

256,265

108,265

18,677,552

101,722,398

487,015

102,209,413

------------------------------10,897,545
------------------------------10,897,545
=================

11,030,110
-

-

-

-

(184,078)

-

-

-

(2,682,560)

(2,866,638)

(158,701)

(3,025,339)

-------------------------------

------------------------

----------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

-------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

---------------------------------

------------------------

---------------------------------

53,026,644
-

(42,433)
-

7,081,074
-

778,658
(1,287,009)

10,754,750
-

256,265
-

108,265
-

15,994,992
12,010,820
(68,351)

98,855,760
12,010,820
(1,355,360)

328,314
55,569
(22,161)

99,184,074
12,066,389
(1,377,521)

161,399
-

16,903
-

2,402,164
-

108,265
362,609

-

10,576
-

(108,265)
-

7,597
(7,601,370)
(495,047)
(2,402,164)
(362,609)

7,597
178,302
(7,601,370)
10,576
(495,047)
-

-

7,597
178,302
(7,601,370)
10,576
(495,047)
-

-------------------------------

------------------------

----------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

-------------------------

------------------------

-------------------------------

---------------------------------

------------------------

---------------------------------

53,188,043

(25,530)

9,483,238

(37,477)

10,754,750

266,841

-

17,083,868

101,611,278

361,722

101,973,000

=================

============

===============

=============

================

============

============

================

=================

============

=================

The notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 2 to 10.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

Legal status and principal activities
On 7 December 2016, Shareholders of National Bank of Abu Dhabi PJSC (“NBAD”) and First Gulf Bank PJSC (“FGB”)
approved the merger of the two banks pursuant to Article 283(1) of UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 Concerning
Commercial Companies (the Law). The merger was effected through the issuance of 1.254 new NBAD shares for every 1
share in FGB on close of business 30 March 2017, subsequent to which FGB shares were delisted from Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange. On 25 April 2017, NBAD shareholders approved the proposal to change the name of the combined
bank to ‘First Abu Dhabi Bank’ (the “Bank”) and have its registered office in FAB Building, Khalifa Business Park 1 Al
Qurum P. O. Box 6316 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.
These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 comprises the Bank and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retail, private and
investment banking activities, management services, Islamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries out its
operations through its local and overseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in the United Arab
Emirates, Bahrain, Brazil, Cayman Islands, China, Egypt, France, Hong Kong, India, Jordan, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Malaysia, Oman, Qatar, Singapore, South Korea, Sudan, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and
the United States of America.
The Group’s Islamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Sharia’a laws issued by the Sharia’a
Supervisory Board.
The Group is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FAB).
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 are available upon
request from the Group’s registered office or at http://www.bankfab.com

2

Basis of Preparation
(a)

Statement of Compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the requirements of
applicable laws in the UAE.
On 1 April 2015, UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commercial Companies (“UAE Companies Law of 2015”) was issued with
effective date 1 July 2015. The Bank is in compliance with applicable sections of the UAE Companies Law of 2015 as at
the date of these financial statements.
These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 January 2019.

(b)

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general, administration and
other operating expenses, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. It is then considered in the determination of
goodwill.
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2

Basis of Preparation (continued)
(b)

Business combinations (continued)
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or
in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

(c)

Basis of measurement
These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:





investments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;



debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value (effective
January 1, 2018);



non-trading investments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value (applicable prior to January 1,
2018);



recognised assets and liabilities designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are adjusted for
changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged; and
non-financial assets acquired in settlement of loans and advances are measured at the lower of their fair value less
costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan and advances.


(d)

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value
(effective January 1, 2018);

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is the Group’s
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. Items included
in the financial statements of each of the Bank’s overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which they operate.

(e)

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
2

Basis of Preparation (continued)
(e)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised prospectively.
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements are described in
note 6.

3

Significant accounting policies
(a)

New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018. Also, the Group early adopted Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9), issued in October 2017. A number of other new standards are
also effective from 1 January 2018 but they do not have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
Due to the transition method chosen by the Group in applying IFRS 9, comparative information throughout these
consolidated financial statements has not been restated to reflect its requirements.
The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income from contracts with
customers and the related assets and liabilities recognised by the Group. Accordingly, the impact on the comparative
information is limited to new disclosure requirements.
The effect of initially applying these standards is mainly attributed to the following:

an increase in impairment losses recognised on financial assets (see Note 4); and

additional disclosures related to IFRS 9 (see Notes 5(a)).

additional disclosures related to IFRS 15.
Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies as to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements.

(i)

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to
buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The
requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39. The new standard brings fundamental changes to the
accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities.
IFRS 9 introduces a new hedge accounting model that expands the scope of hedged items and risks eligible for hedge
accounting and aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management. The new model no longer specifies
quantitative measures for effectiveness testing and does not permit hedge de-designation. As a result the 80-125% range
under IAS 39 is replaced by an objectives-based test that focuses on the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, and the effect of credit risk on that economic relationship.
IFRS 9 also introduces rebalancing of hedging relationships, whereby, if a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio under IFRS 9, but the risk management objective for that
designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group shall adjust the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so
that it meets the qualifying criteria again.
Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are
applied to disclosures related to 2018, but have not been applied to the comparative information.
The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised below. The full
impact of adopting the standard is set out in Note 4.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)

New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)

(i)

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued)
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). IFRS 9 classification is
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. The standard
eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9,
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never bifurcated.
Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is assessed for classification. For an explanation of how the Group classifies
financial assets under IFRS 9, see Note 3(c)(ii).
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. However, although
under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value option were recognised in profit or loss,
under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows:

the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is
presented in OCI; and

the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.
For an explanation of how the Group classifies financial liabilities under IFRS 9, see Note 3(c)(ii).
Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (“ECL”) model. The new impairment
model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not to equity investments.
Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. For an explanation of how the Group applies the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, see Note 3(c)(vii).
Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
described below.


Comparative periods generally have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves
as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements of
IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information presented for 2018 under IFRS 9.



The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date
of initial application.
o
o
o
o



The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and financial
liabilities as measured at FVTPL.
The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVOCI.
For financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, the determination of whether presenting the effects
of changes in the financial liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss.

If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Group has assumed
that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition.

For more information and details on the changes and implications resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9, see Note 4.

19

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)

New and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)

(ii)

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.
It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.
The Group applied IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 without any practical expedients.
The timing or amount of the Group’s fee and commission income from contracts with customers was not impacted by
the adoption of IFRS 15. The impact of IFRS 15 was limited to the new disclosure requirements.

(b)

Basis of consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries
IFRS 10 governs the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including
special purpose entities or structured entities. The definition of control is such that an investor controls an investee
when it is exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet the definition of control in IFRS 10, all three criteria
must be met, including:
(a) the investor has power over an investee;
(b) the investor has exposure to, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
(c) the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. The Group controls the investee if it meets the control criteria
set out above. The Group reassesses whether it has control if, there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held become substantive and lead to the Group having
power over an investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in these consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and those of its following
subsidiaries:
Legal Name

Country of
incorporation

Principal activities

First Abu Dhabi Bank USA N.V.

Curacao

Banking

100%

FAB Securities LLC

United Arab Emirates

Brokerage

100%

Abu Dhabi National Leasing LLC

United Arab Emirates

Leasing

100%

Abu Dhabi National Properties Pvt. JSC

United Arab Emirates

Property Management

100%

FAB Private Bank (Suisse) SA

Switzerland

Banking

100%

First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance PJSC

United Arab Emirates

Islamic Finance

100%

Abu Dhabi Securities Brokerage Egypt

Egypt

Brokerage

National Bank of Abu Dhabi Malaysia Berhad

Malaysia

Banking

100%

NBAD Employee Share Options Limited

United Arab Emirates

Shares and Securities

100%

SAS 10 Magellan

France

Leasing

100%

National Bank of Abu Dhabi Representações Ltda

Brazil

Representative office

100%

NBAD Financial Markets (Cayman) Limited

Cayman Islands

Financial Institution

100%

Nawat Management Services - One Man
Company LLC

United Arab Emirates

Services

100%
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)
Legal Name

Country of
incorporation

Principal activities

Mismak Properties Co. LLC (Mismak)

United Arab Emirates

Real estate investments

100%

Moora Properties Co. LLC (Subsidiary of Mismak)

United Arab Emirates

Real estate investments

67%

First Merchant International LLC (FMI)

United Arab Emirates

Real estate investments

100%

FAB Employment Services LLC (Subsidiary of FMI)

United Arab Emirates

Resourcing services

100%

FAB Resourcing Services LLC (Subsidiary of FMI)

United Arab Emirates

Resourcing services

100%

FAB Sukuk Company Limited

Cayman Islands

Special purpose vehicle

100%

FGB Sukuk Company II Limited

Cayman Islands

Special purpose vehicle

100%

First Gulf Libyan

Bank1

Holding %
2018

Libya

Banking services

FGB Global Markets Cayman Limited

Cayman Islands

Financial Institution

100%

50%

FAB Properties LLC

United Arab Emirates

100%

Aseel Finance PJSC

United Arab Emirates

Management and
brokerage of real estate
properties
Islamic finance

Dubai First PJSC

United Arab Emirates

Credit card finance

100%

First Gulf Information Technology LLC

United Arab Emirates

IT Services

100%

FAB Investment KSA (single Shareholder LLC)

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Financial Institution

100%

100%

1 Although

the Bank owns 50% of the outstanding shares of First Gulf Libyan Bank, the investment has been classified as
a subsidiary as the Bank exercises control over the investee because it casts the majority of the votes on the board of
directors.
(ii)

Structured entities
A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific task. Structured entities are designed so that their
activities are not governed by way of voting rights. In assessing whether the Group acts as a principal or has power over
investees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investee, its
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the investee; and the
size of its exposure to the variability of returns of the investee.
The Group acts as fund manager to a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group controls such an
investment fund usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group in the fund. Whilst
assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances to determine whether as a fund manager the Group is
acting as agent or principal. If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consolidate them else as
an agent the Group would account for them as investments in funds.
The Group’s interest in investment funds in which it act as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of
investments.
Type of Structured Entity
Investment Funds managing assets
on

Nature and purpose
Generate fees from managing assets
on behalf of third-party investors
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Interest held by the Group
Investments in units issued by the fund
amounting to AED 2,050 thousand
(2017: AED 20,069 thousand)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)

Joint Arrangements and Investments in Associates
An Associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies.
Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method of accounting.
A joint arrangement is an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Group along with one or more
parties has joint control by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to and record their respective share of the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement, have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement and, thus, are accounted under the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and OCI of equity accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. Goodwill
relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually
tested for impairment. The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of
the associates. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement
of income. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in
the consolidated statement of income.

(iv)

Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any noncontrolling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of control is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value when control is lost.

(v)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
The carrying amount of the Group’s investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated on
consolidation. All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(c)

Financial assets and liabilities

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement
The Group initially recognised loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the
date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement (continued)
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date the asset is
delivered to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

(ii)

Classification
Financial assets – Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. A financial asset is
measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment
of Principal and Interest (“SPPI”).
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information
considered includes:

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are
funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an
overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how
much cash flows are realised.
Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual
cash flows and to sell financial assets.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(ii)

Classification (continued)
Financial assets – Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:






contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features;
prepayment and extension terms;
terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option to propose to revise the
interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The
borrowers have an option to either accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are SPPI because the option varies the interest rate in a way
that is consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets – Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories:
(a)

Fair value through profit or loss
(i)

Designation at fair value through profit or loss
The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when either:

the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise
arise.

(ii) Held for trading
Trading assets are those assets that the Group acquires for the purpose of selling in the near term, or holds as
part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit taking.
Fair value through profit or loss assets is not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.
(b)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables include cash and balances with central banks, due from bank and financial institutions,
finance lease receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and loans and advances. These are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the
Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(ii)

Classification (continued)
Financial assets – Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)
(c)

Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity.

(d)

Available-for-sale
The Group has non-derivative financial assets designated as available-for-sale when these are not classified as
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Available for sale assets are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and may be sold in future to
manage liquidity requirements or in response to market fluctuation in interest rates or pricing of the financial
assets.

Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at
amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss.
(iii)

Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire
(see also 3(iv)), or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount
allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised
in profit or loss.
From 1 January 2018 any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as
at FVOCI is not recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its consolidated statement of financial
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them.
In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and saleand-repurchase transactions.
When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction
is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Group retains
all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets.
In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of
a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
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(iii)

Derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred
asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract if
the servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

(iv)

Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are
substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new
financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification
are accounted for as follows:

fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement
of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.
If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually
to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different
terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first
considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts
the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the
financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original
effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.
For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees receivable
as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial asset.
If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented
together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest
rate method.
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in
profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities,
including the new modified financial liability.
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(iv)

Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial liabilities
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the
modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees
incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term
of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset were modified, then the Group evaluated whether the cash flows of the modified asset
were substantially different. If the cash flows were substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from
the original financial asset were deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset was derecognised (see
3(iii)) and a new financial asset was recognised at fair value.
If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower and the asset was not
derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the pre-modification interest rate (see 3(vii)).
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognised a financial liability when its terms were modified and the cash flows of the modified liability
were substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms was recognised at fair
value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and consideration paid was
recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid included non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of
liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.
If the modification of a financial liability was not accounted for as derecognition, then any costs and fees incurred were
recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the
modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

(v)

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from
a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

(vi)

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market
to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. When available,
the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A
market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an on-going basis.
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(vi)

Fair value measurement (continued)
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses the valuation techniques that maximize the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates
all the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. The best evidence of the fair
value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the
consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by
the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk, are measured on the basis of a price that would
be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. These portfolio
level adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the portfolio.
The fair value of investments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the last
net asset value published by the fund manager. For other investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is
determined by reference to the price of recent market transactions involving similar investments, are based on the
expected discounted cash flows.
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on
which the amount could be required to be paid.
The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

(vii)

Impairment
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The Bank recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FVTPL:








balances with central banks;
due from banks and financial institutions;
reverse repurchase agreements;
financial assets that are debt instruments;
loans and advances;
loan commitments issued; and
financial guarantee contracts issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are
measured as 12-month ECL:
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(vii)

Impairment (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)



debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition
(see Note 5(a)).

Measurement of ECL
Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:

Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss
is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instruments with a
remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to
maturity is used.

Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to
be impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.

Stage 3 – Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage. Similar to Stage
2, the allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses.
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

Probability of default (PD);

Loss given default (LGD);

Exposure at default (EAD)
These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect
forward-looking information. Additionally, the Group has elaborate review process to adjust ECL for factors not available
in the model.
Details of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:




PD – The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.
EAD – The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date
LGD – The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time.
It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect
to receive, including from the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:





financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive);
financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive;
and
financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group
expects to recover.
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(vii)

Impairment (continued)
Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due
to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.




If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows
arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.
If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of
the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.
This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted
from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the
existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets
carried at FVOCI, and finance lease receivables are credit‑impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial
asset is ‘credit‑impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable
data:

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and

debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed
and is recognised in the fair value reserve.
Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.
Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘net impairment charge’ in the statement of profit or loss.
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due.
Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”) provision requirements
As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the specific provision and
general/collective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the
differential should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained earnings. This
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(vii)

Impairment (continued)
Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”) provision requirements
Impairment Reserve should be split to that which relates to difference in specific provision and general/collective
provision. The Impairment reserve will not be available for payment of dividend.
Policy prior to 1 January 2018
An assessment is made at each reporting date and periodically during the year to determine whether there is any
objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss, are impaired. Financial assets are
impaired when objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer,
default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or an advance by the Group on terms that the Group would
not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market
for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an
investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of
impairment.
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held to maturity investment securities at both
specific and collective levels. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific impairment. All individually
significant assets found not to be specifically impaired are required to be collectively assessed for any impairment that
has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for
impairment by grouping together financial assets with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment the Group uses IFRS and Central Bank of UAE guidelines to establish a statistical
modelling which incorporates historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss
incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the
actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical modelling. Default rates, loss rates and the
expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain
appropriate.
Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and reflected in an allowance
account against such financial assets. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair
value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.
If the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases and the increase can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as
available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses on an unquoted equity instruments that are carried at cost because their fair value cannot be reliably
measured, are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present values
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for similar financial assets. Such
impairment losses shall not be reversed.
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Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, balances with central
banks and due from banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject
to insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments.
Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(e)

Due from banks and financial institutions
These are non-derivative financial assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.

(f)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
These are securities that the Group acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part of
portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are
recognised as part of profit or loss.

(g)

Reverse repurchase agreements
Assets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell at a fixed price on a specified future date are not recognised.
The amount paid to the counterparty under these agreements is shown as reverse repurchase agreements in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest
income and accrued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

(h)

Loans and advances
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
‘Loans and advances’ captions in the statement of financial position include:

loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method; and

finance lease receivables.
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.
When the Group is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is classified as a finance lease and a receivable equal to the net
investment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advances.
In determining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and assesses
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the
arrangement conveys a right to use the assets.
These are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations or the loan are sold or written-off.
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
Loans and advances include loans and advances originated by the Group which is not classified as held for trading or
designated at fair value. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to a borrower. They are derecognised
when either the borrower repays its obligations, or the loans are sold or written off. These are initially measured at fair
value (being the transaction price at inception) plus incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently measured at
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Loans and advances (continued)
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for effective fair value hedges for the risk being hedged,
net of interest suspended and provisions for impairment.
Loans and advances include direct finance provided to customers such as overdrafts, credit cards, term loans, finance
lease receivables and commercial bills.

(i)

Islamic financing and investing contracts
The Group engages in Sharia’a compliant Islamic banking activities through various Islamic instruments such as Ijara,
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.

(i)

Definitions
Ijara
Ijara consists of Ijara muntahia bitamleek.
Ijara financing is an agreement whereby the Group (lessor) leases or constructs an asset based on the customer’s (lessee)
request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period against certain rent instalments. Ijara could end in
transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease period. Also, the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. Ijara income is recognised on an
effective profit rate basis over the lease term.
Murabaha
A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commodities and other assets at an agreed upon profit mark up
on cost. The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item purchased according
to specific terms and conditions. Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the transaction. Such
income is recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit rate method on the balance
outstanding.
Mudaraba
A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the other party
(the Mudarib) invests the funds in a project or a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the
parties according to the profit shares that were pre‐agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of
default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are borne by the
Rab Al Mal. Income is recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual results on distribution by the Mudarib,
whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group’s consolidated income statement when
incurred.
Wakala
An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of money to an
agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or a
percentage of the amount invested). The agent is obliged to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence
or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending on the
nature of the transaction.
Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on the effective profit rate basis over the period, adjusted by actual income
when received. Losses are accounted for when incurred.
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(ii)

Revenue recognition
Ijara
Income from Ijara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectability.
Murabaha
Income from Murabaha is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to
its collectability.
Mudaraba
Income or losses on Mudaraba financing are recognised on an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated. Otherwise,
income is recognised on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss on their declaration by the Mudarib.
Wakala
Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when
received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent.

(j)

Non-trading investments
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
The ‘non-trading investments’ caption in the statement of financial position includes:

debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method;

debt securities measured at FVOCI;

equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI; and

Investment in associate and joint venture

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which are
recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

interest revenue using the effective interest method;

ECL and reversals; and

foreign exchange gains and losses.
When debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
The Group elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to
retained earnings on disposal of an investment.
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Non-trading investments (continued)
Policy prior to 1 January 2018
Included in non-trading investments are FVOCI (both equity and debt) which are initially recognised at fair value plus
incremental transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Prior to 1 January 2018, non-trading investments
includes available-for-sale assets (debt and equity) which are initially recognised at fair value plus incremental transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
After initial recognition, these investments are re-measured at fair value. For investments which are not part of an
effective hedge relationship, unrealised gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year. For investments which are part of an effective fair value hedge relationship, any unrealised gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
changes in fair value being hedged.
Interest income is recognised on FVOCI debt securities using the effective interest rate, calculated over the asset’s
expected life. Premiums and/or discounts arising on the purchase of debt investment securities are included in the
calculation of their effective interest rates. Dividends on equity instruments are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the right to receive payment has been established.
For the purpose of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, an available-for-sale financial asset is treated as if it
were carried at amortised cost in the foreign currency. Accordingly, for such a financial asset, exchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
For unquoted equity investments where fair value cannot be reliably measured, these are carried at cost less provision
for impairment in value. Upon de-recognition, the gain or loss on sale is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year.
Included in non-trading investments are held-to-maturity assets which are non-derivative assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity and that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold them till
maturity. These are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses.
A sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments would result in the
reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and would prevent the Group from classifying
investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years. However, sales and
reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not necessarily trigger a reclassification:




(k)

sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of interest would not
have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;
sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected substantially all of the asset’s original principal; and
sales or reclassifications, which are attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the Group’s control
that could not have been reasonably anticipated

Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated income statement under
‘other income’ in the year in which they arise.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year
of retirement or disposal.
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Property and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement
All items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any,
except for land, which is measured at fair value. Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly
tested for impairment and upon completion are transferred to the appropriate category of property and equipment and
thereafter depreciated.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other operating income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures
will flow to the Group. On-going expenses are charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

(ii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:
Buildings and villas
Office furniture and equipment
Fit-out leased premises
Safes
Computer systems and equipment
Vehicles

20 to 50 years
5to 7 years
10 years
10 years
3 to 7 years
3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date.
(ii)

Capital work in progress
Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes,
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design and
construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Group’s accounting policy. When the assets are ready for
the intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment category and is
depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policies.

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than investment
properties and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are expected benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The ‘recoverable amount’ of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. ‘Value in
use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGU.
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(l)

Property and equipment (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of non-financial assets
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by more than one CGU. Corporate
assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the
CGUs to which the corporate assets are allocated.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a prorate basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(m)

Intangible assets
Goodwill arises on the acquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and license acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of
the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.
Goodwill and license impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
The Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill include intangible assets arising out of business combinations. The
cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets
acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets for the calculation of amortisation are as follows:
Customer relationships
Core deposits
Brand

7.5 – 15 years
2.5 years – 15 years
20 years
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(n)

Collateral pending sale
Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans and advances and are
recorded as assets held for sale and reported in “Other assets”. The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its fair
value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No
depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to fair value
less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment loss and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment loss,
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group’s collateral disposal policy is in line with the
respective regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group operates.

(o)

Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and Commercial Paper
Due to banks and financial institutions, customer deposits and Commercial Paper are financial liabilities and are initially
recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

(p)

Repurchase agreements
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a fixed price on a specified future date are not
derecognised. The liability to the counterparty for amounts received under these agreements is shown as repurchase
agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and repurchase price is
treated as interest expense and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

(q)

Term borrowings and subordinated notes
Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted into share capital at the option
of the holder, where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is calculated as the excess of issue
proceeds over the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.
Term borrowing which are designated at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable
to changes in its credit risk is presented in OCI as a liability credit reserve. On initial recognition of the financial liability,
the Group assesses whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liability that is attributable to credit
risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. This assessment is made by using a regression
analysis to compare:

the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to changes in the credit risk; with

the impact on profit or loss of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments.
Amounts presented in the liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss. When these
instruments are derecognised, the related cumulative amount in the liability credit reserve is transferred to retained
earnings.
Term borrowings and subordinated notes without conversion option and that are at fair value through profit or loss are
financial liabilities which are initially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value
changes for the risks being hedged.

(r)

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are acquired (treasury shares) are deducted from the equity and accounted for at
weighted average cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancelation of the Bank’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration,
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Treasury shares
if reissued, is recognised in share premium. If treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share issue, the cost of
the shares is charged against retained earnings. Voting rights relating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and
no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

(s)

Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in
these consolidated financial statements.

(t)

Share option scheme
On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitled to the
options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options for which the related
service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the
number of share options that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.
These shares may contribute to the calculation of dilutive EPS once they are deemed as potential ordinary shares.

(u)

Interest income and expense
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Effective interest rate
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest
rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to:

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

the amortised cost of the financial liability.
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.
Amortised cost and gross carrying amount
The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability
is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance (or impairment allowance before 1 January 2018).
The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected
credit loss allowance.
Calculation of interest income and expense
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset
or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective
interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect
movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the
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Interest income and expense (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Calculation of interest income and expense (continued)
date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.
For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 3(c)(vii).
Presentation
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI
includes:

interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost;

interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI;

the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense;
and

the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk.
Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes:

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense.

the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk.
Interest income and expense on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are presented as in interest income or
interest expense from financial instruments at FVTPL.
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest
rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but excluding future credit losses. The calculation includes
all amounts paid or received by Group that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument,
including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.
Interest income and expense presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss include:





interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis;
interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest rate basis;
interest on held for trading securities and derivative financial instruments on an effective interest rate basis;
the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period as hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense; and
the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk.
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Income from Islamic financing activities
Ijara income is recognised on a time-proportion basis over the lease term.
Murabaha income is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal
amounts outstanding. Mudaraba income is recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual results on
distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group’s consolidated
income statement when incurred.

(w)

Depositors’ share of profit
Depositors’ share of profit is amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the form
of wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
amounts are calculated in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia’a principles.

(x)

Fee and commission income and expense
The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services provided to its customers. The basis of
accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly
the revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fee and commission income is accounted for as
follows:




income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;
income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed;
income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest income”.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Group
first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS
15 to the residual.
Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are
received.

(y)

Zakat
Zakat represents Islamic business zakat payable by the Group on behalf of its shareholders to comply with the principles
of Sharia’a and is approved by the Sharia’a Supervisory Board. The Group’s appointed Zakat Committee is mandated to
recommend zakat distribution.

(z)

Net gain/loss on investments and derivatives
Net gain on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments at fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading investments and dividend income. Net
gain on investment at fair value through profit or loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FVOCI assets are recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income and recorded in fair value reserve with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the
effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the investment is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity under fair value reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
case of debt instruments.
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Net gain/loss on investments and derivatives (continued)
Non-trading investment includes FVOCI and amortised cost instruments.
The Group also holds investments in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses interest
paid on these assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected (note 31)
Amortised cost investments, which are not close to their maturity are not ordinarily sold. However when they are sold
or realised, the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(aa)

Foreign currency

(i)

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at spot
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency
differences arising from the transaction arising from the translation of the following item are recognised in OCI.
available for sale equity instruments / FVOCI equity instruments
a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the
hedge is effective
qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective.

(ii)

Foreign operations
The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the UAE are not deemed an integral part of the head office
operations, as they are financially and operationally independent of the head office. The assets and liabilities of the
foreign operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date. The income and expense
of foreign operations are translated at average rates, as appropriate. Exchange differences (including those on
transactions which hedge such investments) arising from retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to
foreign currency translation adjustment account in other comprehensive income.
When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related
to the foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of only
part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI.
If the settlement of a monetary receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, then foreign currency differences arising on the item form part of the net investment in the foreign
operation and recognised in OCI, and accumulated in the translation reserve in the equity.
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Overseas income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises of the current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except the extent it relates
to items recognised directly in equity or OCI.
Current tax is provided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group operates
and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, including
whether additional taxes and interest maybe due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve
a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its
judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities would impact tax expense in
the period in which such a determination is made.

(ac)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivatives are initially recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from
marking to market the derivative or using valuation techniques, mainly discounted cash flow models.
The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held for trading,
or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains and losses from changes
in fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When derivatives
are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either: (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (ii) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows
that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction; (iii) hedge of net investment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied
to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.
Embedded derivatives
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an
embedded derivative separately from the host contract when:

the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

the host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL;

43

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ac)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Embedded derivatives (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)



the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a
separate contract; and
the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract.

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives
are presented in the statement of financial position together with the host contract.
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an
embedded derivative separately from the host contract when the host contract is not itself carried at fair value through
profit or loss, the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in
a separate contract, and the economic characteristic and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the
economic characteristics and risk of the host contract. Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with
all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment
hedging relationship, and are presented separately from host contract in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Hedge accounting
It is the Group’s policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as risk management objective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation of the
assessment, at inception and on an on-going basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge.
The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an on-going basis, as to
whether the hedging instrument(s) is (are) expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or
cash flows of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated. The Group makes an
assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable
to occur and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.
Fair value hedge
In relation to fair value hedges, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument to fair value, as well as related
changes in fair value of the item being hedged, are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk. Hedge
accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. However if the derivative is novated to a central counterparty by both parties as a consequence of
laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the novation, then the derivative
is not considered as expired or terminated. Any adjustment up to that period to the hedged item for which effective
interest rate method was used is amortised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a part of the recalculated
effective interest rate of the then hedged item over its remaining life.
Cash flow hedge
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flow attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised assets or liability that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised in OCI and presented in the hedging reserve within equity. Any
ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. The amount
recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period as the hedged cash
flows affect profit or loss and in the same line in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. If the hedging derivative expires
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Embedded derivatives (continued)
Cash flow hedge (continued)
of sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting the hedge
accounting is discounted prospectively. However if the derivative is novated to a central counterparty by both parties as
a consequence of laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the novation,
then the derivative is not considered as expired or terminated.
Net investments hedges
When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of
a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
is recognised in other comprehensive income in the translation reserve. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair
value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount recognised
under other comprehensive income is reclassified to statement of profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
Other derivatives
All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not
designated as such are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a component of net
gain on investments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain.

(ad)

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability.

(ae)

Employees’ end of service benefit
The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ length of service and completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are
accrued over the period of employment.
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant government pension scheme
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which
are expensed when due.
Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post‐employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity or to a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.
Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group to Pensions and Benefits
Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made.
Defined benefit plan
A defined benefit plan is a post‐employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The liability recognised
in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined
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Employees’ end of service benefit (continued)
Defined benefit plan (continued)
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments for unrecognised past‐service costs. The
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high‐quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in OCI. Net
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Staff cost in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately to profit or loss. The
Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

(af)

Directors’ remuneration
Pursuant to Article 118 of the Commercial Companies Law No. 8 of 1984 and in accordance with the Bank’s Articles of
Association, Directors’ shall be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting
depreciation, reserves and distribution of dividends not less than 5% of capital to shareholders.

(ag)

Fiduciary activities
Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group as they are only held in trust where the Group
acts as a custodian on customers’ behalf. The Group has no liability or obligations towards the customer on these assets
held in trust. Accordingly, these assets are not included in these consolidated financial statements.

(ah)

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares, which comprise of convertible notes and share options granted to staff.

(ai)

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive, being the
chief operating decision maker, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its
performance for which discrete financial information is available. Segment results that are reported to the Group Chief
Executive include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

(aj)

Lease payments
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly against income. Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset or the lease term.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(aj)

Lease payments (continued)
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a straight line
basis over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

(ak)

Settlement date accounting
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date that the Group settles the
purchase or sale of an asset.

(al)

Taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible.
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

(am) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified party fails to meet its obligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.
Certain financial guarantee contracts in the nature of credit default guarantees are not held for proprietary trading
purposes and are treated as insurance contracts and accounted for under IFRS 4.
For other financial guarantee contracts, these are initially recognised at their fair value (which is the premium received
on issuance). The received premium is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a
payment under the guarantee has become probable). The premium received on these financial guarantees is included
within other liabilities.
Financial guarantees are reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if
appropriate, to consider whether a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar
to those established for quantifying impairment losses on loans and advances. If a specific provision is required for
financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet are reclassified to the appropriate provision.

(an)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January
2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(an)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

A.

IFRS 16 Leases
The IASB issued a new standard for accounting for leases in January 2018.
a) The new standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require
lessees to recognise most leases on their balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use
assets.
b) Lessees must apply a single model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘shortterm’ leases and leases of ‘low-value’ assets.
c) Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar to today’s finance lease
accounting, with interest and depreciation expense recognised separately in the statement of profit or loss.
Early application is permitted provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date.
The Group has assessed the impact of above standard. Based on the assessment, the above standard has no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at the reporting date.

B.

4

Other standards
The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle – various standards

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

Transitional impact
The impact from the adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 on the retained earnings, fair value reserve and noncontrolling interests is as follows:

Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39

Retained
earnings
AED’000

Fair value
reserve
AED’000

Noncontrolling
interest
AED’000

Total
AED’000

18,677,552

625,210

487,015

19,789,777

-

24,138

-

24,138

602

(602)

-

-

(47,015)

47,015

-

-

303,742

(303,742)

-

-

(2,939,889)
-----------------------------------

49,113
-----------------------------

(158,701)
------------------------------

(3,049,477)
----------------------------------

15,994,992
==============

441,132
============

328,314
============

16,764,438
==============

Impact on reclassification and re measurements:
Investment securities (debt) from held to maturity to those
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Investment securities (debt) from available-for-sale to those
measured at fair value through profit or loss
Investment securities (equity) from available-for-sale to those
measured at fair value through profit or loss
Investment securities (private equity) from available-for-sale to
those measured at fair value through profit or loss
Impact on recognition of Expected Credit Losses
On financial assets and unfunded exposures (net of tax)
Opening balance under IFRS 9 on date of initial application of
1 January 2018
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Transitional impact (continued)
The following tables reconciles the original measurement categories and carrying amounts in accordance with IAS 39 and the new measurement categories with those under IFRS 9 for the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 January 2018

IAS 39 classification

IFRS 9
classification

IAS 39
carrying
amount
AED’000

Reclassification
to other
category
AED’000

Re-measurements
AED’000

Impact of ECL
AED’000

IFRS 9 carrying
amount
AED’000

138,111,054

-

-

(278,979)

137,832,075

19,320,764

2,393,533

-

-

21,714,297

Financial assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Due from banks and financial
institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments

Other assets

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

FVTPL

FVTPL

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
FVTPL
Loans and receivables

Amortised cost
Amortised cost
FVTPL
Amortised cost

13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
330,465,888

-

-

(27,796)
(5,895)
(1,889,336)

13,801,694
21,341,079
11,399,432
328,576,552

Held to maturity

Amortised cost

7,075,467

(873,590)

-

(63,937)

6,137,940

Available for sale - debt

FVOCI Debt

78,984,329

580,683

24,138

-

79,589,150

Available for sale - equity

FVOCI Equity

Loans and receivables

Amortised cost

Total Financial Assets
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2,328,154

(2,100,626)

-

-

227,528

15,542,116
------------------------------------

------------------------------------

------------------------------------

(42,075)
------------------------------------

15,500,041
------------------------------------

638,403,668
===============

===============

24,138
===============

(2,308,018)
===============

636,119,788
===============
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Transitional impact (continued)

IAS 39 classification

IFRS 9
classification

IAS 39
carrying
amount
AED’000

Reclassification
to other
category
AED’000

Re-measurements
AED’000

Impact of ECL
AED’000

IFRS 9 carrying
amount
AED’000

Financial liability

Due to banks and financial institutions

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

30,576,336

-

-

-

30,576,336

Repurchase agreements

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

37,674,016

-

-

-

37,674,016

Commercial paper

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

24,124,097

-

-

-

24,124,097

Derivative financial instruments

FVTPL

FVTPL

14,941,331

-

-

-

14,941,331

Customer accounts and other deposits

Amortised cost
Amortised cost /
FVTPL

Amortised cost
Amortised cost /
FVTPL

395,843,664

-

-

-

395,843,664

42,145,718

-

-

-

42,145,718

Subordinated notes

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

420,381

-

-

-

420,381

Other liabilities1

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

21,033,339
------------------------------------

------------------------------------

------------------------------------

741,459
------------------------------------

21,774,798
------------------------------------

566,758,882
===============

===============

===============

741,459
===============

567,500,341
===============

Term borrowings

Total Financial Liabilities

1Includes

ECL for unfunded exposures
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Financial risk management
Introduction and overview
Risk management framework
The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide returns to the shareholders in line with the accepted
risk profile. In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks notably credit
risk, market risk, liquidity and funding risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and other risks like compliance risk, strategic
risk, reputation risk, information security risk and business continuity. A well-established risk governance and ownership
structure ensures oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Group. The Risk management
tone is set right at the top from the Board of Directors (“BOD”) and gets implemented through a well-defined risk
management structure and framework.
Composition of Board
The Board of Directors (“BOD”) is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Group. The day-today management of the Group is conducted by the BOD committees, and the Group Chief Executive Officer (“GCEO”).
The BOD has overall responsibility for the Group including approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic
objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance and corporate values within the agreed framework in accordance with
relevant statutory and regulatory structures. The BOD currently comprises nine members. Each Director holds his
position for three years, which may then be renewed for a further three year term. The Board of Directors of the Bank’s
subsidiaries has the same fiduciary responsibilities towards their respective entities as the Group’s Directors have
towards the Bank.
Corporate Governance Framework
The Group has a comprehensive corporate governance framework that puts in place rules, processes and policies
through which BOD and Senior Management manages the Group. The BOD drives the implementation of the corporate
governance standards and in accordance with its charter had oversight responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance framework. The Group’s corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest standards of
professionalism and due diligence in the performance of their duties. The Group Chief Risk Officer (“GCRO”) is the
custodian of the Corporate Framework document.
Risk Management Structure
The BOD approves risk management plans for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its associates and international offices including
representative offices and overseas branches. Under authority delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and Compliance
Committee (“BRCC”) through its separately convened risk management meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk
management policy, exercises delegated risk authorities and oversees the implementation of risk management
framework and controls. The GCRO functionally reports to this committee.
Board Level Committees within the Group
Board Management Committee (“BMC”)
BMC comprises three members of the BOD and the CEO. BMC oversees execution of the Group’s business plan as per
the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of the Group. The
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BMC charter.
Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”)
The BRCC provides oversight and advice to the Group Board in relation to current and potential future risk and
compliance exposures of the FAB Group. It also considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination
of risk appetite and tolerance as well as promote a risk and compliance awareness culture among the Group. The
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BRCC’s charter.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
Board Level Committees within the Group (continued)
Board Audit Committee (“BAC”)
BAC comprises three members of the BOD and the GCEO. BAC ensures oversight of the effectiveness of the internal
control systems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and financial reporting. In addition, it reviews,
approves and oversees the internal and external audit programs and ensures coordination between internal and external
auditors. The Group Chief Audit Officer (“GCAO”) provides reports to the Committee on Internal controls. The Committee
meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities are covered in the Board Audit Committee’s charter.
Remuneration and Nomination Committee (“REMCO”)
REMCO comprises three members of the BOD and the CEO. REMCO recommends and oversees the appointment and
termination of Directors and succession planning for the Group Executive Committee members. This includes an
assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed to ensure they are positioned to discharge their responsibilities
in the interests of the shareholders and FAB Group. The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Boards FAB’s
reward framework, approves and oversees rewards design and ensures it is appropriate and consistent with the Group’s
culture, values, business performance and risk strategy. The Committee meets at least twice a year or more frequently
as deemed necessary. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered in REMCO’s
charter.
Management Level Committees within the Group
Management committees are responsible for implementing the Risk management framework. The major functions of
the ten management committees are listed below:
Group Executive Committee (“EXCO”)
EXCO is the most senior management committee operating under a delegated authority from the Board. . It is responsible
for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the Group Board or Board Committees. The Group EXCO
also supports the GCEO to determine and implement the Bank’s strategy as approved by the FAB Board.
The key responsibilities of the Committee include decisions on the Bank’s strategy, annual budgets, capital management,
risk management and FAB’s more material policies and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate certain authorities
and powers to management committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the authority to deal with
strategy, annual budget and structure; financial reporting and controls; capital management; risk and internal control;
contracts; corporate governance matters; executive remuneration and human resources policies, and group policies
generally; general meeting of shareholders and communication and any other matters in its discretion. EXCO consists
of the executive management team and is chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer. The composition, guiding
principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of EXCO are covered in the EXCO’s charter.
Corporate & Investment Banking Credit Committee (“CIBCC”)
CIBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of the Group’s Corporate & Investment Banking business
credit strategy and policies and procedures. The purpose of the CIBCC is to oversee the credit and lending strategies and
objectives of the Group, including identifying and managing the Group’s Corporate & Investment Banking credit
exposures and its response to trends affecting those exposures. It also assists in reviewing the quality and performance
of the Group’s credit portfolio; and overseeing the Corporate & Investment Banking credit function of the Group,
including reviewing internal credit risk and credit policies and establishing portfolio limits. The composition, guiding
principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of CIBCC are covered in the CIBCC’s charter.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group (continued)
Personal Banking Credit Committee (“PBCC”)
PBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of credit strategy, for personal banking businesses. The
Committee has been set up in order to ensure a holistic overview of the business strategies across the Personal Banking
businesses of the Group. The Committee oversees the credit and lending strategies, Identifies and manages business
credit strategy and strategic response to trends affecting the businesses; reviews the quality and performance of the
portfolio; and oversees the credit risk management function including establishing product portfolio limits. The
composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of PBCC are covered in the PBCC’s Charter.
Group Risk Committee (“GRC”):
Oversees the Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an effective manner.
Defines, develops and periodically monitors the Group’s risk appetite along with its related methodology, parameters,
targets, and tolerances taking into account the Bank’s strategy and business planning. The GRC will report relevant
matters to the Group EXCO, and as appropriate the BRCC, advising and informing them as required on the Group’s risk
appetite and framework.
Group Compliance Committee (“GCC”):
Assists the Board Risk & Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s regulatory
responsibilities as well as ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various
regulatory authorities across the Group. The Committee also oversees that the relevant policies and procedures,
including, but not limited to the Group Code of Ethics are complied with across the Group.
Group Asset Liability Management Committee (“GALCO”)
GALCO assists the BOD and Board Committees in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee the Group’s asset and liability
management (ALM) related responsibilities. GALCO is directly accountable to the BRCC for ensuring that the risks within
the Group Asset and Liability position are prudently managed by way of strong Group policy and procedures and an
appropriate risk framework. The objective of GALCO is balance sheet management design and strategy and constant
oversight of interest rate risk and liquidity risk with the primary goal of achieving optimal return while ensuring adequate
levels of liquidity within an effective risk control framework. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities of GALCO are covered in the GALCO’s charter.
Human Resources Steering Committee (“HRSC”)
HRSC assists the EXCO and the REMCO in fulfilling its duties with regard to implementing strategic as well as operational
HR initiatives in order to deliver long term value. The Committee is formed to provide a forum to discuss and approve
HR initiatives and policies to ensure that the needs of the organization from an employee perspective are considered
and changes, as necessary, are approved or are submitted for approval to the relevant governance body. The Committee
is the formal sponsor of all material HR initiatives across FAB in line with its Employee Value Proposition (“EVP”). The
composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of HRSC are covered in the HRSC’s charter.
Integration Steering Committee (“ISC”)
ISC has been appointed under a delegated authority from EXCO to provide direction on all matters relating to the postMerger integration process. It is the main approving authority for all post-Merger integration policies and procedures
and, as such, all lower-level integration committees report to the Group ISC. The Group ISC meets fortnightly and is
chaired by the GCEO. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of ISC are covered in the
ISC’s charter.
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Risk management framework (continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group (continued)
Group Operational Risk Committee (“GORC”)
Assists the Group Risk Committee in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s operational risk management,
business continuity and information security responsibilities. Responsibility areas of the GORC include identifying,
measuring, managing, reporting of the Bank’s operational risk profile, ratifying information security policy and
procedures, integrated business continuity management policy and business recovery strategy of the Bank.
Information Security Committee (“ISC”)
Assists the Board Risk and Compliance Committee and the Group Risk Committee in overseeing, reviewing and taking
decisions on the implementation of FAB’s security controls to ensure that information assets of the Bank are adequately
protected. It also serves as an independent and objective governance forum which ensures the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Bank’s information security framework.
Group Risk Management and Compliance Function
The Group has a centralized Risk Management, Compliance & Legal functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management
function comprises Enterprise Risk, Credit Risk, Operational and Fraud Risk Management Unit, Market & Liquidity Risk
Management Unit, Information Security and Business Continuity Management unit. The Compliance function comprises
Regulatory compliance, Financial Crime Compliance, Business Compliance units. The Legal function supports business &
enabling functions through dedicated units and also includes the Group corporate governance function.
Enterprise Risk Management Policy Framework
FAB’s Enterprise Risk Management Policy (ERMP) framework aims to accomplish its core values and purpose of being a
world class organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk
management framework across FAB including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign
representative offices. Core objective of ERMP is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the BOD that the risks
threatening FAB’s achievement of its core purpose are being identified, measured, monitored and controlled through an
effective integrated risk management system. The ERMP framework consists of specific policy documents covering all
material risks across FAB; which include ERM policy, Risk Appetite Policy, Corporate and Investment banking credit policy,
Personal banking credit policy, Market risk Master policy and its associated operating policies, Liquidity risk policy,
Interest rate risk policy, Operational risk policy, Fraud risk policy, Compliance risk policy, AML and Sanctions Policy, IT
and Information Security risk policy, BCM Policy, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) policy, New
Products Approval policy, Model governance policy, etc. In addition to these risk management policies, the Group has
also put in place detailed operational policies, procedures and programs wherever needed. Other relevant risks such as
reputation risk and strategy risk are covered under the ERM policy.
FAB manages risks using three lines of defense comprising of business units, control units and Internal Audit. Business
units, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in their day-to-day activities by ensuring that activities are
within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant internal policies and processes. Group Credit,
Group Risk and Legal & Compliance division, as the second line of defense, establishes risk controls comprising of policies
and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge to the first line of defense. The Group Chief Risk
Officer (“GCRO”) has a direct reporting line to the BRCC to ensure the independence of Group Risk from business. Internal
audit, as the third line of defense, provides assurance to management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk
management practices employed by the first two lines of defense. The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting
line to the Board Audit Committee.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and
cause the Group to incur a financial loss. It arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances, due from banks and
financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments
and certain other assets.
Management of credit risk
Credit risk identification and assessment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising
three levels of defense. The first level of defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaining a sound
credit quality of Assets in line with the approved business strategy and credit risk appetite. The second level of defense
is with the Group Credit Unit that assesses the risk on a customer & facility level and ensures proper documentation of
customer, facility and security documents along with Group Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a portfolio
basis and maintains credit risk policies and credit risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts as a third level of
defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and
procedures of the Group. The unit also reviews the policy documents on a regular basis.
As a part of credit risk monitoring and control framework, regular risk monitoring at both individual and portfolio levels
is carried out along several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several
dimensions, financial and operating performance, account conduct, end use of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants,
adherence to financial and non-financial covenants, recovery performance, rating system performance among others.
The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at
facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance.
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Letter of Credit (SBLC) and Comfort Letters. The Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized
transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is
binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents
are reviewed by appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. In
certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.
Credit quality analysis
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost, FVOCI
debt investments (2018) and available-for-sale debt assets (2017). Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the
amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
As of 31 December
2018

Balances with central
banks
Due from banks and
financial institutions
Reverse repurchase
agreements
Loans and advances1
Non-trading
investments
Amortised cost
FVOCI Debt2
Other assets3
Unfunded exposure

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Purchased or originally
credit impaired4
AED’000
AED’000
Exposure
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

176,630,171

26,142

4,838,929

230,651

-

-

-

18,540,275

19,658

685,973

30,498

-

-

-

Total
AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

-

181,469,100

256,793

-

19,226,248

50,156

19,048,807

15,356

-

-

-

-

-

-

19,048,807

15,356

336,129,675

1,507,539

17,228,374

4,063,427

8,894,605

4,682,146

4,803,837

1,630,136

367,056,491

11,883,248

5,630,295
84,319,951
12,110,664

2,736
42,586
102,321

24,658
425,367

1,498
1,568

-

-

-

-

5,630,295
84,344,609
12,536,031

2,736
44,084
103,889

205,202,317
---------------------------------857,612,155

121,991
---------------------------------1,838,329

5,104,229
---------------------------------28,307,530

153,389
---------------------------------4,481,031

488,030
---------------------------------9,382,635

137,568
---------------------------------4,819,714

---------------------------------4,803,837

---------------------------1,630,136

210,794,576
----------------------------------900,106,157

412,948
---------------------------------12,769,210

===============

=============== ===============

===============

===============

==============

==============

============

===============

==============

1The

exposure represents gross loans and advances.
provision against financial instruments classified as FVOCI is netted off against the fair value reserve.
3On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part of stage 1.
4The Group, from an internal credit quality point of view, considers AED 4,572 million as par to non-performing loans.
2The
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Opening balance as at
1 January 2018

Balances with central
banks
Due from banks and
financial institutions
Reverse repurchase
agreements

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Purchased or originally
credit impaired4
AED’000
AED’000
Exposure
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

130,830,533

23,757

5,502,359

255,222

-

-

-

13,350,927

6,716

478,563

21,080

-

-

-

Total
AED’000
Exposure

AED’000
Provision

-

136,332,892

278,979

-

13,829,490

27,796

21,346,974

5,895

-

-

-

-

-

-

21,346,974

5,895

Loans and advances1
Non-trading
investments
Amortised cost
FVOCI Debt2
Other assets3

310,729,079

1,849,288

21,602,034

5,734,822

7,023,405

4,643,719

5,734,540

2,383,559

345,089,058

14,611,388

6,086,877
79,562,572
10,932,092

5,123
47,067
49,019

115,000
26,535
331,545

58,814
2,046
431

113

48

-

-

6,201,877
79,589,107
11,263,750

63,937
49,113
49,498

Unfunded exposure

188,454,138
----------------------------------

206,352
------------------------------

6,599,105
--------------------------------

333,156
------------------------------

368,148
------------------------------

201,951
-------------------------------

-------------------------------

----------------------------

195,421,391
----------------------------------

741,459
----------------------------------

761,293,192
===============

2,193,217
=============

34,655,141
==============

6,405,571
=============

7,391,666
=============

4,845,718
=============

5,734,540
=============

2,383,559
============

809,074,539
===============

15,828,065
==============

1The

exposure represents gross loans and advances.
provision against financial instruments classified as FVOCI is netted off against the fair value reserve.
3On certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part of stage 1.
4The Group, from an internal credit quality point of view, considers AED 5,469 million as par to non-performing loans.
2The
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Classification of investments as per their external ratings:
Non-trading investments

AAA
AA to A
BBB to B
CCC and below
Unrated

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

14,156,082
58,732,451
14,650,910
20,780
2,876,087
--------------------------------90,436,310
==============

13,736,429
55,568,380
14,561,101
26,535
4,565,265
--------------------------------88,457,710
==============

Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
2018
2017
AED’000
AED’000
16,562
7,327,891
3,981,306
21
3,295,130
--------------------------------14,620,910
==============

93,281
12,451,229
5,924,467
27
851,760
--------------------------------19,320,764
==============

Unrated investments primarily consist of investments in Private equity funds and investments in equity which doesn’t
carry credit risk. Investments at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired.
Collateral held and other credit enhancements
The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at
facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance.
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (“CRM”) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Letter of Credit (“SBLC”) and Comfort Letters. The Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized
transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is
binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents
are reviewed by the appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. In
certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.
The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. An estimate of the
collateral coverage (after application of haircut) against credit-impaired loans and advances is shown below:
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

8,182,041
3,930,396
1,353,911
--------------------------------13,466,348
============

6,910,733
3,955,521
1,625,901
--------------------------------12,492,155
============

Collateral value cover
0 – 50%
51 – 100%
Above 100%
Total Gross credit impaired loans
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Collateral held and other credit enhancements (continued)
The Group’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Group does not generally
use the non-cash collateral for its own operations.
While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 2017 and 2018, maintaining repossession
rights assist the Group in the restructuring and settlement of credit-impaired loans.
Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities borrowing
The Group mitigates the credit risk of derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by
entering into master netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.
Derivative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with clearing counterparties (“CCPs") or entered into under
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements. In general, under these agreements, in
certain circumstances – e.g. when a credit event such as a default occurs – all outstanding transactions under the
agreement with the counterparty are terminated, the termination value is assessed as per the jurisdiction netting rules
and the amount (due or payable) in settlement with the counterparty. The Group usually executes a credit support annex
in conjunction with the ISDA agreement, which requires the Group and its counterparties to post collateral to mitigate
counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted on exchanges and with CCPs.
Loans and advances to customers
The general creditworthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loan
extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate
borrowers provide it. The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating charges over
all corporate assets and other liens and guarantees.
Because of the Group’s focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, the Group does not routinely update the
valuation of collateral held against all loans to corporate customers. Valuation of collateral is updated when the loan is
put on a watch list and the loan is monitored more closely. For credit-impaired loans, the Group obtains appraisals of
collateral because it provides input into determining the management credit risk actions.
Amounts arising from ECL
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment
See accounting policy 3(c)(vii).
Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure
by comparing:



the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with
the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of the
exposure.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For retail portfolio historical payment behavior of the exposure is evaluated to determine significant increase in credit
risk.
In addition to the quantitative test based on movement of PD, the Group also applies experienced credit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results.
Credit risk grades
The Group allocates each Corporate exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be
predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using
qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of
the exposure and the type of borrower.
Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit
risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the
difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3.
Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower.
Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk
grade.
Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly
The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date.
Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument
and the borrower, and the geographical region. What is considered significant differs for different types of lending, in
particular between corporate and retail.
The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors
linked to the Group’s credit risk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative
analysis on a timely basis. This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement
on a watch list. Such qualitative factors are based on expert judgment and relevant historical experiences.
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss
allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in
credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the
indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group determines a probation period during which the financial
asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. When
contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met
includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified contractual terms.
Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);

For retail, a facility or any material credit obligation to the Group is more than 90 days past due;

Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or been
advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Definition of default (continued)
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to
reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory
capital purposes (see 5(e)).
Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an
instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.
The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 40% probability
of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability of occurring.
External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary
authorities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such as the OECD and the
International Monetary Fund, and selected private-sector and academic forecasters.
The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and
credit risk and credit losses.
The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2018 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31
December 2019 to 2023.
Region

Macro
Variable1,2
Oil Price

Gulf
UAE
Index

Equity

UK
Index

Equity

UK
UK GDP

Scenario
Base
Upside
Downside
Base
Upside
Downside
Base
Upside
Downside
Base
Upside
Downside

2019
-2.16%
20.34%
-28.69%
22.77%
28.97%
6.58%
-8.82%
-3.63%
-23.43%
1.54%
3.10%
-1.06%

2020
-7.01%
-2.20%
-12.55%
8.80%
10.47%
13.33%
-2.63%
0.67%
2.35%
1.43%
2.95%
-0.54%

2021
-2.74%
-3.88%
4.47%
6.80%
15.35%
1.52%
9.10%
5.35%
12.52%
1.67%
1.95%
1.77%

2022
0.88%
-1.03%
10.23%
6.55%
8.85%
1.27%
5.14%
3.04%
9.01%
1.78%
1.63%
2.37%

2023
1.23%
-0.41%
6.98%
7.56%
8.48%
3.75%
3.21%
2.87%
4.76%
1.74%
1.53%
1.96%

(1) Represents the average annualized increase / decrease over the period.
(2) There are additional macro variables factors used of other regions relevant to their market.

Modified financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan
at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3(c)(iv).
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination
of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with
 the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.
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Risk management framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Modified financial assets (continued)
The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance activities’) to maximise
collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is
granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is
expected to be able to meet the revised terms.
The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the
terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance policy. The Group Credit
Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.
For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the
modification has improved or restored the Group’s ability to collect interest and principal and the Group’s previous
experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment
performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioural indicators.
Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance
may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see Note 3(c)(vii)). A customer needs to demonstrate
consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be creditimpaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at
an amount equal to Stage 1.
Loans with renegotiated terms
Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial
position and where the Group has made material concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once a loan is
restructured, it remains in this category for a minimum period of twelve months, in order to establish satisfactory track
record of performance under the restructuring agreement. The Group determines the twelve-month period to
commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. As at the reporting date, the Group has
renegotiated the following exposures:
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

7,322,938
===============
2,719,912
===============
3,008,807
===============

6,308,292
===============
1,815,476
===============
705,482
===============

Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount
Impaired amount
Allowance for impairment (ECL / Specific Provision)

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

probability of default (PD);

loss given default (LGD); and



exposure at default (EAD).
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a
portfolio throughout the remaining life of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data.
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD term structure based on current
collateral, counterparty industry, country of risk and recovery costs that is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates
are recalibrated for different economic scenarios incorporating the impact of change in oil prices, equity index and other
parameters.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from
amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments,
the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical
observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed
exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling the
range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using statistical techniques.
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month for Stage 1 financial assets, the Group measures ECL
considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension options) over
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Group considers a longer period. The
maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require repayment of an advance
or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.
However, for credit card facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Group measures
ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability to demand repayment
and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice
period. The Group can cancel them with immediate effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal dayto-day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer
period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take, and that serve
to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility and/or turning the outstanding balance
into a loan with fixed repayment terms.
Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis
of shared risk characteristics that include:

instrument type;

collateral type;

LTV ratio for retail mortgages;

date of initial recognition;

remaining term to maturity;

industry; and

geographic location of the borrower.
The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately
homogeneous.
Loss allowance
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of
financial instrument. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the allowance account for credit losses and reflect the
measurement basis under IAS 39.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Loss allowance (continued)

Stage 11
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Purchased
credit
impaired
AED’000

8,146,848

-

4,581,263

-

12,728,111

4,468,060

-

-

-

-

-

8,919,060

(5,953,631)
-------------------------------

6,405,571
-------------------------------

264,455
-------------------------------

2,383,559
-------------------------------

3,099,954
-------------------------------

325,260
-------------------------------

2,193,217

6,405,571

4,845,718

2,383,559

15,828,065

13,712,380

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2

(129,413)

129,413

-

-

-

-

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3

(152,427)

-

152,427

-

-

-

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1

141,307

(141,307)

-

-

-

-

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

-

(2,535,498)

2,535,498

-

-

-

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2

-

177,075

(177,075)

-

-

-

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1

10,423
-------------------------------

-------------------------------

(10,423)
-------------------------------

-------------------------------

-------------------------------

-------------------------------

(130,110)

(2,370,317)

2,500,427

-

-

-

(188,697)

657,932

1,708,792

(364,204)

1,813,823

2,362,297

(36,081)
-------------------------------

(212,155)
-------------------------------

(4,235,222)
-------------------------------

(389,220)
-------------------------------

(4,872,678)
-------------------------------

(3,346,566)
-------------------------------

1,838,329
==============

4,481,031
==============

4,819,715
==============

1,630,135
==============

12,769,210
==============

12,728,111
==============

Beginning of the period
Increase due to acquisition and
other adjustment
Impact of accounting policy
alignment
Impact due to IFRS 9 adoption

2018
Total
AED’000

2017
AED’000

Transfers:

Impact of change in provision
Write-offs and other
adjustments

1On

certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL is computed based on simplified approach and reported as part
of stage 1.

64

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5

Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including
derivatives. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting
and collateral agreements.

Note
Balances with Central Bank
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Other assets

8
9
10
11
12
13

Total
Derivatives held for trading
Derivatives held for hedging

39
39

Total
Contingent liabilities
Commitment

38
38

Total
Total credit risk exposure

Gross
maximum
exposure
2018
AED’000

Gross
maximum
exposure
2017
AED’000

181,469,100
11,679,960
19,226,248
19,048,807
367,056,491
90,371,169
20,484,753
------------------------------------709,336,528
================
11,258,237
1,825,955
------------------------------------13,084,192
==============
165,134,974
45,659,602
-----------------------------------210,794,576
-----------------------------------933,215,296
===============

136,332,892
18,761,276
13,829,490
21,346,974
345,089,058
86,057,723
15,542,116
------------------------------------636,959,529
===============
10,874,605
524,827
----------------------------------11,399,432
==============
152,437,597
42,983,794
----------------------------------195,421,391
----------------------------------843,780,352
===============

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.
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Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry sector, counterparty and geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:
Concentrations by industry sector
Loans and advances

Agriculture
Energy
Manufacturing
Construction
Real estate
Trading
Transport and communication
Banks
Other financial institutions
Services
Government
Personal – Loans & Credit cards
Personal - Retail Mortgage
Others

Investments

Reverse repurchase agreements

Undrawn loan Commitments

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

313,175
35,074,356
23,949,920
8,727,362
97,328,365
22,882,591
25,337,423
28,472,001
28,844,388
22,351,610
5,780,419
55,661,533
11,890,287
443,061
----------------------------------367,056,491
===============

435,808
24,225,459
20,178,714
12,034,840
90,530,386
22,877,522
26,421,661
21,099,155
26,641,128
24,228,514
5,006,234
58,363,714
12,857,601
188,322
----------------------------------345,089,058
===============

14,134,203
271,889
151,922
1,484,402
88,183
4,738,702
24,343,036
15,386,871
140,337
44,317,675
----------------------------------105,057,220
===============

13,169,794
392,044
72,941
750,167
126,687
5,077,269
26,090,385
17,883,900
485,699
43,354,376
375,212
----------------------------------107,778,474
===============

17,467,876
1,580,931
-------------------------------19,048,807
==============

17,970,093
3,376,881
-------------------------------21,346,974
==============

7,718,901
5,704,950
834,848
7,514,438
2,686,769
3,702,437
3,718,900
6,187,837
6,610,027
980,495
-------------------------------45,659,602
=============

7,510,896
4,653,908
952,194
13,361,067
2,170,578
5,196,425
667,569
2,709,145
2,185,704
1,159,921
1,754,283
662,104
-------------------------------42,983,794
=============

The above numbers are presented on a gross basis and are not adjusted for provisions or interest in suspense if any.
Included within investments are equity instruments where the credit risk is not applicable.

66

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5

Financial risk management (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Concentration by location:

As at 31 Dec 2018
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non trading investments

As at 31 Dec 2017
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non trading investments

UAE
AED’000

Europe
AED’000

Arab countries
AED’000

Americas
AED’000

Asia
AED’000

Others
AED’000

Total
AED’000

47,026,895
6,769,352
1,498,500
3,443,738
1,726,108
230,883,881
31,920,824
----------------------------------323,269,298
===============

72,551,134
1,768,902
8,045,846
9,302,435
8,975,904
40,954,112
17,602,295
----------------------------------159,200,628
===============

6,508,746
2,606,908
3,931,969
5,604,980
962,168
29,518,809
15,668,070
-------------------------------64,801,650
==============

57,009,376
1,234,093
4,762,883
115,023
29,948,854
10,700,661
-------------------------------103,770,890
==============

69,369
1,943,808
430,776
146,704
1,302,345
31,483,051
13,689,257
-------------------------------49,065,310
==============

297,847
556,274
550,950
2,644
4,267,784
855,203
----------------------------6,530,702
============

183,165,520
14,620,910
19,226,248
19,048,807
13,084,192
367,056,491
90,436,310
----------------------------------706,638,478
===============

41,841,692
6,357,372
159,496
2,631,845
2,099,778
225,405,727
32,994,218
----------------------------------311,490,128
===============

57,579,526
2,007,556
10,394,394
14,204,929
7,527,951
41,443,951
16,035,290
----------------------------------149,193,597
===============

7,174,336
4,327,245
1,630,653
3,198,329
1,060,508
26,839,708
15,681,376
-------------------------------59,912,155
==============

31,450,850
163,758
765,592
143,116
59,158
26,629,511
11,951,579
-------------------------------71,163,564
==============

64,650
6,359,273
805,596
801,455
616,860
21,368,849
11,084,991
-------------------------------41,101,674
==============

105,560
73,759
367,300
35,177
3,401,312
710,256
----------------------------4,693,364
============

138,111,054
19,320,764
13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
345,089,058
88,457,710
----------------------------------637,554,482
===============

Concentration by location for investments is measured based on the location of the issuer of the security. Concentration by location for all others is measured based on the residential status
of the borrower. The above numbers are presented on a gross basis and are not adjusted for provisions or interest in suspense if any. Concentration by location for undrawn commitments is
stated in note 38 of these consolidated financial statements.
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(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Classification of investments as per their counterparties:

Government sector
Supranational
Public Sector
Banking sector
Corporate / private sector

Less: allowance for impairment (expected
credit loss) on amortised cost securities

Non-trading investments
2018
2017
AED’000
AED’000

Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
2018
2017
AED’000
AED’000

41,637,190
2,504,208
22,515,092
17,552,792
6,227,028
-------------------------------90,436,310

38,956,577
3,180,983
23,521,158
15,019,621
7,779,371
-------------------------------88,457,710

2,680,485
810,394
1,251,552
6,790,244
3,088,235
-------------------------------14,620,910

4,397,799
915,279
2,287,703
11,070,764
649,219
-------------------------------19,320,764

(2,736)
-------------------------------90,433,574
==============

-------------------------------88,457,710
==============

-------------------------------14,620,910
=============

-------------------------------19,320,764
=============

Settlement risk
The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk
of loss due to the failure of counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as
contractually agreed. Any delay in settlement is rare and monitored.
Derivative related credit risk
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The
positive market value is also referred to as the "replacement cost" since it is an estimate of what it would cost to replace
transactions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are
entered into with other banks and financial institutions.

(b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due or
that it can only do so at an excessive cost.
Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, including derivatives and other off-balance sheet
commitments, not being matched in currency, size, and term. FAB ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall due
under both businesses as usual and stress conditions without incurring undue cost.
Management of liquidity risk
The Group has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled liquidity risk
position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable
circumstances and without incurring substantial additional costs, for a rolling period of three months. . The risk appetite
is supported by a comprehensive risk management framework that includes Group ALCO approved limits for key funding
and liquidity metrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan.
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(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Management of liquidity risk (continued)
The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed liquidity
regulation from both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the Group’s external credit rating
objectives.
One of the critical means to measure adequacy of liquidity as per extant global regulation is through Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (“LCR”). FAB has been internally reporting Basel III LCR numbers for a considerable period of time, and has invested
heavily in ensuring systems and controls framework is in place to comply with all the qualitative and quantitative aspects
of Basel III. In addition the Group also ensures that it is compliant with UAE Central Bank liquidity regulation on Eligible
Liquid Assets Ratio (“ELAR”) at all times.
Liquidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the organisation to ensure that the
Group complies with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. Similarly International limits are cascaded to ensure
compliance with any additional local regulatory requirements on liquidity management.
All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.
Exposure to liquidity risk
The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group’s retention history is detailed
below.

69

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5

Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018
Total
AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments1
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Other assets

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments1
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Subordinated notes
Other liabilities
Equity

Undrawn commitments to extend credit
Trade contingencies

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
years
AED’000

Unspecified
maturity
AED’000

182,908,727
14,620,910
19,176,092
19,033,451
13,084,192
353,205,228
90,433,574
7,388,493
3,991,215
19,699,711
20,583,602
--------------------------------------744,125,195
=============

173,951,213
3,099,469
19,176,092
7,812,517
1,532,117
58,996,281
4,001,571
15,437,701
---------------------------------------284,006,961
==============

8,957,514
3,615,152
9,042,380
1,705,972
49,905,144
5,936,507
5,145,901
-----------------------------------84,308,570
============

3,750,902
342,059
2,640,094
68,651,892
25,316,677
--------------------------------------100,701,624
=============

620,869
1,836,495
2,567,203
68,877,833
14,378,331
-----------------------------------88,280,731
============

593,569
4,638,806
106,774,078
40,339,082
---------------------------------------152,345,535
==============

2,940,949
461,406
7,388,493
3,991,215
19,699,711
-----------------------------------34,481,774
============

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
15,219,464
465,475,874
42,268,173
401,979
25,606,380
101,973,000
---------------------------------------744,125,195
==============
45,659,602
165,134,974
=============

37,685,831
31,628,667
17,254,974
1,600,273
417,833,642
2,945,133
19,204,785
---------------------------------------528,153,305
==============
12,887,475
75,782,817
==============

2,370,601
1,304,559
889,131
1,653,419
36,212,483
10,352,657
6,401,595
-----------------------------------59,184,445
============
23,726,362
19,340,637
============

210,103
1,836,459
3,369,951
9,830,082
10,245,303
-----------------------------------25,491,898
============
5,524,790
27,536,499
============

2,573,849
1,435,463
7,479,023
-----------------------------------11,488,335
============
3,122,821
15,504,100
============

6,021,972
164,204
11,246,057
401,979
-------------------------------------17,834,212
=============
398,154
26,970,921
==============

101,973,000
---------------------------------------101,973,000
==============
============

The Group has the option to liquidate the derivatives at any point of time.

1
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(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017:
Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

138,111,054
19,320,764
13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
330,465,888
88,457,710
6,927,692
3,535,501
19,901,374
15,672,416
--------------------------------------668,968,295
=============

129,444,974
5,332,119
13,827,603
13,396,537
1,821,287
64,252,351
3,148,594
11,754,312
---------------------------------------242,977,777
==============

8,666,080
6,777,244
1,887
7,950,437
1,456,835
37,974,179
4,379,228
3,918,104
-----------------------------------71,123,994
============

4,610,671
2,248,883
57,478,522
19,239,841
--------------------------------------83,577,917
=============

1,113,740
2,428,292
62,089,240
20,814,826
-----------------------------------86,446,098
============

927,502
3,444,135
108,671,596
38,475,234
---------------------------------------151,518,467
==============

559,488
2,399,987
6,927,692
3,535,501
19,901,374
-----------------------------------33,324,042
============

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
14,941,331
395,843,664
42,145,718
420,381
21,033,339
102,209,413
----------------------------------------668,968,295
==============
42,983,794
152,437,597
==============

25,375,102
37,055,277
19,931,271
2,049,661
340,455,577
3,198,475
15,787,256
----------------------------------------443,852,619
==============
7,277,456
63,054,997
==============

4,980,891
618,739
4,192,826
1,466,528
50,526,974
2,704,263
5,246,083
-----------------------------------69,736,304
============
10,510,438
21,827,746
============

220,343
2,812,421
3,622,508
22,395,771
-----------------------------------29,051,043
============
11,862,109
24,919,436
=============

2,976,936
1,083,074
3,527,616
--------------------------------7,587,626
===========
8,265,799
11,349,322
============

5,635,785
155,531
10,319,593
420,381
------------------------------------16,531,290
============
5,067,992
31,286,096
==============

102,209,413
--------------------------------------102,209,413
=============
============

Total
AED’000
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments1
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Other assets

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments1
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Subordinated notes
Other liabilities
Equity

Undrawn commitments to extend credit
Trade contingencies

The Group has the option to liquidate the derivatives at any point of time.

1
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AED’000

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5

Financial risk management (continued)
(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
Liabilities
Total
AED’000
As at 31 December 2018
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings1
Subordinated notes

Undrawn commitments to extend credit2
Trade contingencies

As at 31 December 2017
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings1
Subordinated notes

Undrawn commitments to extend credit2
Trade contingencies
1Includes borrowings with callable feature for which the
2Calculated as per the

Gross nominal
cash flows
AED’000

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
years
AED’000

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
465,475,874
42,268,173
401,979
------------------------------------601,326,351
=============
45,659,602
165,134,974
=============

40,424,411
35,087,490
18,197,308
468,909,645
73,942,394
634,444
------------------------------------637,195,692
=============
45,659,602
165,134,974
=============

37,797,953
31,814,905
17,296,217
418,809,103
3,275,459
----------------------------------508,993,637
=============
12,887,475
75,782,817
=============

2,409,127
1,341,723
901,091
37,142,125
11,018,473
21,109
--------------------------------52,833,648
============
23,726,362
19,340,637
============

217,331
1,930,862
11,065,988
11,104,186
42,276
--------------------------------24,360,643
============
5,524,790
27,536,499
============

1,674,701
7,939,714
42,276
-----------------------------9,656,691
===========
3,122,821
15,504,100
============

217,728
40,604,562
528,783
--------------------------------41,351,073
============
398,154
26,970,921
============

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
395,843,664
42,145,718
420,381
------------------------------------530,784,212
=============
42,983,794
152,437,597
=============

30,728,564
37,806,050
24,159,369
397,574,720
66,550,028
669,344
------------------------------------557,488,075
=============
42,983,794
152,437,597
=============

25,451,000
37,182,253
19,938,576
340,875,246
3,490,415
-----------------------------------426,937,490
=============
7,277,456
63,054,997
=============

5,057,221
623,797
4,220,793
51,346,184
3,332,987
21,496
--------------------------------64,602,478
============
10,510,438
21,827,746
============

3,864,764
23,580,996
43,169
--------------------------------27,488,929
============
11,862,109
24,919,436
============

220,343
1,267,010
3,858,147
43,228
--------------------------------5,388,728
============
8,265,799
11,349,322
============

221,516
32,287,483
561,451
--------------------------------33,070,450
============
5,067,992
31,286,096
============

undiscounted contractual cash flows based on final contractual maturity are presented above without consideration of the call option.

contractual maturity profile.
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(c)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the Group’s income or capital will fluctuate on account of changes in the value of a financial
instrument because of movements in market factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and
market prices of equity and commodity.
Management of market risk
The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading, investment and non-trading portfolios. Trading and
investment portfolios are held by the Global Markets Division and are managed on a fair value basis.
Investment Management Committee (IMCO) is responsible for oversight and guidance to Global Markets’ trading and
investment activities. It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the
market risk management policy. IMCO acts a sub-committee of Group Asset and Liabilities (G-ALCO) which has the overall
authority and responsibility to manage market risks.
Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detailed market risk appetite, risk
management methodologies & policies including the control framework that is reviewed by IMCO and submitted to GALCO & BRCC for approval.
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
The principal analytical tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group’s trading portfolios which
comprise of investments at fair value through profit or loss and trading derivatives is Value at Risk (“VaR”). The VaR of a
trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from
an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model uses historical simulation
based on a 99% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. Using market data from the previous two years, and
observed relationships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future
scenarios for market price movements.
The Group uses VaR limits for foreign exchanges, interest rates, credit spread and equities. The overall structure of Trading
VaR limits is subject to review and approval by the IMCO and then ratified at G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded down
to trading desks.
VaR is driven by actual historical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could
experience from an extreme market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further supplemented with other
position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading
portfolio. Moreover the trading activity at Group and desk level is subject to Management Action Triggers (“MAT”) that
are limits on maximum losses that trigger actions from management. The VaR is as follows:

VaR – Trading Book
All
Interest rate
Credit
Foreign Exchange
Equity
Diversification Benefit

2018
AED’000
--------------------As at

2018
AED’000
--------------------Average

2018
AED’000
--------------------Max

2018
AED’000
--------------------Min

2017
AED’000
--------------------As at

14,660
11,076
4,520
8,062
4,023
(13,021)
---------------------

29,581
24,658
4,398
15,058
2,658
(17,191)
---------------------

53,314
39,250
43,353
34,023
4,481
(67,793)
---------------------

14,659
10,703
2,529
3,376
1,524
(3,473)
---------------------

19,018
13,312
4,002
11,596
511
(10,403)
---------------------

Commodity risk is not currently captured in the VaR model. This is under regular monitoring by the Risk Group through a
set of market risk sensitivities, notional limits, and management action triggers.
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Market risk (continued)
Exposure to market risk – banking portfolios
Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse repurchase
agreements and certain derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily from the
investment portfolios, interest rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group’s overall FX positions.
The principal analytical tool used to measure and control the investment risk exposure within the Group is Value at Risk
(“VaR”). The VaR model is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios. The Group uses VaR limits for controlling
the overall investment risk, including foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread. The overall structure of Banking
VaR limits is subject to review and approval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded to different
Investment desks. The investment risk VaR is as follows:

VaR – Banking Book
All
Interest rate
Credit
Foreign Exchange
Equity
Diversification Benefit

2018
AED’000
--------------------As at

2018
AED’000
--------------------Average

2018
AED’000
--------------------Max

2018
AED’000
--------------------Min

2017
AED’000
--------------------As at

112,130
20,400
115,533
17,078
4,147
(45,028)
---------------------

117,966
29,027
120,644
14,737
3,144
(49,586)
---------------------

342,201
55,747
348,588
32,321
4,321
(98,776)
---------------------

99,970
18,625
89,193
7,446
2,237
(17,531)
---------------------

121,157
55,306
128,809
14,794
(77,752)
---------------------

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest
rates will adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages this risk
principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities. Overall
interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative instruments to manage overall position arising from the
Group’s interest bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives to manage interest rate risk is described in note 39.
Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate movements. The
Group assumes a fluctuation in interest rates of 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points) and estimates the following impact
on the net profit for the year and equity at that date:
Net profit for the year
2018
2017
AED’000
AED’000
Fluctuation in yield

±472,083
===========

±521,829
===========

Equity
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

±532,858
==========

±469,464
===========

During the year, the Group has revised its methodology for calculation of interest rate sensitivities. The interest rate
sensitivities set out above are based on AED 549,740 million (2017: AED 492,963 million) interest bearing assets and AED
466,091 million (2017: AED 402,248 million) interest bearing liabilities with interest re-pricing less than one year, for
assessing the impact on net profit. The impact on equity as given in the table below is based on the sensitivity of interest
bearing assets and liabilities. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate
the effect of interest rate movements.
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Market risk (continued)
The Group’s interest rate gap and sensitivity position based on contractual cash flow arrangements at 31 December 2018 was as follows:

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Other assets

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Other liabilities
Subordinated notes
Equity

On statement of financial position gap
Off statement of financial position gap
Total interest rate sensitivity gap
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity

Total
AED’000

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
years
AED’000

Non-interest
bearing
AED’000

182,908,727
14,620,910
19,176,092
19,033,451
13,084,192
353,205,228
90,433,574
7,388,493
19,699,711
3,991,215
20,583,602
-----------------------------------------744,125,195
==============

145,024,919
7,792,279
8,597,754
7,444,973
13,084,192
270,332,727
7,437,555
4,476,542
-----------------------------------------464,190,941
==============

8,957,514
2,282,820
9,042,380
56,660,483
6,091,043
2,514,976
--------------------------------------85,549,216
============

1,608,098
342,303
11,382,438
24,439,299
432,497
--------------------------------------38,204,635
============

383,758
2,203,795
3,813,934
12,380,920
351,565
----------------------------------------19,133,972
============

503,270
11,015,646
39,278,553
1,260,218
---------------------------------------52,057,687
============

28,926,294
2,050,685
10,578,338
806,204
7,388,493
19,699,711
3,991,215
11,547,804
------------------------------------------84,988,744
=============

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
15,219,464
465,475,874
42,268,173
25,606,380
401,979
101,973,000
-------------------------------------------744,125,195
==============

29,247,739
31,628,631
17,254,973
15,219,464
313,310,354
10,102,042
3,524,205
-------------------------------------------420,287,408
==============
43,903,533
33,378,072
--------------------------------------77,281,605
---------------------------------------77,281,605
=============

2,371,155
1,304,559
889,132
34,859,077
4,178,931
2,200,267
----------------------------------------45,803,121
=============
39,746,095
550,348
---------------------------------------40,296,443
-------------------------------------------117,578,048
==============

210,965
1,836,495
9,396,000
8,479,537
204,582
--------------------------------------20,127,579
=============
18,077,056
(3,974,801)
-----------------------------------------14,102,255
------------------------------------------131,680,303
==============

1,115,065
7,108,465
129,606
----------------------------------8,353,136
===========
10,780,836
(7,886,524)
--------------------------------------2,894,312
-------------------------------------------134,574,615
==============

164,204
12,399,198
841,612
401,979
-------------------------------------13,806,993
============
38,250,694
(22,067,095)
--------------------------------------------16,183,599
--------------------------------------------150,758,214
==============

8,436,676
106,631,174
18,706,108
101,973,000
------------------------------------------235,746,958
==============
(150,758,214)
-----------------------------------------------(150,758,214)
---------------------------------------------============
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Market risk (continued)
The Group’s interest rate gap and sensitivity position based on contractual cash flow arrangements at 31 December 2017 was as follows:

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Other assets

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Other liabilities
Subordinated notes
Equity

On statement of financial position gap
Off statement of financial position gap
Total interest rate sensitivity gap
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity

Total
AED’000

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
years
AED’000

Non-interest
bearing
AED’000

138,111,054
19,320,764
13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
330,465,888
88,457,710
6,927,692
19,901,374
3,535,501
15,672,416
------------------------------------------668,968,295
==============

120,755,325
8,785,020
10,277,717
13,396,536
273,587,719
6,104,190
------------------------------------------432,906,507
==============

8,666,080
5,744,846
110,190
7,950,438
33,135,204
4,450,640
--------------------------------------60,057,398
============

2,363,842
8,444,686
18,941,715
--------------------------------------29,750,243
============

1,074,972
3,473,496
18,633,642
--------------------------------------23,182,110
============

792,596
11,824,783
37,832,551
--------------------------------------50,449,930
============

8,689,649
559,488
3,441,583
11,399,432
2,494,972
6,927,692
19,901,374
3,535,501
15,672,416
--------------------------------------72,622,107
============

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
14,941,331
395,843,664
42,145,718
21,033,339
420,381
102,209,413
-------------------------------------------668,968,295
==============

22,745,363
37,055,277
19,931,271
259,294,389
14,098,549
-------------------------------------------353,124,849
==============
79,781,658
39,660,765
------------------------------------------119,442,423
------------------------------------------119,442,423
==============

4,980,891
618,739
4,192,826
38,848,293
482,264
---------------------------------------49,123,013
=============
10,934,385
(11,324,517)
-----------------------------------------(390,132)
-----------------------------------------119,052,291
==============

220,343
5,190,391
14,033,474
--------------------------------------19,444,208
============
10,306,035
7,497,522
-------------------------------------17,803,557
-----------------------------------------136,855,848
=============

637,712
3,211,838
----------------------------------3,849,550
===========
19,332,560
(11,413,602)
--------------------------------------7,918,958
------------------------------------------144,774,806
==============

155,531
10,319,593
420,381
--------------------------------------10,895,505
============
39,554,425
(24,420,168)
-----------------------------------------15,134,257
------------------------------------------159,909,063
==============

2,629,739
14,941,331
91,717,348
21,033,339
102,209,413
-------------------------------------------232,531,170
==============
(159,909,063)
---------------------------------------------(159,909,063)
--------------------------------------------==============
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(c)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group’s functional currency is the UAE
Dirham. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging
strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. At 31 December, the Group had the
following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

Currency
US Dollar
UK Sterling Pound
Euro
Kuwaiti Dinar
Saudi Riyal
Japanese Yen
Swiss Franc
Qatari Riyal
Bahraini Dinar
Egyptian Pound
Jordanian Dinar
Indian Rupees
Malaysian Ringgit
Libyan Dinar
Others

Net spot
position
(short)/long
AED’000

Forward
position
(short)/long
AED’000

Total
2018
(short)/long
AED’000

Total
2017
(short)/long
AED’000

(22,637,963)
(13,303,964)
74,814,371
(706,090)
(44,050)
7,094,136
(1,553,053)
143,136
1,684,447
183,525
531,526
898,123
(856,618)
263,663
(3,375,951)
==============

37,768,882
13,402,026
(74,234,636)
(494,899)
(567,539)
(6,581,217)
1,604,447
(387,050)
(2,468,415)
69,341
(264,929)
(179,599)
595,501
3,730,004
============

15,130,919
98,062
579,735
(1,200,989)
(611,589)
512,919
51,394
(243,914)
(783,968)
252,866
266,597
718,524
(261,117)
263,663
354,053
============

42,193,708
934,070
2,534,850
(292,450)
(3,691,007)
155,720
65,707
156,318
(204,029)
56,477
333,363
2,395,696
64,986
323,140
355,596
==========

As AED, SAR, BHD and QAR are pegged against US Dollar, the Group’s risk exposure to these currencies is limited to that
extent. Exposure to other foreign currencies is insignificant.
The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2018 and 2017 on
its monetary assets, liabilities and net derivatives forward position. The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably
possible movement of AED against other currencies, with all other variables held constant on the consolidated income
statement.
Currency

EUR

Assumed change in exchange rates

1%

GBP
1%

JPY

Libyan Dinar
1%

1%

± 5,129
± 1,557

± 2,637
± 3,231

Impact on net income in exchange rate:
2018 (AED’000)
2017 (AED’000)

± 5,840
± 25,348

± 956
± 9,341

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity is insignificant.
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Market risk (continued)
Equity price risk
FAB is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either through holding of equities of another entity or through
equity derivatives such as forward contracts, options or swaps. The fair value of these instruments will fluctuate due
changes in the market price of the underlying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta,
Vega and Gamma limits. The Group also enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and
industry concentration.
The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity markets on the Group’s income statement. The
sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value
of investments carried at fair value through the income statement.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index
Dubai Financial Market Index
Net asset value of managed funds
Other equity exchanges
Unquoted

Assumed
level of
change
%

Impact
on net
income
2018
AED’000

Impact
on net
income
2017
AED’000

5%
5%
5%
5%
5%

1,172
41,508
91,366
13,009
-

23,747
2,786
1,079
362

----------------------------------------

-------------------------------------

147,055

27,974

============

==========

The effect on equity as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 December
2018 and 2017, due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Non-trading investments (excluding investment in
associates and joint ventures)
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index
Dubai Financial Market Index
Net asset value of managed funds
Other equity exchanges
Unquoted
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Assumed
level of
change
%

Impact
on net
Income
2018
AED’000

Impact
on net
Income
2017
AED’000

5%
5%
5%
5%
5%

9,719
618
8,351
1,126

11,480
4,237
85,763
6,801
8,230

----------------------------------------

----------------------------------

19,814

116,511

=============

==========
=
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Financial risk management (continued)
(d)

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people & systems or from
external events.
Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary responsibility to ensure that risks are managed
and monitored resides with the businesses within the Group. Group’s businesses are supported by Embedded risk
resources and Group Operational Risk Management as ‘second line of defense’ to ensure robust risk management.
Further, there are reviews conducted by Group Internal Audit as the ‘third line of defense’. The results of internal audit
reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are submitted to the Board Audit
Committee.
The Group has an established Operational Risk framework consisting of policies and procedures to identify, assess,
monitor, control, report and to manage risks and to notify, identify and rectify incidents. The Operational Risk framework
also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance.
Typically, Operational Risk events are classified as:

Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

Employee practices & workplace safety: Risk of failures in employee relations, diversity and discrimination, and
health and safety risks across the Group

Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters

Clients, Products & Business Practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiduciary responsibilities,
improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activities.

Business Disruption & System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster
recovery for systems

Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and
documentation, vendor management and monitoring and reporting.
The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management across the Group. These responsibilities are
delegated and exercised through the Group Risk & Compliance Committee, which is the senior management forum
responsible for the oversight of Operational Risk.
Key responsibilities of Operational Risk Committee with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:

Approval of the Group Operational Risk Management Framework and oversight over its implementation

Approve the strategy and direction for Operational Risk across the Group.

Establish an effective Governance structure across the Group

(e)

Capital management
CBUAE regulations govern regulatory capital requirements for the Group; in addition the overseas branches and
subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local regulators. The capital management process for the Group is linked
to the overall business strategy to ensure that capital is adequate to the level of inherent risk in the business and within
the firm’s capital risk appetite The Group conducts capital planning in conjunction with the financial budgeting exercise.
The Board and top management define the long term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the framework for
the development of a bottom up plan based on the projections from individual business units. The bottom up plan is an
input to the annual budgeting process and is conducted at a business unit and country level. These are consolidated for
each business division and finally, for the entire Group. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance
sheet and P&L statements for the next year, by considering the following key parameters:
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Capital management (continued)





the short term (one year) goals
risk appetite & strategy
target growth rates
target returns

The Group’s capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated with its
activities and the allocation of capital across the Group The assessment of the various risks across the Group and their
likely impact is carried out in conjunction with the ICAAP undertaken annually. As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk
function identifies the various risks the Group is exposed to as part of its day-to-day operations. Next, the Group assesses
these risks against the existing policies and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and other
processes to measure, manage and mitigate the impact of such risks. Finally the Group determines the capital
requirements for the material risk exposures.
The key objectives of the Group’s capital management process are:

Maintain sufficient capital to meet minimum capital requirement set by CBUAE.

Maintain sufficient capital to support Group’s Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long-term strategic
plan.

Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarios including increased capital requirements determined
through ICAAP.

To support the Group’s credit rating.
The Group conducts regular stress test exercises in which the Balance Sheet and Profit or Loss statements are determined
for base case and stress scenarios. The risk factors are impacted by the assumptions made for the base and stress
scenarios and the corresponding impact on the capital adequacy is determined. The Group uses macroeconomic stress
tests in order to project capital need and capital levels under various unfavourable scenarios. The tests are perceived as
an important tool in internal capital planning. The stress test result during 2018 shows that the Group has adequate
capital even under adverse scenarios.
During the year, CBUAE issued BASEL III Capital supplementary standards and guidance. Based on the guidance, Banks
are required to deduct proposed dividend from retained earnings while calculating the Capital Adequacy ratio.
Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratio as computed below takes into account the impact of proposed dividend.
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Capital management (continued)
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Statutory and special reserve
General reserve and share option scheme
Fair value reserve
Non-controlling Interests
Less: Proposed dividend
Eligible Tier 1 capital (a)
Deductions:
Foreign currency translation reserve
Treasury shares
Deferred tax assets
Goodwill and Intangible assets
Other deductions
Total deductions
Less: Transitional Deduction from CET 1 (b)

Additional Tier 1
Tier 1 capital notes
Transitional Deduction from AT1
Additional Tier 1 (c)

Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated liabilities
Allowance for collective impairment
Transitional Deduction from AT1

Total regulatory capital base
Risk weighted assets:
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Risk weighted assets
Ratios with transition impact:
CET 1 ratio
Tier 1 capital ratio
Capital adequacy ratio

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

10,897,545
53,188,043
16,678,196
9,192,759
495,106
(598,021)
361,722
(8,064,183)
------------------------------------82,151,167

10,897,545
53,026,643
18,677,552
7,081,084
376,265
281,345
487,015
(7,628,282)
------------------------------------83,199,167

(310,931)
(25,530)
(72,635)
(20,606,448)
(197,465)
----------------------------------------(21,213,009)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------60,938,158
----------------------------------------

(63,075)
(42,434)
(36,585)
(20,263,462)
(262,895)
---------------------------------------(20,668,451)
---------------------------------------(16,534,761)
---------------------------------------66,664,406
----------------------------------------

10,754,750
-------------------------------------10,754,750
-------------------------------------71,692,908
--------------------------------------

10,754,750
(2,066,845)
------------------------------------8,687,905
------------------------------------75,352,311
-------------------------------------

361,782
5,340,017
-----------------------------------5,701,799
-----------------------------------77,394,707
============

420,381
5,270,024
(2,066,845)
-----------------------------------3,623,560
-----------------------------------78,975,871
============

427,201,365
29,475,312
35,696,011
----------------------------------------492,372,688
==============

421,666,579
28,054,810
35,619,434
----------------------------------------485,340,823
==============

12.4%
14.6%
15.7%
========

13.7%
15.5%
16.2%
========

The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements
for all periods presented.
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Country risk
Country risk is the likelihood of economic, social, and political events in a foreign country negatively influencing the
willingness or ability of state owned and/or privately owned customers in that country to pay their debts on time.
The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision process.
These factors include economic, social and political stability in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange
control measure, the transparency of information, the financial and market structure, banking regulations and
supervision, the legal system, and the accounting standards among others. Country risks are monitored and controlled
using country limits set by the Group; these limits are in accordance with overall business strategy, capital adequacy and
provisions for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable level of risk, and business opportunities in each
country.

(g)

Strategic risk
Strategic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group’s earnings, capital, reputation or standing
arising from changes in the environment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, improper
implementation of decisions, or lack of responsiveness to industry, economic or technological changes. It is a function of
compatibility of Group’s strategic goals, strategies developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those
goals and the quality of implementation.
The Group uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration
of risk management policies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strategic goals and
compatibility with developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings
volatility, effectiveness of communication and consistency of application of strategic goals, objectives, corporate culture,
and behaviour throughout the Group.
Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the
progress on strategic initiatives vis-à-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the
external business environment. The strategic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject to an approval process
which is also a part of the strategic planning process.

(h)

Compliance risk
Compliance risk refers to the risk to earnings or capital or reputation or continued business existence arising from
violations of or non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.
The Group, on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such risks inherent in all new and existing “material” products,
activities, processes and systems. The assessment includes risks assessment on non-conformance with laws, rules,
regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards. The Group Risk Management function has a group-wide
compliance unit that develops internal controls to manage such risks and it is supported by the Internal Audit and Legal
functions.
In order to monitor compliance and anti-money laundering risks, the Group has set in place the due diligence processes,
reviews of policies and procedures across the Group, implementation of an integrated compliance and AML system
which manages name clearance, transaction monitoring and payment monitoring activities, assessment through
compliance check-lists etc.
Compliance risk is largely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedures, extensive checklist based and on-spot
due diligence and regular training sessions.
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Reputation risk
Reputation risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public opinion. This can be due to external or
internal events.
The Group identifies and assesses reputation risk by clearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key
sources of reputation risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, describing the risks identified in
terms of the nature of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation. The Group also
refers to other relevant information for risk identification purposes. Such information may be sourced from media
reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal audit and compliance reports, management exception reports, or other
early warning indicators.
For reputation risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible
reputation risks the Group also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the BOD
and senior management to take prompt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputation event in advance.
In order to manage reputation risks, the Group has set in place a mechanism that entails drawing up action plans to
identify reputation risk events and facilitate subsequent monitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be
very difficult or too costly to eliminate entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans as response
actions.

6

Use of estimates and judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, IFRS require the management to select suitable accounting
policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result
in relevant and reliable information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the IASB’s Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements has made these estimates and judgements. Listed below are those
estimates and judgement which could have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(a)

Going concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

(b)

Impairment charge on financial assets
Applicable from 1 January 2018
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 3(c)(vii).
The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 across all categories of financial assets requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by
a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.
The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the
choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting
judgements and estimates include:
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Impairment charge on financial assets (continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)







The Group’s internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades
The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment
The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis
Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs
Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs
Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the
economic inputs into the ECL models

Prior to 1 January 2018
The Group evaluates impairment on loans and advances and non-trading investments on an ongoing basis and a
comprehensive review on a quarterly basis to assess whether an impairment charge should be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of impairment charge required. In
estimating these cash flows, management makes judgements about counterparty’s financial situation and other means
of settlement and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral. Such estimates are based on assumptions about
several factors involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty, and actual results may differ resulting in future
changes to such impairment charges.
It is the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

(c)

Collective impairment charge
Prior to 1 January 2018
Collective impairment charge is evaluated as described in accounting policy note 3(c)(vii).
In addition to specific impairment charge against individually impaired assets, the Group also maintains a collective
impairment allowance against portfolios of loans and advances with similar economic characteristics which have not
been specifically identified as impaired. In assessing the need for collective impairment charge, management considers
concentrations, credit quality, portfolio size and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance,
assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters,
based on historical and current economic conditions.

(d)

Impairment charge on property and equipment
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy note 3(l)(iii).
In determining the net realisable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer
companies, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. The selling prices are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction.

(e)

Contingent liability arising from litigations
Due to the nature of its operations, the Group may be involved in litigations arising in the ordinary course of business.
Provision for contingent liabilities arising from litigations is based on the probability of outflow of economic resources
and reliability of estimating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of individual
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(e)

Contingent liability arising from litigations (continued)
matters is not predictable with assurance.

(f)

Share option scheme
The fair value of the share option scheme is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The model inputs comprise of
share price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the option, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate.

(g)

Valuation of financial instruments
The valuation techniques of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the
management. These are discussed in detail in note 7.

(h)

Defined benefit plan
The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for obligations include
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used
to determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity
approximating the terms of related benefit obligation.
Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional
information on these assumptions is disclosed in note 24.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies include:
(i)

Financial asset and liability classification
The Group’s accounting policies provide scope for financial assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into
different accounting categories in certain circumstances. The classification criteria is mentioned in policy 3(c) (ii).

(j)

Qualifying hedge relationships
In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the
hedge to be highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

(k)

Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Group’s determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is discussed in note 7.

(l)

Structured entities
For all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remove the Group as fund
manager, and the Group’s aggregate economic interest in each fund is not material. As a result, the Group has concluded
that it acts as an agent for the investors in these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these funds.
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(m)

Operating segments
In preparation of the segment information disclosure, management has made certain assumptions to arrive at the
segment reporting. These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis. Operating segments
are detailed in note 40.

7

Financial assets and liabilities
(a)

Valuation control framework
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair value. This framework includes
a Valuation Committee that reports to the Group Risk Committee. The Group also has control functions to support this
framework (Product Control, Independent Price Verification, Model Validation and Group Market Risk) that are
independent of front office management. Specific controls include:







Independence in valuation process between risk taking units and control units;
System for valuations;
Verification of observable pricing;
Review and approval process for new models and changes to models;
Analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements; and
Review of significant unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the fair value
measurement of Level 3 instruments.

The fair values of due from banks and financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreement , due to banks and financial
institutions, repurchase agreements and Customer accounts and other deposits which are predominantly short term in
tenure and issued at market rates, are considered to reasonably approximate their carrying value.
The Group estimates that the fair value of its loans and advances portfolio is not materially different from its carrying
value since the majority of loans and advances carry floating market rates of interest and are frequently re-priced. For
loans considered impaired, expected cash flows, including anticipated realisation of collateral, were discounted using an
appropriate rate and considering the time to collect, the net result of which is not materially different from the carrying
value.

(b)

Determination of fair values
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market
to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. Consequently,
differences can arise between book values and the fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the
presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its
operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements:
Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in active market for an identical instrument.
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.
Level 3: Valuation techniques using unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation
technique includes input not based on observable data and the unobservable input have a significant impact on the
instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices of similar instruments
after making adjustments based on unobservable inputs that are necessary to reflect fair value of the instrument.
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Valuation techniques
All financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost except for derivatives, investment at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale investments which are measured at fair value by reference to published price
quotations in an active market or from prices quoted by counterparties or through use of valuation techniques.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are traded in active market are based on quoted market price or dealer
price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair value using valuation techniques, such as
discounted cash flow models, benchmarking against similar instruments for which observable market prices exist, BlackScholes model or other valuation models. Each valuation technique models the behaviour of underlying market factors.
These market factors include interest rates, credit spreads and other inputs used in estimating discount rates, bond
prices, foreign exchange rates, equity and equity index prices, volatilities and correlations.
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial
instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined by market participants acting at arm’s length.
The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common financial instruments,
such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data. Observable prices or model inputs are
usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-thecounter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the
need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair
values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone
to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.
For more complex instruments, the Group uses third party valuation models, which are developed from recognised
valuation models. These valuation models require expert judgement for the selection of the most appropriate valuation
model to be used including input market data and underlying assumptions for the determination of fair value. Model
inputs and parameters can be calibrated for market prices for plain vanilla instruments, published forecasts and current
or recent observed transactions in similar instruments. This calibration process is inherently subjective and it yields
ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair value, and expert judgement is required to select the most appropriate
point in the range.

(d)

Credit and Debit Valuation Adjustments (“CVA” and “DVA”)
CVA and DVA are incorporated into derivative valuations to reflect the impact on fair value of counterparty credit risk
and own credit quality respectively. These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised
derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are calculated using estimates of expected positive and negative
exposures respectively, probability of default and recovery rates, at a counterparty level. Counterparties include (but are
not limited to) financial institutions, corporates, sovereigns and sovereign agencies and supranationals. Expected
exposure is generally estimated through the simulation of underlying risk factors through Monte Carlo simulation
techniques.
Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced from the CDS markets. Where this information
is not available, or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a
sector curve based on the rating, the region and the industry sector. Net adjustment for CVA and DVA remained constant
at AED 48.3 million during the year.
Model-related adjustments
Model related adjustments are applied when either model inputs are overly simplified or the model has limitations
deriving the fair value of a position. These adjustments are required to correct existing model weaknesses or deficiencies
that were highlighted during the model review process.

87

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
7

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(e)

Fair value of financial instruments
The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2018:

Financial Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Other assets

Financial Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Other liabilities1
Subordinated notes

1

Designated at fair
value through
profit or loss
AED’000

Fair value through
profit or loss
AED’000

FVOCI – with
recycle to
profit or loss
AED’000

FVOCI – without
recycle to
profit or loss
AED’000

Amortised cost
AED’000

Carrying amount
AED’000

1,825,955
-----------------------------------1,825,955
==============

14,620,910
11,258,237
-------------------------------------25,879,147
===============

84,341,873
--------------------------------------84,341,873
===============

396,265
----------------------------396,265
===========

182,908,727
19,176,092
19,033,451
353,205,228
5,630,295
20,380,864
----------------------------------------600,334,657
================

182,908,727
14,620,910
19,176,092
19,033,451
13,084,192
353,205,228
90,368,433
20,380,864
------------------------------------------712,777,897
================

5,297,423
352,522
-----------------------------------5,649,945
==============

9,922,041
215,601
-------------------------------------10,137,642
===============

------------------------------============

------------------------------============

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
465,475,874
41,915,651
24,372,956
401,979
-------------------------------------------625,346,785
=================

40,266,535
34,769,685
18,144,105
15,219,464
465,475,874
42,268,173
24,588,557
401,979
-------------------------------------------641,134,372
================

Other liabilities that are held for trading are classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
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Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(e)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017:

Financial Assets
Cash and balances with central banks
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances
Non-trading investments
Other assets

Financial Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial Paper
Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Other liabilities1
Subordinated notes

1

Designated at fair
value through
profit or loss
AED’000

Held for trading
AED’000

Available
for sale
AED’000

Held to maturity
AED’000

Loans and
receivables
AED’000

Amortised cost
AED’000

Carrying amount
AED’000

11,122
524,827
---------------------------535,949
===========

19,309,642
10,874,605
-----------------------------------30,184,247
==============

81,312,483
--------------------------------------81,312,483
===============

7,075,467
---------------------------------7,075,467
=============

138,111,054
13,829,490
21,346,974
330,465,888
15,542,116
----------------------------------------519,295,522
================

-------------------------==========

138,111,054
19,320,764
13,829,490
21,346,974
11,399,432
330,465,888
88,387,950
15,542,116
-----------------------------------------638,403,668
================

4,975,181
193,906
--------------------------------5,169,087
=============

9,966,150
1,814,526
------------------------------------11,780,676
===============

-------------------------==========

-------------------------==========

-------------------------==========

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
395,843,664
41,951,812
18,145,142
420,381
-----------------------------------------548,735,448
================

30,576,336
37,674,016
24,124,097
14,941,331
395,843,664
42,145,718
19,959,668
420,381
-----------------------------------------565,685,211
================

Other liabilities that are held for trading are classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
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Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(e)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:
Level 1
AED’000

Level 2
AED’000

Level 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

As at 31 December 2018
Investment at fair value through profit or loss

11,188,493

1,608,998

1,823,419

14,620,910

FVOCI - with recycle to profit or loss

80,714,588

3,630,021

-

84,344,609

373,752

-

22,513

396,265

47,141
--------------------------------92,323,974
==============
10,775
-------------------------------10,775
=============

13,037,051
-------------------------------18,276,070
=============
352,522
15,208,689
-------------------------------15,561,211
=============

-------------------------------1,845,932
=============
-------------------------------=============

13,084,192
----------------------------------112,445,976
===============
352,522
15,219,464
----------------------------------15,571,986
=============

Financial assets held for trading
Designated at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

17,170,765
11,122
76,177,486

2,131,636
3,266,871

7,241
1,868,126

19,309,642
11,122
81,312,483

Derivative financial instruments (Assets)

6,489
-------------------------------93,365,862
=============
18,770
-------------------------------18,770
=============

11,392,943
-------------------------------16,791,450
=============
193,906
14,922,561
-------------------------------15,116,467
=============

-------------------------------1,875,367
=============
-------------------------------=============

11,399,432
----------------------------------112,032,679
===============
193,906
14,941,331
----------------------------------15,135,237
=============

FVOCI - without recycle to profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments (Assets)

Term borrowings
Derivative financial instruments (Liabilities)

As at 31 December 2017

Term borrowings
Derivative financial instruments (Liabilities)

There were no transfers between the fair value hierarchies for any financial asset or liability except for three securities
in fair value through OCI classification which moved from level 1 to level 2 amounting to AED 430 million and two
securities from level 3 to level 1 amounting to AED 59.1 million. In regards to financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss, one security was moved from level 1 to level 2 amounting to AED 12 million and two securities were moved
from level 2 to level 1 amounting to AED 274 million and one security was moved from level 2 to level 3 amounting to
AED 276 thousand.
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Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(e)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
The following table shows a reconciliation of instruments measured at fair value and classified as Level 3:

Balance as at 1 January
Additions
Effect of business combination
Settlements and other adjustments
Balance as at 31 December

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,875,367
113,431
(142,866)
----------------------------1,845,932
============

1,683,720
369,324
13,935
(191,612)
----------------------------1,875,367
=============

The Level 3 financial instruments mainly comprise of private equity investments, and their valuations are based on the
last net asset published by the fund manager. The effect of changes in its valuation is covered as part of equity price risk
included in note 5 (c).

8

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash on hand
Central Bank of the UAE
cash reserve deposits
certificates of deposits
other balances
Balances with other central banks

Less: expected credit losses

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,696,420

1,778,162

22,496,362
17,995,385
4,926,819
136,050,534
-----------------------------------183,165,520
(256,793)

20,732,467
14,987,010
4,505,644
96,107,771
-----------------------------------138,111,054
-

-----------------------------------182,908,727
===============

-----------------------------------138,111,054
===============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

3,917
1,823,408
1,113,625
11,679,960
--------------------------------14,620,910
==============

55,719
503,769
18,761,276
--------------------------------19,320,764
==============

Cash reserve deposits are not available for the day to day operations of the Group.

9

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in managed funds
Investment in private equity
Investments in equities
Debt securities
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Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
In 2017, investments in private equities were reported as non-trading investments classified as available for sale. These
have now been reclassified under IFRS 9 as Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

10

Due from banks and financial institutions

Current, call and notice deposits
Margin deposits
Fixed deposits

Less: expected credit losses

11

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

10,118,939
5,635,525
3,471,784
-------------------------------19,226,248
(50,156)
-------------------------------19,176,092
=================

4,492,834
7,491,982
1,844,674
-------------------------------13,829,490
-------------------------------13,829,490
=================

Reverse repurchase agreements
The Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party transfers
financial assets to the Group for short term financing. The carrying amount of financial assets at the reporting date
amounted to AED 19,033 million (2017: AED 21,347 million).
Expected credit allowance of AED 15,356 thousand has been recognised against reverse repurchase agreements during
the year (2017: AED nil).
At 31 December 2018, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell or repledge in the absence of default was AED 19,378 million (2017: AED 20,985 million).
At 31 December 2018, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledged was AED
11,903 million (2017: AED 13,965 million). The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities.
These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities
borrowing and lending activities.

12

Loans and advances

Gross loans and advances
Less: interest suspended
Less: expected credit loss
Net loans and advances
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2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

367,056,491
(1,968,015)
(11,883,248)
----------------------------------353,205,228
===============

345,089,058
(1,895,059)
(12,728,111)
----------------------------------330,465,888
===============
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Loans and advances (continued)
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

5,780,419
61,790,844
28,472,001
203,461,407
67,551,820
----------------------------------367,056,491
===============

5,006,234
54,586,399
21,099,155
193,175,957
71,221,313
----------------------------------345,089,058
===============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

24,222,265
277,776,148
27,930,930
29,049,808
7,154,605
922,735
-----------------------------------------

15,357,085
267,331,582
22,970,550
30,250,597
8,035,270
1,143,974
----------------------------------345,089,058
===============

By counterparty:
Government sector
Public sector
Banking sector
Corporate / private sector
Personal / retail sector
Gross loans and advances

By product:
Overdrafts
Term loans
Trade related loans
Personal loans
Credit cards
Vehicle financing loans

367,056,491

Gross loans and advances

=================

The Group provides lending against investment in equity securities and funds. The Group is authorised to liquidate these
instruments if their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying value of such loans is AED 8,276
million (2017: AED 9,316 million) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against such loans is AED 13,200
million (2017: AED 19,379 million). During the year, the Group has liquidated insignificant amount of collateral due to
fall in the coverage ratio.

Islamic financing
Included in the above loans and advances are the following Islamic financing contracts:

Ijara
Murabaha
Mudaraba
Others
Total Islamic financing contracts
Less: expected credit loss
Less: suspended profit
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2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

8,172,431
23,174,504
59,046
318,422
-----------------------------------31,724,403
(704,387)
(27,811)
-----------------------------------30,992,205
==================

7,051,924
19,500,917
218,177
168,561
-----------------------------------26,939,579
(453,034)
(32,671)
-----------------------------------26,453,874
==================
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Non-trading Investments

Available-for-sale investments
Fair value through other comprehensive income:
- with recycle to profit or loss (Debt Investments)
- without recycle to profit or loss (Equity Investments)
Held-to-maturity investments
Amortised cost
Investment in associates and joint venture

Less: expected credit losses

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

-

81,312,483

84,344,609
396,265
5,630,295
65,141
--------------------------------90,436,310
(2,736)
--------------------------------90,433,574
==================

7,075,467
69,760
-----------------------------------88,457,710
-----------------------------------88,457,710
==================

An analysis of non-trading investments by type at the reporting date is shown below:
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

-------------------------------------------------------------Equity investments
Investments in private
equity funds1
Debt investments
Funds

Less: expected credit losses

--------------------------------------------------------------

Quoted

Unquoted

Total

Quoted

Unquoted

Total

373,752

87,654

461,406

450,356

234,364

684,720

89,060,242
-------------------------------89,433,994
(2,411)
--------------------------------89,431,583
==============

914,662
----------------------------1,002,316
(325)
--------------------------------1,001,991
=============

89,974,904
---------------------------------90,436,310
(2,736)
--------------------------------90,433,574
==============

84,330,388
11,743
-------------------------------84,792,487
--------------------------------84,792,487
==============

1,703,524
1,727,335
----------------------------3,665,223
--------------------------------3,665,223
=============

1,703,524
86,057,723
11,743
------------------------------88,457,710
--------------------------------88,457,710
=============

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements included in non-trading investments at 31 December 2018 amounted
to AED 22,971 million (31 December 2017: AED 23,781 million).
1In

2017, investments in private equities were reported as non-trading investments classified as available for sale. These
have now been reclassified under IFRS 9 as Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
The non-trading investments include the following investments in associates of the Group:
Percentage of holding
2018
2017
40%
16%
16%
23%
23%
30%
30%

Green Emirates Properties PJSC
Midmak Properties LLC
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC
MERCURY

Green Emirates Properties PJSC (“GEP”) is a private joint stock company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi and
engaged mainly in the management and brokerage of real estate properties in United Arab Emirates and overseas.
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Non-trading investments (continued)
Midmak Properties LLC (“Midmak”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. Midmak is
involved in real estate activities. Although the Group owns 16% of the outstanding shares of Midmak, the investment has
been classified as an associate as the Group exercises significant influence due to representation of the Board of Directors.
MERCURY is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi to carry on business of investments and
payment service schemes.
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC, established in 2017, is jointly owned by 16 of the leading UAE national banks, supported by
the UAE Central Bank.

14

Investment Properties

Beginning of the year
Additions / transfer from PPE
Business Combination transaction
Disposals / transfer to PPE
Fair value adjustment
End of the year

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

6,927,692
576,004
(19,439)
(95,764)
----------------------------7,388,493
=============

6,422,502
553,203
45,106
(273,035)
179,916
----------------------------6,927,692
=============

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income in respect of net rental income of investment properties
are as follows:
2018
2017
AED’000
AED’000
Rental income derived from investment properties
Operating expenses

52,328
(33,233)
-------------------------19,095
===========

Net rental income from investment properties

34,642
(29,035)
-------------------------5,607
===========

Investment properties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants under prevailing market conditions at the
measurement date.
The Group's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under development in Abu Dhabi and Dubai.
Management determined that these investment properties consist of two classes of commercial and retail assets, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property.
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers
and all are level 3 under fair value hierarchy. The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional
qualifications and with recent experience in the location and category of investment properties being valued. The fair
values have been determined based on varying valuation models depending on the intended use of the investment
properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards.
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Investment properties (continued)
Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2018
and 2017:

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Buildings

Comparable and Residual Method
Sales Comparison Method

Comparable transactions
Current market price of similar assets

Land

Comparable and Residual Method

Cost of construction
Developer’s profit
Financing cost

Properties under development

Discounted cash flow method

Discount rate
Cash inflows
Cash outflows
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Property and equipment

Cost
As at 1 January 2017
Business Combination transaction
(note 43)
Additions
Allocations from CWIP
Disposals, transfers and
write offs1
At 31 December 2017

Additions
Allocations from CWIP
Disposals, transfers and
write offs1
At 31 December 2018

Land,
buildings
and
alterations
AED’000

Computer
systems
and
equipment
AED’000

Furniture,
equipment,
safes and
vehicles
AED’000

Capital
work -inprogress
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,155,345

625,587

195,258

91,754

2,067,944

1,808,495
40,067
51,015

418,224
553,037
107,907

232,444
69,350
5,624

449,371
285,379
(164,546)

2,908,534
947,833
-

(100,307)

(244,234)

(16,804)

(161,635)

(522,980)

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

2,954,615

1,460,521

485,872

500,323

5,401,331

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

---------------------------------

395,413
248,985

36,336
747,769

35,226
1,752

870,895
(998,506)

1,337,870
-

(443,864)

(251,798)

(129,938)

(75,950)

(901,550)

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

3,155,149

1,992,828

392,912

296,762

5,837,651

==============

==============

==============

==============

==============

98,593

308,632

132,464

-

539,689

477,026
73,318

405,027
201,850

185,174
36,250

-

1,067,227
311,418

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses
As at 1 January 2017
Business Combination transaction
(note 43)
Charge for the year
Disposals, transfers and
write offs1
At 31 December 2017

Charge for the year
Disposals, transfers and
write offs1
At 31 December 2018

(2,395)

(45,740)

(4,369)

-

(52,504)

------------------------------

-------------------------------

----------------------------

-----------------------------

-----------------------------------

646,542

869,769

349,519

-

1,865,830

------------------------------

-------------------------------

----------------------------

-----------------------------

-----------------------------------

81,447

125,073

29,066

-

235,586

(20,239)

(185,347)

(49,394)

-

(254,980)

------------------------------

-------------------------------

----------------------------

-----------------------------

-----------------------------------

707,750

809,495

329,191

-

1,846,436

============

=============

============

============

==============

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2018

1

2,308,073

590,752

136,353

500,323

3,535,501

==============

==============

==============

==============

==============

2,447,399

1,183,333

63,721

296,762

3,991,215

==============

==============

==============

==============

==============

adjusted for foreign exchange translation impact
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Intangibles

Cost
At 1 January 2017
Business Combination
transaction
At 31 December 2017

Business Combination
transaction (note 43)
At 31 December 2018

Goodwill
AED’000

Customer
relationship
AED’000

Core
deposit
AED’000

License
AED’000

Brand
AED’000

Total
AED’000

36,868

170,000

10,000

-

22,000

238,868

17,280,577
-----------------------------------17,317,445
------------------------------------

1,643,517
--------------------------------1,813,517
----------------------------------

966,038
---------------------------976,038
----------------------------

-----------------------------------------------------

-----------------------22,000
------------------------

19,890,132
-----------------------------------20,129,000
------------------------------------

52,804
------------------------------------17,370,249
===============

(38,801)
--------------------------------1,774,716
=============

(382,703)
---------------------------593,335
============

368,700
--------------------------368,700
===========

-----------------------22,000
==========

------------------------------------20,129,000
===============

------------------------------------------------------

60,509
120,776
---------------------------181,285
----------------------------

4,478
37,280
---------------------------41,758
----------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------

3,483
1,100
---------------------------4,583
----------------------------

68,470
159,156
---------------------------227,626
----------------------------

--------------------------===========

151,761
--------------------------333,046
===========

48,802
--------------------------90,560
===========

--------------------------===========

1,100
--------------------------5,683
===========

201,663
--------------------------429,289
===========

17,317,445
===============
17,370,249
===============

1,632,232
=============
1,441,670
=============

934,280
============
502,775
============

===========
368,700
===========

17,417
==========
16,317
==========

19,901,374
===============
19,699,711
===============

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2017

Charge for the year
At 31 December 2018

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2018
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Other assets

Interest receivable
Acceptances
Sundry debtors and other receivables
Tax receivable and deferred tax asset

Less: expected credit losses

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

9,169,190
6,899,761
4,534,080
84,460
------------------------------20,687,491
(103,889)
------------------------------20,583,602
================

7,195,037
5,463,959
2,976,835
36,585
------------------------------15,672,416
------------------------------15,672,416
================

The Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.
Acceptances arise when the Group is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of
credit. After acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional liability of the Group and is therefore recognised as
a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. However, every acceptance has a corresponding
contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recognised as a financial asset.

18

Due to banks and financial institutions

Banks and financial institutions
Current, call and notice deposits
Margin
Fixed deposits

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

8,158,400
897,243
16,177,477
--------------------------------25,233,120
---------------------------------

3,445,932
1,131,317
12,303,765
--------------------------------16,881,014
---------------------------------

Central banks
Current and call deposits
Fixed and certificate of deposits

50,759
77,417
14,982,656
13,617,905
---------------------------------------------------------------15,033,415
13,695,322
---------------------------------------------------------------40,266,535
30,576,336
==============
=============
Due to banks and financial institutions are denominated in various currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of
-0.5% to 16.85% (2017: -0.6% to 5.15%).

19

Repurchase agreements
The Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised financial
assets directly to third parties.
The carrying value that is also the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 23,707 million (2017: AED 23,784 million) and their associated financial liabilities amounted to AED 34,770 million
(2017: AED 37,674 million). The net difference between the fair value of the financial assets collateralised and the
carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 11,063 million (2017: shortage AED 13,891 million). The
shortage is covered by re-pledging financial assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase agreements or
through security borrowing arrangement from custodian.
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Commercial Paper
The Bank has established two Euro Commercial Paper Programmes with programme limits totaling up to USD 10.5 billion
in aggregate. The Bank has a “US Dollar commercial paper programme” with a programme limit of USD 5 billion.
The notes outstanding as at the end of the reporting date amounted to AED 18,144 million (2017: AED 24,124 million)
and have maturity period of less than 12 months.
The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its Commercial Paper during
2018.

21

Customer accounts and other deposits

By account:
Current accounts
Savings accounts
Margin accounts
Notice and time deposits

Certificates of deposit

By counterparty:
Government sector
Public sector
Corporate / private sector
Personal / retail sector

Certificates of deposit

By location:
UAE
Europe
Arab countries
Americas
Asia
Others

Certificates of deposit

100

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

148,584,905
10,125,980
4,893,445
271,291,828
-------------------------------------434,896,158
30,579,716
--------------------------------------465,475,874
================

137,005,200
13,323,504
5,744,664
205,096,675
-----------------------------------361,170,043
34,673,621
------------------------------------395,843,664
================

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

141,900,487
73,231,345
149,329,566
70,434,760
-------------------------------------434,896,158
30,579,716
-------------------------------------465,475,874
================

78,639,783
74,303,858
135,281,622
72,944,780
-----------------------------------361,170,043
34,673,621
-----------------------------------395,843,664
================

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

333,263,298
35,862,559
27,451,582
31,768,355
5,411,063
1,139,301
-------------------------------------434,896,158
30,579,716
-------------------------------------465,475,874
================

253,909,510
45,941,151
28,292,139
22,494,992
8,711,746
1,820,505
-----------------------------------361,170,043
34,673,621
-----------------------------------395,843,664
===============
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Customer accounts and other deposits (continued)
Islamic customers’ deposits
Included in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the following Islamic term deposits:

Wakala deposits
Mudaraba deposits

22

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,213,380
523,985
---------------------------1,737,365
===============

781,321
623,727
----------------------------1,405,048
===============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

41,915,651
---------------------------------41,915,651
352,522
---------------------------------42,268,173
=================

1,830,006
40,121,806
---------------------------------41,951,812
193,906
---------------------------------42,145,718
=================

Term borrowings

At amortised cost
Convertible notes
Other term notes

At fair value through profit or loss

Convertible notes included USD 500 million notes that matured in March 2018 and carried a fixed coupon that was paid
semi-annually in arrears. The value of the conversion option at inception was AED 108,265 thousand and as such was
classified as a part of equity under convertible note – equity component reserve. Upon the maturity and as none of the
option was exercised, the same has been transferred to General Reserve.
During the year, the Group has issued various fixed and floating rate notes. The Group hedges its currency and interest
rate exposure on these notes. The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated below:

Fixed rate
AED
CHF
CNH
CNY
USD
GBP
HKD
Floating rate
USD

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

744,638
36,861
1,418,208
5,176,396
117,564
187,593

96,830
565,454
62,015
-

1,384,631
---------------------------9,065,891
===============

2,227,724
---------------------------2,952,023
===============

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedged
are AED 33.52 billion (2017: AED 27.84 billion) and the risks being hedged have a net negative fair value of AED 1,264
million (2017: net negative fair value of AED 302 million). The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests, or
other breaches with respect to its term borrowings during 2018 and 2017.
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Term Borrowings (continued)
2018

2017

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Currency

Interest

AED

Equity linked

AED

3 month EIBOR + 2.59% p.a.

AUD

Fixed rate of 3.17% to 5.00% p.a.

AUD

3 month AUD BBSW + 110 bps to 142 bps p.a.

CHF

Fixed rate of 0.16% to 0.625% p.a.

CNH

Fixed rate of 4% to 4.79% p.a.

CNY
EUR

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
Years
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Up to
3 months
AED’000

3 months
to 1 year
AED’000

1 to 3
years
AED’000

3 to 5
years
AED’000

Over 5
Years
AED’000

Total
AED’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

96,830

-

-

-

96,830

-

49,991

-

-

-

49,991

-

-

49,936

-

-

49,936

1,039,197

649,250

155,245

-

-

1,843,692

861,918

-

1,983,239

84,717

-

2,929,874

-

51,792

-

64,504

-

116,296

-

-

57,268

71,812

-

129,080

-

-

-

1,485,350

549,312

2,034,662

-

-

-

754,538

556,742

1,311,280

69,571

310,856

168,656

36,861

-

585,944

73,324

355,185

572,242

-

-

1,000,751

Fixed rate of 4.50% to 4.80% p.a.

-

-

1,457,598

-

-

1,457,598

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fixed rate of 0.516% to 3.00% p.a.

-

-

105,495

-

547,502

652,997

-

-

111,017

-

580,853

691,870

EUR

3 month EURIBOR + 0.33% to 0.36% p.a.

-

-

250,582

-

-

250,582

66,128

-

263,084

-

-

329,212

GBP

Fixed rate of 1.66% p.a.

-

-

117,265

-

-

117,265

-

-

-

-

-

-

HKD

Fixed rate of 2.37% to 4.45% p.a.

-

151,052

243,099

707,220

182,810

1,284,181

-

-

303,202

238,052

567,182

1,108,436

JPY

Fixed rate of 0.86% to 2.60% p.a.

-

333,661

-

-

356,906

690,567

-

-

325,853

-

347,592

673,445

MXN

Fixed rate of 0.50% p.a.

-

-

-

-

1,425

1,425

-

-

-

-

1,960

1,960

MYR

Fixed rate of 4.90% p.a.

-

-

432,417

-

-

432,417

-

-

453,894

-

-

453,894

SGD

Fixed rate of 2.10% p.a.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

30,249

-

-

-

30,249

USD

Fixed rate of till 5.10% p.a.

1,836,365

2,709,970

5,744,730

5,061,974

9,608,102

24,961,141

1,830,007

-

10,284,027

2,134,531

8,265,264

22,513,829

USD

1-3 Month LIBOR + till 3.41% p.a.

-

6,096,085

1,570,216

123,114

-

7,789,415

367,098

2,221,999

7,992,009

243,966

-

10,825,072

-------------------------

---------------------------

-----------------------------

----------------------------

---------------------------

------------------------------

-------------------------

---------------------------

-----------------------------

----------------------------

---------------------------

------------------------------

2,945,133

10,352,657

10,245,303

7,479,023

11,246,057

42,268,173

3,198,475

2,704,263

22,395,771

3,527,616

10,319,593

42,145,718

=============

=============

===============

==============

=============

===============

=============

=============

===============

==============

=============

===============
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Term borrowings (continued)
During the year, the Group has issued various fixed and floating rate notes. The nominal values of the notes issued
during the year are stated below:
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

Beginning of the year

42,145,718

18,294,545

Increase due to acquisition
New issuances
Redemptions
Fair valuation, exchange and other adjustments

9,076,645
(7,735,417)
(1,218,773)
--------------------------------42,268,173
=================

31,308,591
3,135,955
(11,433,020)
839,647
--------------------------------42,145,718
=================

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

401,979
==========

420,381
==========

End of the year

23

Subordinated notes

10 December 2012 issue (4.75 percent fixed rate maturing on
9 December 2027)

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on the subordinated notes. The Group has not
had any defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the year ended
31 December 2018.

24

Other liabilities

Interest payable
Acceptances - net of discounting (note 17)
Provision employees’ end of service benefits
Accounts payable, sundry creditors and other liabilities
Overseas income tax

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

8,329,375
5,668,690
472,607
10,943,162
192,546
-------------------------------25,606,380

6,108,042
2,506,422
512,346
11,745,645
160,884
-------------------------------21,033,339
============

=====================

Employees end of service benefits
Defined benefit obligations
The Group provides for end of service benefits for its eligible employees. An actuarial valuation has been carried out as at
December 31, 2018 to ascertain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered actuary in the UAE was
appointed to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past
service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the liabilities:
2018
3.53 % per annum

Discount rate

---------------------------------------------------------------------

Salary increase rate

1.77 % per annum
---------------------------------------------------------------------
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Other liabilities (continued)
Demographic assumptions for mortality, withdrawal and retirement were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits under
the plan. Because of the nature of the benefit, which is a lump sum payable on exit due to any cause, a combined single
decrement rate has been used.
A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED 9,725 thousand and
AED 10,231 thousand respectively. Similarly, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact
the liability by AED 10,390 thousand and AED 9,966 thousand respectively.
The movement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Increase due to acquisition
Net charge during the year
Paid during the year
Other adjustments
Balance at 31 December

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

512,346
66,285
(111,353)
5,329
---------------------472,607

75,934
455,300
47,920
(69,761)
2,953
---------------------512,346

===============

=================

Defined contribution plan
The Group pays contributions for its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The charge for
the year in respect of these contributions is AED 69,955 thousand (2017: AED 91,472 thousand). As at the reporting date,
pension payable of AED 10,795 (2017: AED 16,576 thousand) has been classified under other liabilities.

Overseas income tax
The Group has provided for overseas income tax in accordance with management’s estimate of the total amount payable
based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date. Where appropriate the Group has made
payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated liabilities.
The overseas income tax charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The movement
in the provision was as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Increase due to acquisition
Charge for the year
Overseas income tax paid, net of recoveries
At 31 December

25

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

160,884
325,004
(293,342)
--------------------------192,546
===========

42,680
171,411
224,989
(278,196)
--------------------------160,884
===========

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

10,897,545
================
25,530
================

10,897,545
===============
42,433
===============

Capital and reserves
Share Capital

Ordinary shares of AED 1 each
Treasury shares of AED 1 each
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Capital and reserves (continued)
Share Capital (continued)
At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 25 February 2018, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend
of AED 0.70 per ordinary shares amounting to AED 7,628 million.

Statutory and special reserves
In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Union Law No. (10) of 1980, a minimum
of 10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve until each of these reserves
equal to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution to the
shareholders.

Dividends
The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 December:

Dividend on ordinary shares paid during the year

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

7,578,784
===============

4,489,524
==============

Other reserves
Other reserves include the following:

As at 1 January 2017
Other comprehensive income
for the period
As at 31 December 2017

As at 1 January 2018
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1
January 2018 (note 4)

Other comprehensive income
for the period
Transfer during the year
IFRS 9 reserve movement

(i)

Fair value
reserve
AED’000

General
reserve
AED’000

Foreign
currency
translatio
n reserve
AED’000

412,790

120,000

(88,327)

Revaluation reserve
AED’000

IFRS 9
reserve specific
AED’000

IFRS 9
reserve –
collective
AED’000

Total
AED’000

280,601

-

-

725,064

212,420

-

25,252

-

-

-

237,672

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

625,210

120,000

(63,075)

280,601

-

-

962,736

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

625,210

120,000

(63,075)

280,601

-

-

962,736

(184,078)

-

-

-

-

-

(184,078)

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

441,132

120,000

(63,075)

280,601

-

-

778,658

(1,039,153)
-

108,265
-

(247,856)
-

-

297,621

64,988

(1,287,009)
108,265
362,609

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

---------------------------

(598,021)

228,265

(310,931)

280,601

297,621

64,988

(37,477)

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

===========

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, until the investment
is derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve.
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(i)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Fair value reserve

Revaluation reserve – instruments at FVOCI
At 1 January
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
Restated balance at 1 January
Net unrealised gains during the year
Net cumulative realised gains recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
Impact of ECL
At 31 December
Hedging reserve – cash flow hedge
At 1 January
Changes in fair value
At 31 December
Total at 31 December

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

677,495
(184,078)
----------------------------493,417

413,171
-------------------------413,171

(1,137,667)

635,883

136,412
(5,029)
----------------------------(512,867)
-----------------------------

(371,559)
-------------------------677,495
--------------------------

(52,285)
(32,869)
----------------------------(85,154)
----------------------------(598,021)
============

(381)
(51,904)
-----------------------(52,285)
----------------------625,210
==========

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from cash flow hedge
reserve to profit or loss.

(ii)

General reserve
The general reserve is available for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors.

(iii)

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve of AED 280,601 thousand (2017: AED 280,601 thousand) is related to land included under
property and equipment.

(iv)

Foreign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net investment
in foreign operations. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from foreign currency translation reserve
to profit or loss.

(v)

IFRS 9 reserve
In accordance with CBUAE circular, in case where provision under CBUAE guidance exceed provision under IFRS 9, the
excess is required to be transferred to IFRS 9 reserve. The details of the same as below:
2018
AED’000
Impairment reserve – Specific
Specific provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS
Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve
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6,723,798
6,426,177
----------------------------297,621
-----------------------------
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Capital and reserves (continued)
Other reserves (continued)

(v)

IFRS 9 reserve (continued)
2018
AED’000
Impairment reserve – Collective
Collective provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE
Less: Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9

6,408,021
6,343,033
----------------------------64,988
-----------------------------

Collective provision transferred to the impairment reserve

26

Tier 1 capital notes

Government of Abu Dhabi Notes
(6 month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum)
USD 750 million Notes
(5.25 percent fixed rate until 2020, thereafter 5 year mid
swap rate plus 3.35 percent per annum)

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

AED

8,000,000

8,000,000

USD

2,754,750

2,754,750

-------------------------------10,754,750
=============

-------------------------------10,754,750
=============

Tier 1 capital notes are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry coupons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The
Bank may elect not to pay a coupon at its own discretion. The note holder does not have a right to claim the coupon and
an election by the Bank not to service coupon is not considered an event of default. In addition, there are certain
circumstances under which the Bank is prohibited from making a coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date.
If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event occurs, then the Bank will not (a) declare or pay any
distribution or dividend or (b) redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or otherwise acquire any of the share capital or any
securities of the Group ranking pari passu with or junior to the Notes except securities, the term of which stipulate a
mandatory redemption or conversion into equity, in each case unless or until two consecutive coupon payments have
been paid in full.
During the year, coupon payment election was made by the Bank in the amount of AED 495,047 thousand (31 December
2017: AED 381,089 thousand).

27

Share option scheme
NBAD had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme”) for selected employees which would vest
over three years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting period. The key vesting condition is
that the option holder is in continued employment with the Group until the end of the vesting period. The options lapse
six years after their date of grant irrespective of whether they are exercised or not.
The Group established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vested option is exercised by the employee. These shares
are treated as treasury shares until exercised by the option holders.
As part of the merger, the Group has continued the scheme with the same terms and conditions. Employees exercising
under the NBAD share option scheme shall be granted shares of the new entity.

107

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
27

Share option scheme (continued)
Post-merger and up to the date of statement of financial position, 16,903 thousand options (31 December 2017: 4,399
thousand) had been exercised by the option holders resulting in an increase in the total share capital by AED 16,903
thousand (31 December 2017: AED 4,399 thousand) and share premium by AED 161,399 thousand (31 December 2017:
AED 29,626 thousand).

28

Interest income

Interest from:
Central banks
Banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Non-trading investments
Loans and advances

29

2017
AED’000

968,840
1,040,394
388,117
385,429
2,310,733
16,742,891
--------------------------------21,836,404
==============

339,797
452,859
261,919
352,009
1,738,032
13,187,171
--------------------------------16,331,787
=============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

800,414
706,723
432,428
5,307,623
1,542,847
20,410
---------------------------8,810,445
============

583,820
373,651
163,419
2,648,424
1,150,740
15,540
---------------------------4,935,594
============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,053,033
33,569
25,535
141,906
7,090
1,333,257
1,885,819
60,165
115,273
224,341
---------------------------4,879,988
============

855,577
34,756
32,806
82,837
4,516
1,012,525
1,595,675
84,023
96,318
227,028
---------------------------4,026,061
============

Interest expense

Interest to:
Banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial paper
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Subordinated notes

30

2018
AED’000

Net fee and commission income

Fee and commission income
Trade finance
Collection services
Brokerage income
Asset management and investment services
Investments, derivatives and risk participation
Retail and corporate lending
Cards and e-services
Accounts related services
Commission on transfers
Others
Total fee and commission income
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Net fee and commission income (continued)

Fee and commission expense
Brokerage commission
Handling charges
Credit card charges
Retail and corporate lending
Others
Total fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

31

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

42,530
32,548
1,086,900
306,290
19,348
---------------------------1,487,616
---------------------------3,392,372
============

28,224
22,740
815,540
228,016
33,686
---------------------------1,128,206
---------------------------2,897,855
============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,776,161
266,319
------------------------------2,042,480
==============

640,543
287,645
--------------------928,188
==========

Net foreign exchange gain

Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives1
Dealings with customers

1 Due to

effective hedging strategies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains from sale
of non-trading investments (note 32).
Includes negative interest income of AED 285.44 million (2017: AED 213 million) arising from placement with ECB.

32

Net gain on investments and derivatives

Net realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives
Net (loss) / gain from sale of non-trading investments
Dividend income
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2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

891,021
(136,412)

294,021
371,559

71,616

20,551

-----------------------

-----------------------

826,225

686,131

==========

==========
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Other Operating Income
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

Investment property (loss) / income

(75,574)

331,960

Leasing related income

106,905

95,824

Other

income1

127,375

44,306

-----------------------

-----------------------

158,706

472,090

==========

==========

Includes gain on sale of property and equipment amounting to AED 111.4 million (2017: AED 2.2 million)

34

General, administration and other operating expenses

Staff costs
Other general and administration expenses
Depreciation (note15)
Intangible amortisation (note 16)
Sponsorships and donations

35

2017
AED’000

3,167,377
1,686,352
235,586
201,663
37,577
---------------------------5,328,555
============

2,782,316
1,611,022
311,418
159,156
37,584
---------------------------4,901,496
============

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2,107,219
33,147
(326,543)
(303,770)
215,741
---------------------------1,725,794
============

2,362,297
843
(297,777)
21,354
---------------------------2,086,717
============

Net impairment charge

Impairment charge on
loans and advances
other financial assets
unfunded exposure
Recoveries
Write-off of impaired financial assets

36

2018
AED’000

Overseas income tax expense
In addition to adjustments relating to deferred taxation, the charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted
net profit for the year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations.
The charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year was as follows:

Charge for the year

110

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

325,004
==============

224,989
============

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
37

38

Cash and cash equivalents
2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

Cash and balances with Central Banks
Due from banks and financial institutions

183,165,520
19,226,248
----------------------------------202,391,768

138,111,054
13,829,490
----------------------------------151,940,544

Less: Balances with Central Banks maturing after three months of placement
Less: Due from banks and financial institutions maturing after three months
of placement

(18,726,908)

(10,186,771)

(7,987,484)
----------------------------------175,677,376
===============

(7,147,856)
----------------------------------134,605,917
===============

Commitments and contingencies
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into various types of transactions that involve undertaking certain
commitments such as letters of credit, guarantees and undrawn loan commitments.
There were no other significant changes in contingent liabilities and commitments during the year other than those
arising out of normal course of business.

Letter of credit
Letters of guarantees
Financial guarantees

Trade contingencies
Undrawn commitment to extend credit
Commitments for future capital expenditure
Commitments for future private equity investments
Commitments for operating lease payments

Total commitments and contingencies

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

59,955,337
104,894,326
285,311
----------------------------------165,134,974
===============

48,863,532
102,810,624
763,441
----------------------------------152,437,597
===============

45,659,602
991,968
772,322
200,574
----------------------------------47,624,466
----------------------------------212,759,440
===============

42,983,794
1,051,386
985,495
169,950
----------------------------------45,190,625
----------------------------------197,628,222
===============

Credit risk characteristics of these unfunded facilities closely resemble the funded facilities as described
in note 5 are neither past due nor impaired.
Letters of credit and guarantee (“Trade contingencies”) commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers’
contingent upon the production of documents or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend loans and revolving credits. Commitments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require a payment of a fee. Since
commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contracted amounts do not necessarily represent future
cash requirements.
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Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Commitments for operating lease payments are payable as follows:

Less than one year
Between one and five year
More than five year
Total commitments

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

62,098
119,996
18,480
-----------------------200,574
==========

94,707
61,662
13,581
-------------------169,950
=========

Financial guarantee contracts includes credit default agreements entered with banks and financial institutions
amounting to AED 73.46 million (2017: AED 165 million) which are primarily denominated in US Dollars.
Financial guarantee contracts mainly pertain to the banks and financial institutions.
Concentration by location:

Undrawn loan
Commitments

UAE
Europe
Arab countries
Americas
Asia
Others

39

Trade contingencies

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

2018
AED’000

2017
AED’000

24,865,542
7,422,210
4,202,963
3,035,469
3,659,085
2,474,333
-----------------------------------45,659,602
==============

19,803,169
9,743,421
2,635,163
3,703,440
2,814,846
4,283,755
-----------------------------------42,983,794
==============

118,693,398
19,593,289
6,967,012
11,956,195
7,755,276
169,804
----------------------------------165,134,974
==============

105,597,814
22,886,522
8,366,824
5,843,811
8,954,804
787,822
----------------------------------152,437,597
==============

Derivative financial instruments
In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments. Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as
equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives
enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks. Derivative financial instruments include
forwards, futures, swaps and options. These transactions are primarily entered with banks and financial institutions.

Forwards and futures
Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and/or domestic currencies, including non-deliverable
spot transactions (i.e. the transaction is net settled). Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate
futures that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the
current market rate, based on a notional principal amount. Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual
obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign
currency or a financial instrument on a future date at a specified price, established in an organised financial market. The
credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and changes in
the futures’ contract value are settled daily with the exchange.
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Swaps
Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an
economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these
(i.e., cross‐currency interest rate swaps). No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain cross currency swaps.
The Group’s credit risk represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored
on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the
market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its
lending activities.

Options
Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the
obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount
of a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the purchaser in consideration
for the assumption of risk. Options may be either exchange‐traded or negotiated between the Group and a customer
over the counter (OTC).
Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quotations in an active market. Where there is no
active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate
pricing or valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows, market prices,
yield curves and other reference market data.
The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to
their fair values, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the
amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are
neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk.
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
31 December 2018

------------------------------------------- Notional amounts by term to maturity ------------------------------------------Positive
market
value

Negative
market
value

Notional
amount

Less than
three
months

From three
months to
one year

From one
year to
three years

From three
years to
five years

Over
five years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Held for trading:
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Forwards & Futures
Options & Swaptions

8,152,999
5,165
83,215

7,598,766
3,724
117,837

1,099,051,876
57,016,206
64,186,503

114,781,773
11,031,032
1,517,329

287,845,196
6,199,712
52,873,360

303,348,196
39,785,462
8,028,574

211,848,433
1,010,075

181,228,278
757,165

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forwards
Options

1,652,063
327,635

1,676,905
284,415

377,427,044
95,215,819

231,424,514
42,284,251

116,532,513
46,249,596

26,411,029
6,182,935

3,058,971
499,037

17
-

1,037,160
------------------------------------11,258,237
--------------------------------------

240,395
---------------------------------9,922,042
-----------------------------------

8,980,883
------------------------------------------------1,701,878,331
--------------------------------------------------

3,856,034
----------------------------------------404,894,933
------------------------------------------

2,046,555
--------------------------------------------511,746,932
---------------------------------------------

386,641
-----------------------------------------384,142,837
------------------------------------------

2,691,653
-------------------------------------------219,108,169
---------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------181,985,460
---------------------------------------------

1,242,665
583,148
---------------------------------1,825,813
------------------------------------

4,208,904
461,592
---------------------------------4,670,496
------------------------------------

106,264,029
108,956,518
------------------------------------------215,220,547
------------------------------------------

1,642,409
599,041
---------------------------------2,241,450
------------------------------------

7,880,884
12,677,590
----------------------------------------20,558,474
----------------------------------------

22,661,174
22,471,213
---------------------------------------45,132,387
----------------------------------------

20,900,395
20,232,359
-------------------------------------------41,132,754
-------------------------------------------

53,179,167
52,976,315
--------------------------------------------106,155,482
---------------------------------------------

123

503,660

4,800,940

-

178,697

4,622,243

-

-

19
------------------------142
--------------------------------------13,084,192
================

123,266
------------------------------626,926
--------------------------------------15,219,464
================

20,042,459
----------------------------------------24,843,399
------------------------------------------------1,941,942,277
====================

20,042,459
---------------------------------------20,042,459
----------------------------------------427,178,842
=================

------------------------------178,697
-----------------------------------------532,484,103
=================

---------------------------------4,622,243
----------------------------------------433,897,467
=================

------------------------------------------------------------------------260,240,923
=================

---------------------------------------------------------------------288,140,942
=================

Other derivatives contracts

Held as fair value hedges:
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Swaptions

Held as cash flow hedges
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forwards

Total
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
31 December 2017

------------------------------------------- Notional amounts by term to maturity ------------------------------------------Positive
market
value

Negative
market
value

Notional
amount

Less than
three
months

From three
months to
one year

From one
year to
three years

From three
years to
five years

Over
five years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Held for trading:
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Forwards & Futures
Options & Swaptions

6,742,787
4,213
399,934

6,262,503
2,349
281,381

837,892,379
39,465,202
73,110,496

83,721,947
12,120,055
3,267,796

134,243,557
23,672,514
7,085,758

283,292,685
3,672,633
10,556,309

183,526,708
10,893,947

153,107,482
41,306,686

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forwards
Options

2,863,604
563,748

2,730,662
394,103

370,178,971
132,404,746

221,271,826
44,551,147

112,078,707
67,697,369

33,509,940
19,114,805

2,562,315
1,041,425

756,183
-

300,319
----------------------------------------10,874,605
-----------------------------------------

295,152
----------------------------------------9,966,150
-----------------------------------------

7,276,322
---------------------------------------------------1,460,328,116
----------------------------------------------------

3,186,012
-------------------------------------------368,118,783
--------------------------------------------

1,389,224
--------------------------------------------346,167,129
---------------------------------------------

492,237
-------------------------------------------350,638,609
--------------------------------------------

2,208,849
-------------------------------------------200,233,244
--------------------------------------------

--------------------------------------------195,170,351
---------------------------------------------

500,489
24,267
----------------------------------------524,756

4,284,555
269,498
----------------------------------------4,554,053

84,701,044
7,805,757
---------------------------------------------------92,506,801

1,328,588
-------------------------------------------1,328,588

3,732,969
--------------------------------------------3,732,969

19,483,570
-------------------------------------------19,483,570

20,063,436
-------------------------------------------20,063,436

40,092,481
7,805,757
--------------------------------------------47,898,238

----------------------------

----------------------------

----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

--------------------------------

---------------------------------

2
69

414,382
6,746

5,023,946
2,918,877

2,918,877

173,736
-

3,850,664
-

999,546
-

-

----------------------------

----------------------------

----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

-----------------------------------

--------------------------------

---------------------------------

71
---------------------------------------11,399,432

421,128
---------------------------------------14,941,331

7,942,823
------------------------------------------------1,560,777,740

2,918,877
-------------------------------------------372,366,248

173,736
--------------------------------------------350,073,834

3,850,664
-------------------------------------------373,972,843

999,546
-------------------------------------------221,296,226

--------------------------------------------243,068,589

===========

===========

=============

============

============

============

============

============

Other derivatives contracts

Held as fair value hedges:
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Swaptions

Held as cash flow hedges
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps
Forwards

Total
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
The positive / negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arising on fair valuation
of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future losses, as a similar
positive / negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged loans and advances, non-trading
investments, term borrowings and subordinated notes.
As at December 31, 2018, the Group received cash collateral of AED 1,136.5 million (2017: AED 1,017.2 million) against
positive fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Correspondingly, the Group placed cash collateral of
AED 6,124.4 (2017: AED 7,722.1 million) against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities.

Derivative related credit risk:
This is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. These transactions are primarily
entered with banks and financial institutions.

Derivatives held for trading
The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency,
interest rate and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices,
rates or indices. The instruments used mainly include interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair
values of those derivatives are shown in the table above.

Derivatives held as fair value hedge
The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability management
strategy by taking offsetting positions in order to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in exchange and interest rates.
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value arising from specifically identified interest
bearing assets such as loans and advances, non-trading investments, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group
uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks.

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments. The Group
has substantially matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationship.

40

Segmental information
The operating structure consists of four key Business segments across Geographic segments that are driving the business
strategy, customer value propositions, products and channel development and customer relationships in addition to
supporting the delivery of the Group’s financial performance.

Business segments
Corporate & Investment Banking (“CIB”)
Covers corporate and institutional clients through dedicated client segments (Corporate Banking, Institutional Banking,
Commercial Banking, Privileged Clients Groups and Financial Institutions). CIB offers Credit facilities, Global Transaction
Services, Corporate Finance, Islamic Finance and Global Markets products to both UAE and international clients.
Personal Banking Group (“PBG”)
The business targets retail, affluent, high net-worth customers, Islamic consumer finance and SME customer segments.
The products’ ranges offered include every day banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans,
sophisticated investment solutions, business banking products and services. The business furnishes variety of
distribution and sales channels, including mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its
banking subsidiaries namely Dubai First, Aseel and First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance.
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Segmental information (continued)
Subsidiaries
The business includes a diversified business model supported by complementary offerings provided across real estate,
property management, brokerage and conventional banking. This business covers subsidiaries partially or fully owned
by the Group, namely FAB Properties, ADNP, Mismak, FAB Securities and First Gulf Libyan Bank.
Head office
The Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, operations, finance, strategy, investor
relations, risk management, credit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal audit,
procurement, treasury operations, integration management office and administrative support to all of its business units.
Geographic segments
The Group is managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and representative
offices within the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International. International business is further
sub-divided into two sub-segments which are Europe, Americas, Middle East and Africa (“EAMEA”) and Asia Pacific
(“APAC”).


Europe, Americas, Middle East and Africa (EAMEA)
FAB network in the EAMEA region is operated through its presence in United States of America, Brazil, United
Kingdom, France, Switzerland, Oman, Bahrain, Qatar, Egypt, Sudan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Jordan, and Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.



Asia Pacific (APAC)
FAB’s business in the Asia region is run through its presence in Singapore, Hong Kong, Korea, China, Malaysia and
India.
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Segmental information (continued)
Business Segment

Geographic Segment

______________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________
_

Corporate and
Investment
Banking
AED’000

Personal
Banking Group
AED’000

Europe,
Americas, Middle
UAE
East and Africa
AED’000
AED’000

Subsidiaries
AED’000

Head Office
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Net Interest income
Net non-interest income

5,594,591
4,314,443

5,520,961
1,785,142

(40,251)
189,079

1,950,658
131,119

13,025,959
6,419,783

11,298,979
5,551,567

Operating income

9,909,034
=============
1,741,348

7,306,103
=============
2,768,574

148,828
=============
137,375

2,081,777
=============
681,258

19,445,742

1,222,562
=============
6,945,124
=============
188,097
=============
6,757,027
=============

457,486
=============
4,080,043
=============
94,001
=============
3,986,042
=============

(13,704)
=============
25,157
=============
33,163
=============
(8,006)
=============

59,450
=============
1,341,069
=============
9,743
=============
1,331,326
=============

1,725,794

630,066,190
=================

101,659,261
=================

13,179,664
===============

127,546,798
================

Asia - Pacific
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,451,086
597,591

275,894
270,625

13,025,959
6,419,783

16,850,546
=============
4,381,444

2,048,677
=============
731,204

546,519
=============
215,907

19,445,742

1,807,162
=============
10,661,940
=============
2,678
=============
10,659,262
=============

(155,810)
=============
1,473,283
=============
295,843
=============
1,177,440
=============

74,442
=============
256,170
=============
26,483
=============
229,687
=============

1,725,794

619,662,984
=================

205,297,041
=================

32,858,649
================

For the year ended 31 December 2018

General administration and other
operating expenses
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas taxation
Net profit for the period

5,328,555

12,391,393
325,004
12,066,389

5,328,555

12,391,393
325,004
12,066,389

As at 31 December 2018
Segment total assets
Inter segment balances
Total assets
Segment total liabilities

618,795,941
=================

92,621,803
===============

9,916,308
===============

Inter segment balances

49,144,861
===============

872,451,913
(128,326,718)
------------------------------------------------744,125,195
================
770,478,913
(128,326,718)
--------------------------------------------642,152,195
=================

Total liabilities
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528,049,917
=================

198,827,604
================

28,968,153
===============

857,818,674
(113,693,479)
------------------------------------------744,125,195
================
755,845,674
(113,693,479)
------------------------------------------642,152,195
================
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Segmental information (continued)
Business Segment

Geographic Segment

_________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________
_

Corporate and
Investment
Banking
AED’000

Personal
Banking Group
AED’000

Europe,
Americas, Middle
UAE
East and Africa
AED’000
AED’000

Subsidiaries
AED’000

Head Office
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Net Interest income
Net non-interest income

4,869,432
2,754,497

4,924,893
1,630,590

(79,930)
583,205

1,681,798
15,972

11,396,193
4,984,264

10,098,538
4,353,584

Operating income

7,623,929
=============

6,555,483
=============

503,275
=============

1,697,770
=============

16,380,457

1,542,480

2,435,049

121,018

802,949

296,627
=============
5,784,822
=============
135,963
=============
5,648,859
=============

2,036,599
=============
2,083,835
=============
65,523
=============
2,018,312
=============

50,967
=============
331,290
=============
21,973
=============
309,317
=============

450,441,539
================

106,156,609
===============

13,606,508
===============

Asia - Pacific
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,043,368
490,054

254,287
140,626

11,396,193
4,984,264

14,452,122
=============

1,533,422
=============

394,913
=============

16,380,457

4,901,496

4,229,801

522,055

149,640

4,901,496

(297,476)
=============
1,192,297
=============
1,530
=============
1,190,767
=============

2,086,717

1,985,084
=============
8,237,237
=============
3,864
=============
8,233,373
=============

90,921
=============
920,446
=============
194,916
=============
725,530
=============

10,712
=============
234,561
=============
26,209
=============
208,352
=============

2,086,717

126,839,637
================

697,044,293

538,512,342
================

156,465,447
===============

23,406,626
================

For the year ended 31 December 2017

General administration and other
operating expenses
Net impairment charge
Profit before taxation
Overseas taxation
Net profit for the period

9,392,244
224,989
9,167,255

9,392,244
224,989
9,167,255

As at 31 December 2017
Segment total assets
Inter segment balances
Total assets
Segment total liabilities

438,610,883
================

100,270,288
===============

6,170,495
===============

Inter segment balances

49,783,214
===============

(28,075,998)
------------------------------------------------668,968,295
================
594,834,880
(28,075,998)
--------------------------------------------566,758,882
=================

Total liabilities
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451,819,450
==============

144,661,282
=============

19,694,270
===============

718,384,415
(49,416,120)
------------------------------------------668,968,295
================
616,175,002
(49,416,120)
-------------------------------------------566,758,882
=================
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Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period as set out below:

Basic earnings per share:
Net profit for the year (AED’000)
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes (AED’000)
Net profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AED’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Number of shares issued / deemed to be outstanding
from the beginning of the period (‘000)
Weighted average number of shares deemed
to be issued on reverse acquisition (‘000)
Weighted average number of shares exercised
under the share options scheme (‘000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (‘000)
Basic earnings per share (AED)

2018

2017

12,010,820

9,132,648

(495,047)
----------------------------------11,515,773
=================

(381,089)
----------------------------8,751,559
===============

10,855,112

5,643,000

-

3,923,620

8,399
----------------------------------10,863,511
=================
1.06
=======

3,473
----------------------------9,570,093
===============
0.91
=======

11,515,773
18,801
----------------------------------11,534,574
=================
10,863,511
28,606
10,468
-----------------------------------

8,751,559
25,683
----------------------------8,777,242
===============
9,570,093
97,861
5,125
----------------------------

10,902,585
=================
1.06
======

9,673,079
================
0.91
======

Diluted earnings per share:
Net profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AED’000)
Add: Interest on convertible note (AED’000)
Net profit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share (AED’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (‘000)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares issued (‘000)
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under share options scheme (‘000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for
diluted earnings per share (‘000)
Diluted earnings per share (AED)
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Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise major shareholder, directors
and key management personnel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise those executive committee
members “EXCO” of the Group who are involved in the strategic planning and decision making of the Group. The terms
of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors
or management.
2018
Senior
management
and related
entities
AED’000

2017

Major
shareholders
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

13,057,304
==============
16,797,112
==============
21,526,627
=============

12,875,875
==============
16,664,072
==============
13,392,898
=============

Balances with related parties at the reporting date are shown below:

Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Contingent liabilities

2,054,296
============
9,770,117
=============
1,839,901
=============

11,003,008
==============
7,026,995
=============
19,686,726
=============

Transactions carried out during the year ended with related parties are shown below:
2018
Interest income
Interest expense

43

2017

91,863

398,410

490,273

301,388

============
406,519

============
137,901

============
544,420

============
224,799

============

============

============

============

Business Combination
On 7 December 2016, the shareholders of First Gulf Bank (“FGB”) and National Bank of Abu Dhabi (“NBAD”) approved
the merger of FGB and NBAD. The merger was effected through a share-swap transaction at an exchange ratio of 1.254
NBAD shares for every one share of FGB. The merger is accounted for as a reverse acquisition.
FGB shares were delisted from the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and NBAD issued 5,643 million new shares to the
shareholders of FGB. Following the completion of the merger, FGB shareholders owned approximately 52 percent of the
combined bank and NBAD shareholders owned approximately 48 percent.
The merger transaction is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 - Business Combinations. IFRS 3 requires that an
acquirer be identified in any business combination and acquisition accounting principles be applied. FGB was identified
as the “accounting acquirer” in this transaction. The principles of reverse acquisition were used to reflect the acquisition
of NBAD by FGB, effective 1 April 2017.
The merger was effected to create a new Bank with the financial strength, expertise and global network to accelerate
growth in the UAE economy and drive the country’s international business relationships.
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a.

Business Combination (continued)
Purchase consideration
The purchase consideration is determined to be AED 53,572 million, calculated on the basis of FGB’s closing share price
of AED 12.90 per share on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange on 30 March 2017.
The consideration is computed as follows:
Outstanding shares of FGB (units’000)

4,500,000

Divided by: FGB shareholder’s percentage ownership in the Group
Total number of shares of the Group (units’000)
Multiplied by: NBAD shareholder’s percentage ownership in the Group
Number of shares issued by FGB to NBAD’s shareholders (units’000)
Multiplied by: Share price of FGB on transaction date
Total consideration (AED’000)

b.

52.01%
8,652,881
==============
47.99%
4,152,881
==============
12.90
53,572,167
==============

Integration related costs
The Group incurred Integration-related costs of AED 295 million (2017: AED 473 million) relating to consultant and
external legal fees and due diligence costs. These costs have been included in ‘General, administrative and other
operating expenses’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

c.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The following table summarises the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the date of acquisition.
31 Mar 2017
AED’000

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks

112,819,619

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and financial institutions
Reverse repurchase agreements
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and advances

16,077,659
9,356,896
17,876,372
9,290,077
207,807,269

Non-trading investments
Other assets
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Intangible assets – Customer relationships
Intangible assets – Core deposits
Intangible assets – License

47,105,716
8,917,134
45,106
1,841,308
1,604,716
583,335
368,700
----------------------------------

Total assets

433,693,907
===============
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d.

Business Combination (continued)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (continued)
31 Mar 2017
AED’000

Liabilities
40,983,859
6,600,187
11,976,634

Due to banks and financial institutions
Repurchase agreements
Commercial paper

11,727,613
272,994,885
31,308,591
14,399,305

Derivative financial instruments
Customer accounts and other deposits
Term borrowings
Other liabilities

---------------------------------389,991,074
365,234

Subordinated notes
Tier 1 capital notes
Share option scheme
Convertible notes - equity component

Total liabilities
NBAD net assets as at acquisition date attributable to its common equity holders

e.

6,754,750
235,798
108,265
--------------------------------397,455,121
===============
36,238,786
===============

Goodwill and Intangibles
The Group has assumed the carrying value of NBAD’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2017 to be equal to
their fair value for the purpose of calculating goodwill:
AED’000
Total consideration

53,572,167

NBAD net assets value

(36,238,786)
---------------------------------17,333,381
===============

Goodwill

The Group has completed a comprehensive purchase price allocation within twelve months from the acquisition date
and following items are covered:
-

valuation of intangible assets including core deposits, license and other customer relationships;
valuation of properties and equipment;
valuation adjustments on other recognised financial and non-financial assets and liabilities; and
initial adjustments to fair value of loans and advances.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating NBAD into the Group.

f.

Impact on Group’s results
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2017, management estimate that consolidated operating income and profit
would be AED 19,533 million and AED 10,915 million respectively for the period 1 January 2017 till 31 December 2017.
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Change in accounting policy
Prior to the merger between FGB and NBAD, both banks maintained accounting records and prepared financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and complied with the regulations of CBUAE. In order to facilitate compliance each
bank had in place their own set of accounting policies.
Following the merger, FAB’s management embarked on a journey to harmonise these accounting policies in order to
determine a common set of accounting policies to be adopted by FAB. Following were the three key accounting policies
which were harmonised:






Harmonisation of the rating scales - the Customer Risk Rating (‘CRR’) scales of NBAD and FGB have been
harmonised to create one set of CRR scales to be followed by FAB. Key driver for the harmonisation of the
policy is to provide the users of the financial statements with more reliable and consistent financial
information. No new information was used in determining the revised rating scales and for the adjustment
calculated as result of the harmonisation of this policy.
Fair valuation adjustments – accounting policies in relation to fair valuation adjustments, for instance bidoffer reserves, were harmonised for the combined bank. Accounting standards permits entities to use a choice
of pricing conventions or practical expedients in order to determine fair value of instruments. The Group has
harmonised fair valuation adjustments to ensure the pricing conventions used by the Group provide more
reliable approximation of the exit price for the securities held.
Recognition of fees income – the Group has harmonised the combined Bank’s accounting policies in order to
consistently determine the fees which are recognised upfront or amortised over the life of the Loans and
Advances and other financial products provided by the Bank.

Changes in accounting policies have been accounted for retrospectively through an adjustment of opening retained
earnings.
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Fiduciary activities
The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fiduciary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2018
amounting to AED 7,667.91 million (2017: 7,782.85 million). Furthermore, the Group provides custodian services for
some of its customers.
The underlying assets held in a custodial or fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
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Special Purpose Entities
The Group has created Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) with defined objectives to carry on fund management and
investment activities on behalf of customers. The equity and investments managed by the SPEs are not controlled by the
Group and the Group does not obtain benefits from the SPEs’ operations, apart from commissions and fee income. In
addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or assume any liabilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPEs’
assets, liabilities and results of operations are not included in these consolidated financial statements of the Group. The
SPEs are as follows:
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Legal name

Activities

Country of
incorporation

One share PLC
NBAD Private Equity 1
NBAD (Cayman) Limited

Investment Company
Fund Management
Fund Management

Republic of Ireland
Cayman Island
Cayman Island

Holding
2018
100%
58%
100%

Comparative figures
In addition to the changes in the accounting policy impact highlighted in Note 44, certain comparative figures have been
reclassified where appropriate to conform to the presentation adopted in these consolidated financial statements.
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Other disclosures
As at 31 December 2018, exposure of the Group in Abraaj Holdings amounted to AED 81 million. This exposure is fully
collateralized by charge over interest in Abraaj Private Equity Fund IV, The Infrastructure and Growth Capital Fund and
Perfect Holding Limited.
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Capital Adequacy and
Risk Management Report
(Basel Pillar 3 Disclosures)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. Introduction
This document presents the Pillar 3 disclosures of FAB (“the Group”) on a consolidated basis as at 31 December
2018. The purpose of Pillar 3 disclosures is to allow market participants to assess key pieces of information on the
firm's capital, risk exposures and risk assessment process.
The Group is regulated by the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE) and follows the Pillar 3 disclosure requirements as
stated under the CBUAE guidelines, issued in November 2009, on the implementation of Basel II accord. CBUAE
also initiated Basel III regulatory reporting in 2017 with new capital standards for UAE Banks.
The Pillar 3 disclosures are to be read in conjunction with the Audited Financial Statements as of 31 December
2018.

2. Regulatory Framework
The Group assesses its capital adequacy based on the rules published in November 2009 by the CBUAE. The
framework is structured around the following three Pillars:
 Pillar 1 on minimum capital requirements for credit, market and operational risk
 Pillar 2 on the supervisory review process and the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
 Pillar 3 on market discipline

2.1 Pillar 1 – Minimum Capital Requirement
Pillar 1 defines the total minimum capital requirements for credit, market and operational risk. FAB currently uses
standardized approach for assessment of Credit, Market and Operational Risk weighted assets (RWA). Under the
standardized approach, regulatory prescribed risk weights and parameters are applied to calculate Pillar 1 capital
requirements.
During 2011, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) officially announced the final set of revised
regulatory capital rules known as “Basel III”, which are being phased in globally. Subsequent to Basel III
consultation paper issued by CBUAE In 2016, new capital adequacy regulations were issued by CBUAE on 02 March
st
2017. The new capital regulations became effective from 1 February 2017.
CBUAE has put in regulatory thresholds for Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and overall regulatory Capital.
1. CET1 must be at least 7.0% of risk weighted assets (RWA)
2. Tier 1 Capital must be at least 8.5% of RWA
3. Total Capital, calculated as the sum of Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital, must be at least 10.5% of RWA
On top of this minimum capital requirement CBUAE has also mandated the Banks to keep additional buffers.
1. In addition to the minimum CET1 capital of 7.0% of RWA, banks must maintain a capital conservation buffer
(CCB) of 2.5% of RWAs in the form of CET1 capital
2. To achieve the broader macro-prudential goal of protecting the banking sector from periods of excess
aggregate credit growth and in addition to the CCB requirements, banks may be required to implement the
countercyclical buffer (CCyB). Banks must meet the CCyB requirements by using CET1 capital. The level of the
CCyB requirements will vary between 0% - 2.5% of RWA and be communicated by the Central Bank with an
adequate notice period
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3. Banks classified as domestically systemically important banks will be required to hold additional capital buffers
of 1.5% applied to CET1.
The additional capital buffer requirements are to be phased in over 3 years. These requirements are summarized
in the table below:
Capital Element
Minimum Common Equity
Tier 1 Ratio
Minimum Tier 1 Capital
Ratio
Minimum Capital
Adequacy Ratio

Basel III 2017

Basel III 2018

Basel III 2019

7.0%

7.0%

7.0%

8.5%

8.5%

8.5%

10.5%

10.5%

10.5%

Capital Conservation Buffer

1.25%

1.875%

2.5%

Domestic Systemically
Important Banks Buffer

0.75%

1.125%

1.5%

Countercyclical buffer

0% - 1.25%

0% -1.875%

0% - 2.5%

CBUAE has also released revised Capital standards for Basel III capital instruments. Capital instruments that no
longer qualify as non-common equity Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital will be phased out over 10 years starting from January
2018.
The capital ratios for the Group are given below:
Capital Element

2018

Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio

12.4%

Tier 1 Capital Ratio

14.6%

Capital Adequacy Ratio

15.7%

All of these are well above the CBUAE minimum.
a) Credit Risk
The Group uses the standardized approach to calculate RWA for credit risk. It uses risk weights to convert
exposures into RWA as per the CBUAE guidelines which can range between 0% for certain sovereign exposures to
952% for certain categories (akin to deduction). Where applicable, mainly for unfunded, exposures are adjusted for
credit conversion factor (CCF) in accordance with the CBUAE guidelines.
Credit Risk Capital = Net Exposure x CCF x Risk Weight x capital requirement%
For non-retail exposures the risk weights are driven by credit ratings published by external credit agencies
approved by the CBUAE.
b) Market Risk
The Group uses the standardized approach to calculate RWA for market risk as per the CBUAE guidelines. In
calculating RWA for market risk, the Group distinguishes between general and specific risk and between holdings
in the trading book and holdings outside the trading book. The risk is quantified for positions for Interest rate risk,
Foreign exchange risk, Equity investments risk, Commodities exposure risk and Options risk.
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c) Operational Risk
The Group applies the standardized approach for calculating capital requirement for operational risk for year-end
2018. The calculation is based on average operating income for the past 3 years and classification of the operating
income into 8 Basel classification lines - Corporate Finance, Trading and Sales, Payment & Settlement, Commercial
Banking, Agency Services, Retail Brokerage, Retail Banking and Asset Management. Capital requirement is
calculated for each of the business lines as per their respective multipliers as per BIS which range from 12% to
18%. The RWA for operational risk are calculated by dividing the capital requirement by CBUAE capital
requirement multiplier.

2.2 Pillar 2 - ICAAP and Supervisory Review Process
The Group performs annual ICAAP exercise with comprehensive risk assessment and stress testing and the results
are submitted to the CBUAE for supervisory review process. Key highlights of the ICAAP are listed below.
 Define risk appetite of the Group
 Undertake projection of key financials, risk profile, and capital position
 Assess and quantify, where material risks which are not/partially covered under Pillar 1 (e.g. not covered Concentration risk, Reputation Risk, Strategic Risk, Compliance Risk, Liquidity Risk, IRRBB etc.)
 Conduct a stress test to assess the robustness and vulnerability of Group’s business model to a change in
business environment
The ICAAP exercise is led by the Risk Management Group in coordination with Finance, Business and Strategy
teams. This is independently reviewed by the Internal Audit team of the Bank.

2.3 Pillar 3 – Market Discipline
The Group, on an annual basis, discloses detailed qualitative and quantitative information on its risk management
practice and capital adequacy in line with the CBUAE Pillar 3 guidelines.

2.4 Differences between Financial Statements and Basel III Reporting of Credit Risk Exposures
Credit risk exposures reported under Basel III differ in respect of the following vis-à-vis financial statements:
 As per CBUAE Basel framework, off balance sheet exposures are converted, by applying a credit conversion
factor (CCF), into equivalent credit exposures
 Intangible assets & Goodwill are deducted from Capital and not taken under credit risk assets
 Commercial subsidiaries are completely deconsolidated and only the investments in those entities are taken for
risk weighting purposes; Any intra group loans to such entities are treated as third party loans for risk weighting
purposes
 Under the comprehensive credit risk mitigation approach under the standardized approach, eligible collaterals
are considered subject to regulatory haircuts to estimate and report net exposure
 Commercial subsidiaries are not consolidated but risk weighted for investments in those entities
 General provisions are not netted off against loans but used as Tier 2 capital up to 1.25% of Credit RWA

3. Group Risk Governance
The Board is the principal decision-making forum for FAB and its responsibilities include approving the strategy;
setting its risk appetite and risk management strategy; monitoring financial performance; establishing the
corporate governance framework; and approving the company’s corporate values. The Board is also responsible
for providing oversight and challenge to senior management across a range of matters including its execution of
the agreed strategy and for Board and executive management succession planning. The Board formally meets at
least four times a year.
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The role of the CEO and the executive management team is to execute the agreed business strategy within the
agreed risk appetite. It is also the responsibility of the executive team to develop a mechanism by which FAB’s
vision; values and behaviors are successfully shared, communicated and imbedded in the business. Much of this is
achieved through the work of the Executive Management Committee and other senior Management Committees.
The executive management team is also responsible for timely and accurate reporting to the Board and Board
Committees and for the escalation of appropriate information or items. The following exhibit provides in brief
structure of the Board, the Board committees and the management committees across the group.

3.1 Board Committees
a) The Board Management Committee (BMC)
The BMC approves and oversees execution of FAB’s business plan per the strategy approved by the board and
oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of FAB. The committee meets quarterly or more frequently
as deemed necessary. The BMC includes 4 Board Members including the Chairman, GCEO. The guiding principles
and detailed roles & responsibilities are covered in the committee charter.
b) The Board Audit Committee (BAC)
The BAC ensures oversight of the effectiveness of the internal control systems and the quality and integrity of
financial statements and financial reporting. In addition, it reviews, approves and oversees the internal and
external audit programs and ensures coordination between internal and external auditors. The Group Chief Audit
Officer (“GCAO”) provides reports to the Committee on internal controls. The Committee meets quarterly or more
frequently as deemed necessary. The BAC includes 3 Board Members including the Chairman of the board, GCEO
and GCAO. The guiding principles and detailed roles & responsibilities are covered in the committee charter.
c) The Board Remuneration and Nomination Committee (BREMCO)
The REMCO recommends and oversees the appointment and termination of Group Board Directors and succession
planning for the Group Executive Committee members. This includes an assessment of the skills, knowledge and
expertise needed to ensure they are positioned to discharge their responsibilities in the interests of the
shareholders and FAB Group. The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board FAB’s reward framework,
approves and oversees reward design and ensures it is appropriate and consistent with the FAB Group’s culture,
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values, business performance and risk strategy. The Committee meets at least twice a year or more frequently as
deemed necessary. The BREMCO includes 3 Board Members including the Chairman of the board, GCEO, GCHRO.
The guiding principles and detailed roles & responsibilities are covered in the committee charter.
d) The Board Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC)
The BRCC provides oversight and advice to the Group Board in relation to current and potential future risk and
compliance exposures of the FAB Group. It also considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including
determination of risk appetite and tolerance as well as promote a risk and compliance awareness culture among
the Group. The Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The BRCC includes 3 Board
Members including the Chairman of the board, GCEO, GCRO. The guiding principles and detailed roles &
responsibilities are covered in the committee charter.

3.2 Management Level Committees
a) Group Executive Committee (ExCo)
The Group ExCo is FAB Group’s most senior management level committee and it operates under a delegated
authority from the FAB Board. It is responsible for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the
Group Board or Board Committees. The Group ExCO also supports the Group Chief Executive Officer to determine
and implement the Bank’s strategy as approved by the FAB Board.
The key responsibilities of the Committee include decisions on the Bank’s strategy, annual budgets, capital
management, risk management and FAB’s more material policies and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate
certain authorities and powers to management committees and individuals, but the EXCO reserves the authority to
deal with strategy, annual budget and structure; financial reporting and controls; capital management; risk and
internal control; contracts; corporate governance matters; executive remuneration and human resources policies,
and group policies generally; general meeting of shareholders and communication and any other matters in its
discretion.
b) Group Risk Committee (GRC)
GRC oversees the Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an effective
manner. GRC approves and periodically monitors the Group’s risk appetite along with its related methodology,
parameters, targets, and tolerances taking into account the Bank’s strategy and business planning. The GRC will
report relevant matters to the Group EXCO, and as appropriate the BRCC, advising and informing them as required
on the Group’s risk appetite and framework.
c) Group Compliance Committee (GCC)
GCC assists the Board Risk & Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s
regulatory responsibilities as well as ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
issued by various regulatory authorities across the Group. The Committee also oversees that the relevant policies
and procedures, including, but not limited to the Group Code of Ethics are complied with across the Group.
d) Corporate and Investment Banking Credit Committee (CIBCC)
CIBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of the Group’s Corporate & Investment Banking
business credit strategy and policies and procedures. The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the credit and
lending strategies and objectives of the Group, including identifying and managing the Group’s Corporate &
Investment Banking credit exposures and its response to trends affecting those exposures. It also assists in
reviewing the quality and performance of the Group’s credit portfolio; and overseeing the Corporate & Investment
Banking credit function of the Group, including reviewing internal credit risk and credit policies and establishing
portfolio limits.
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e) Personal Banking & Wealth Credit Committee (PBWCC)
PBWCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of credit strategy, for personal banking & wealth
businesses. The Committee has been set up in order to ensure a holistic overview of the business strategies across
the Personal Banking & Wealth businesses of the Group. The Committee oversees the credit and lending
strategies, identifies and manages business credit strategy and strategic response to trends affecting the
businesses; reviews the quality and performance of the portfolio; and oversees the credit risk management
function including establishing product portfolio limits.
f) Group Asset & Liability Committee (G-ALCO)
G-ALCO assists the BOD and Board Committees in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee the Group’s asset and
liability management (ALM) related responsibilities. GALCO is directly accountable to the BRCC for ensuring that
the risks within the Group Asset and Liability position are prudently managed by way of strong Group policy and
procedures and an appropriate risk framework. The objective of GALCO is balance sheet management design and
strategy and constant oversight of interest rate risk and liquidity risk with the primary goal of achieving optimal
return while ensuring adequate levels of liquidity within an effective risk control framework.
g) HR Steering Committee (HRSC)
HRSC assists the Group EXCO and the REMCO to implement strategic and operational HR initiatives to deliver the
Group’s long term shareholder value. It provides a forum to discuss and approve HR initiatives and policies to
ensure that the needs of the organisation from an employee’s perspective are considered and changes, as
necessary, are approved or are submitted for approval to the relevant governance body. The Committee will be
the formal sponsor of all material HR initiatives across the Bank in line with the Bank’s Employee Value Proposition
(“EVP”).
h) Integration Steering Committee (ISC)
ISC was established to provide direction on all matters relating to the post-merger integration process. It is the
main approving authority for all integration policies and procedures and, as such, all lower-level integration
committees report to the Integration Steering Committee. The ISC meets fortnightly and is chaired by the GCEO.
i) Group Operational Risk Committee (GORC)
GORC assists the Group Risk Committee in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank’s operational risk and fraud
risk management responsibilities. Responsibility areas of the GORC include identifying, measuring, managing,
reporting of the Bank’s operational risk and fraud risk profile.
j) Information Security Committee (InfoSec Committee)
Information Security Committee assists the BRCC and the GRC in overseeing, reviewing and taking decisions on the
implementation of FAB’s security controls to ensure that information assets of the Bank are adequately protected.
It also serves as an independent and objective governance forum which ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Bank’s information security framework.

3.3 Group Risk
FAB has a centralized risk management function – Group Risk Management which is led by the GCRO. The function
comprises of Enterprise Risk Management Unit, Credit Risk Management Unit, Operational Risk Management Unit,
Fraud Risk Management Unit, Market & Liquidity Risk Management Unit, Information Security & Business
Continuity Management, Group Compliance, Group Legal & Corporate Governance and Risk Integration and
Portfolio Analytics unit. It is the nerve center for collection of data, analysis of risk drivers, interpretation of
outcome and its wide dissemination to relevant committees for risk management. Following diagram provides
Group Risk and Compliance Organization Structure at FAB.
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4. Risk Appetite
Risk Appetite of a bank is the single most important factor in determination of risk tolerance and setting risk target
and risk limits across various dimensions and risk types. It reflects an organization’s risk management philosophy
and in turn influences its culture and operating style. Risk Appetite, if properly articulated, understood and
implemented proves to be the cornerstone of an organization’s ERM framework. The risk appetite framework for
FAB has been developed using the top down approach.
The entire risk appetite framework has been designed & implemented through three tiered mechanism. This
methodology has been approved by the Executive Management Committee and the BRCC. As per this
methodology FAB has adopted a three-tiered structure for the Risk Appetite Framework. The Tier 1 & Tier 2
framework was reviewed and enhanced for the changes in risk metrics and thresholds based on changes in
business model and budgetary targets. The brief description of the three-tiered structure is given hereunder:
1. Tier 1 - FAB Level: This level pertains to the risk appetite at the FAB level which includes business groups,
support groups and material subsidiaries. A comprehensive set of risk & performance metrics have been provided;
these have been classified as primary metrics, and monitoring metrics. In addition, there are some qualitative and
zero tolerance metrics articulated at FAB level.
2. Tier 2 - Business & Support Groups: In line with the leading industry practices, FAB level risk appetite is
cascaded down to individual business groups and subsidiaries. Tier 2 signifies the cascading of Group level metrics
down to the business such as CIB, PB&W, GT, International Locations, and Subsidiaries etc. In line with the leading
industry practices, FAB level risk appetite is cascaded down to individual support groups such as Legal, Information
Security, Human resource, COO etc. Tier 2 for support function will get operationalize subsequently. Risk appetite
would further be cascaded down one level (referred to as Tier 2.5) to business sub units or sub segments.
3. Tier 3 - Embedding and implementation of Risk Appetite: In order to implement the Risk Appetite Framework,
the above-mentioned risk appetite metrics have been embedded in respective policies and procedures, KPIs and
balance scorecards, and risk MIS.

5. Capital Management
The Group is governed by CBUAE guidelines on regulatory capital requirements on a consolidated basis, including
all its subsidiaries and overseas branches. In addition to capital management at Group level, the overseas branches
and subsidiaries are directly supervised by their local regulators for operations carried out by those specific
entities.
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1. Information on Subsidiaries & Significant investments
Country of Incorporation

% Ownership

Description

Accounting Treatment

Subsidiaries
First Abu Dhabi Bank USA N.V. (formerly NBAD Americas N.V.)
FAB Securities LLC
Abu Dhabi National Leasing LLC
Abu Dhabi National Properties PJSC
FAB Private Bank (Suisse) SA
First Abu Dhabi Islamic Finance Pvt. JSC
Abu Dhabi Securities Brokerage Egypt
National Bank of Abu Dhabi Malaysia Berhad
NBAD Employee Share Options Limited
SAS 10 Magellan
National Bank of Abu Dhabi Representações Ltda
NBAD Financial Markets (Cayman) Limited
Nawat Management Services - One Man Company LLC
Mismak Properties Co. LLC (Mismak)
Moora Properties Co LLC (Subsidiary of Mismak)
First Merchant International LLC (FMI)
FAB Employment Services (Subsidiary of FMI)
FAB Resourcing Services (Subsidiary of FMI)
FAB Sukuk Company Limited
FGB Sukuk Company II Limited
First Gulf Libyan Bank
FGB Global Markets Cayman Limited
FAB Properties LLC
Aseel Finance PJSC
Dubai First PJSC
First Gulf Information Technology LLC
FAB investment KSA ( Single Shareholder LLC)

Curacao
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
Switzerland
United Arab Emirates
Egypt
Malaysia
United Arab Emirates
France
Brazil
Cayman Islands
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands
Libya
Cayman Islands
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
96%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
67%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Banking
Brokerage
Leasing
Property Management
Banking
Islamic Finance
Brokerage
Banking
Shares and Securities
Leasing
Representative office
Financial Institution
Services
Real estate investments
Real estate investments
Real estate investments
Resourcing Services
Resourcing Services
Special purpose vehicle
Special purpose vehicle
Banking services
Financial Institution
Management and brokerage of real estate properties
Islamic finance
Credit card finance
IT Services
Financial Institution

United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates

16%
30%
23%

Real Estate Management / Investments
Investments and Payment Service Schemes
Financial Institution

Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation
Full Consolidation

Significant Investments
Midmak Properties LLC
Mercury Payments Services LLC
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC
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Invesment
Invesment
Invesment

2. CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL STRUCTURE
All numbers in AED 000s
Details
Capital Base

Summary Note and References

Amount

1. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) Capital
1.1 Share Capital

Note 25 of Financial statements

1.2 Share premium account

10,897,545
53,188,043

1.3 Eligible Reserves

8,778,913

1.4 Retained Earnings / (-) Loss

8,614,013

1.5 Eligible amount of minority interest

361,722

1.6 Capital shortfall if any

-

CET1 capital Before the regulatory adjustments and threshold deduction

81,840,236

1.7 Less: Regulatory deductions

Goodwill, intangible assets & DTA

1.8 Less: Threshold deductions

20,902,078
-

Total CET1 capital after the regulatory adjustments and threshold deduction

60,938,159

2. Additional Tier 1 (AT1) Capital
2.1 Eligible AT1 capital (After grandfathering)

Note 26 of Financial statements

10,754,750

2.2 Other AT1 Capital e.g. (Share premium, minority interest)
Total AT1 capital

10,754,750

3. Tier 2 (T2) Capital
3.1 Tier 2 Instruments e.g. subordinated loan (After grandfathering and/or amortization)

Note 23 of Financial statements (90% grandfathering)

3.2 Other Tier 2 capital (including General Provisions, etc.) 1

Note 25 (v) - Capped at 1.25% of CRWA

Total T2 Capital

361,782
5,340,017
5,701,799

Total Regulatory Capital

77,394,707
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3. CAPITAL ADEQUACY
All numbers in AED 000s
Quantitative Disclosures
Capital Requirement
RWA

Capital Charge Capital Ratio%

1. Credit Risk - Standardized Approach

427,201,365

53,400,171

2. Market Risk - Standardized Approach

29,475,312

3,684,414

3. Operation Risk

35,696,011

4,462,001

35,696,011

4,462,001

492,372,688

61,546,586

a. Basic Indicator Approach
b. Standardised Approach/ASA
c. Advanced Measurement Approach
Total Capital requirements
Capital Ratio
a. CET1 ratio only for top consolidated Group

12.4%

b. Tier 1 ratio only for top consolidated

14.6%

c. Total for Top consolidated Group

15.7%
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4(a). Qualitative Disclosures - Risk Management
Definition of past due and impaired (for accounting purposes)
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
- The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
- For retail, a facility or any material credit obligation to the Group is more than 90 days past due;
- Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount
outstanding.
Description of approaches followed for specific and general allowances and statistical methods
Specific
Under IFRS9, equivalent of CBUAE Specific Provision is Stage 3 ECL, which is the allowance that captures the lifetime expected credit losses for impaired assets.
The Bank reviews its impaired assets on a regular basis to assess the amount of Stage 3 ECL required to be recorded in the consolidated income statement. As per
the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the CBUAE specific provision and general/collective provision cumulatively is higher
than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the differential should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained
earnings. This Impairment Reserve should be split to that which relates to difference in specific provision and general/collective provision.
To assess the amount of specific provision required for Stage 3 assets the Bank follows UAE Central Bank circular 28/2010 wherein specific provisions are taken for
'Substandard', 'Doubtful' and 'Loss' grades as per the circular.
General
Under IFRS9, equivalent of CBUAE General Provision is Stage 1 and Stage 2 ECL, which is measured based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination as
described below:
- Stage 1 – Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months
expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit loss is computed using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instruments with
a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.
- Stage 2 – When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to be impaired, i.e. Stage 3, it is included in Stage 2.
This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.
As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, the Bank compares the IFRS9 ECL for Stage 1 and Stage 2 with the CBUAE General
Provision requirement which is calculated as per the UAE Central Bank circular 28/2010 based on the total Credit Risk Weighted Assets (CRWA) and accordingly
create an Impairment Reserve.
Discussion of Bank’s credit risk management policy
Credit risk identification and assessment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising three levels of defense. The first level of
defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaining a sound credit quality of assets in line with the approved business strategy and credit risk
appetite. The second level of defense is with the Group Credit Unit that assesses the risk on a customer & facility level and ensures proper documentation of
customer, facility and security documents along with Group Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a portfolio basis and maintains credit risk policies
and credit risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts as a third level of defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the
compliance with policies and procedures of the Group. The unit also reviews the policy documents on a regular basis. For further details on the Bank's risk
management framework please refer to Note 5 in the consolidated financial statements.
Partial adoption of Foundation IRB / Advanced IRB
Approach
Description of exposures
Standardized Approach
As per Basel Categorization

Plans and timing of migration to implement fully higher approach
FAB is already on Standardized approach.
In addition to the RWA calculation as per the Standardized approach of Basel, the Bank also
has completed development and testing of new generation CIB models for entire FAB
portfolio. The models are scheduled to be deployed on rating platform during 2019. The
bank also has the model validation process duly approved by Group Risk Committee.

Foundation IRB

As per Basel Categorization

In the CIB portfolio, the Bank has ORR / PD models for major industries in Corporate
portfolio, Banks & FI model, NBFC model, High Networth Individual model, Commercial
clients model (Mid sized SMEs) and Specialized Lending model suite. Most of these models
have been built and validated on Bank's own portfolio data while the Banks / FI, NBFC and
Specialized lending models have been sourced externally. Detailed documentation pertaining
to model development, testing, validation, use-testing and governance are under
development.
In the PB portfolio, the bank has completed development of score cards for significant
portfolios, i.e., Credit Card & Personal Loans. The models for other segments: Auto Loans,
Mortgages, Overdrafts, Business Loans are under development for the new bank. Bank has
developed application and behavioral scorecards for these portfolios to enable initial
assessment as well as ongoing credit programs for existing customers.

Advanced IRB

As per Basel Categorization

Currently the Bank doesn't have in house models for LGD and EAD modeling for its portfolio.
The models required for IFRS 9 purposes have been externally sourced. The in house models
for the same shall be planned as per CBUAE timelines and as per Bank's internal planning for
AIRB transition.
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4(b). Gross Credit Exposure by Currency
All numbers in AED 000s
Commitments
Currency

Loans

Debt Securities

Other Exposures

Total Funded
without ccf

Foreign Currency

209,716,978

AED

157,339,513

Provisions

(13,851,263)

Total

353,205,228

101,654,864

with ccf

Notional
Amount

Positive Fair
Value

Credit Risk
Exposure

without ccf

with ccf

Total Non Funded
(Credit Risk
exposure)

Total

198,002,741

509,374,583

38,095,986

11,384,621

1,860,308,923

12,471,118

26,146,711

111,044,715

49,346,455

86,877,787

596,252,371

42,622,431

199,961,944

7,563,616

1,756,570

81,633,354

613,075

1,513,866

54,090,259

24,843,745

28,114,181

228,076,126

240,625,173

695,485,265

165,134,974

74,190,201

114,991,969

810,477,234

(13,851,263)
101,654,864

Other Off Balance Sheet
exposures

OTC Derivatives

45,659,602

13,141,191
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1,941,942,277

13,084,192

27,660,577

(13,851,263)

4(c). Gross Credit Exposure by Geographical Distribution
All numbers in AED 000s
Commitments
Geographical Region

Loans

Debt Securities

Other Exposures

OTC Derivatives

Other Off Balance Sheet Exposures

Total Funded
without ccf

with ccf

Notional Amount

Positive Fair
Value

Credit Risk
exposure

without ccf

with ccf

Total Non
Funded
(Credit Risk
Exposure)

Total

230,883,880

37,151,221

61,660,614

329,695,715

24,865,542

5,549,705

230,018,491

1,726,108

3,944,064

118,693,398

48,245,910

57,739,678

387,435,393

20,674,736

14,655,815

7,043,610

42,374,161

3,868,557

1,144,948

122,844,540

806,622

2,018,604

5,379,230

2,359,333

5,522,885

47,897,047

8,844,073

3,488,410

10,127,189

22,459,672

334,406

136,668

11,248,287

155,546

229,282

1,587,782

812,366

1,178,316

23,637,988

31,483,051

15,633,065

3,219,718

50,335,833

3,659,085

1,407,713

68,348,145

1,302,345

1,514,558

7,755,276

3,639,218

6,561,490

56,897,323

Africa

2,976,785

556,552

1,270,234

4,803,571

1,400,331

286,953

298,268

2,644

5,627

122,546

62,611

355,191

5,158,762

North America

9,235,637

10,658,654

61,876,807

81,771,098

2,750,811

1,209,828

3,584,195

4,842

38,382

11,488,551

7,444,099

8,692,310

90,463,407

South America

20,359,434

222,842

21,162,439

110,181

285,389

467,644

308,563

650,883

21,320,260

United Arab Emirates
GCC excluding UAE
Arab League (excluding GCC)
Asia

Caribbean
Europe
Australia
Others

353,783

87,100

20,669,377

284,658

56,932

132,660

486,443

841,162

168,232

-

40,954,112

18,711,497

95,117,296

154,782,905

7,422,210

3,063,790

1,478,031,230

1,290,897

576,808

89,945

1,957,650

232,841

116,420

6,406,682

102

Provisions

(13,851,263)

Total

353,205,228

101,654,864

240,625,173

8,975,904

12,713
19,536,920

19,593,289

11,296,530

180,945

667,389

33,897,240

188,680,146
2,149,108

-

75,039

-

-

191,459

102

-

-

-

-

-

47,258

21,570

21,570

(13,851,263)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

695,485,265

45,659,602

13,141,191
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1,941,942,277

13,084,192

27,660,577

165,134,974

74,190,201

21,673
(13,851,263)

114,991,969

810,477,233

4(d). Gross Credit Exposure by Industry Segment
All numbers in AED 000s
Commitments
Industry Segment

Loans

Debt Securities

Other exposures

313,175

OTC Derivatives

Total Funded
without ccf

Agriculture, Fishing & Related activities

Other Off Balance Sheet
exposures

1,549

314,724

with ccf

-

-

Notional
Amount

Positive Fair
Value

7,304,919

Credit Risk
exposure

10,675

110,534

without ccf
64,986

Total Non
Funded
(Credit Risk
exposure)

with ccf
28,308

Total

138,842

453,566

Crude Oil, Gas, Mining & Quarrying

27,799,031

10,000,630

401,138

38,200,798

5,543,524

1,353,355

6,609,693

110,412

156,987

3,665,342

1,938,250

3,448,591

41,649,389

Manufacturing

23,949,920

173,033

720,046

24,842,999

5,704,950

1,818,960

17,663,944

1,148,809

702,526

16,874,142

10,212,074

12,733,560

37,576,559

7,275,326

4,034,074

54,367

11,363,766

2,175,377

474,457

5,342,415

534,356

611,060

3,625,256

2,745,231

3,830,749

15,194,515

Electricity & Water

106,055,727

1,479,741

1,052,204

108,587,672

8,349,288

3,268,156

18,653,558

208,873

707,611

43,987,136

23,604,107

27,579,874

136,167,546

Trade

22,882,591

75,938

2,568,793

25,527,322

2,686,769

658,326

22,550,026

145,985

447,132

12,242,586

5,528,343

6,633,801

32,161,124

Transport, Storage & Communication

25,337,423

4,670,975

192,183

30,200,580

3,702,437

951,147

18,993,161

349,616

683,298

8,098,105

4,509,393

6,143,838

36,344,418

Financial Services

57,316,389

36,803,006

50,277,307

144,396,702

3,718,900

1,147,654

1,770,661,903

9,784,743

22,621,324

20,472,868

11,244,720

35,013,698

179,410,400

Other Services

22,351,610

101,649

1,747,432

24,200,691

6,187,837

1,702,330

72,713,871

642,769

1,455,628

10,883,709

5,247,406

8,405,364

32,606,055

5,780,419

44,315,819

181,735,082

231,831,320

6,610,027

1,322,005

1,155,833

147,349

156,085

45,158,361

9,095,775

10,573,866

242,405,186

67,551,820

828,302

68,380,122

980,495

444,801

292,955

606

8,392

62,482

36,593

489,787

68,869,909

443,061

1,046,769

Real Estate & Construction

Government
Retail / Consumer Banking
All Others
Provisions

(13,851,263)

Total

353,205,228

101,654,864

240,625,173

1,489,831

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,489,831

(13,851,263)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(13,851,263)

695,485,265

45,659,602

13,141,191
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1,941,942,277

13,084,192

27,660,577

165,134,974

74,190,201

114,991,969

810,477,233

4(e). Gross Credit Exposure by Residual Contract Maturity
All numbers in AED 000s
Commitments
Residual Maturity

Loans

Debt Securities

Other exposures

OTCDerivatives

Total Funded
without ccf

with ccf

Notional Amount

Positive Fair
Value

Credit Risk
exposure

Other Off Balance Sheet Exposures Total Non Funded
(Credit Risk
exposure)
without ccf
with ccf

Total

Less than 3 months

72,847,544

7,103,777

207,080,395

287,031,716

12,887,474

3,363,843

427,178,842

1,532,117

4,231,206

75,782,817

40,399,487

47,994,535

335,026,251

3 months to one year

49,905,144

9,551,659

28,861,627

88,318,430

23,726,362

5,254,465

532,484,103

1,705,972

3,388,493

19,340,637

8,728,913

17,371,871

105,690,301

One to five years

137,529,725

44,066,779

4,266,280

185,862,784

8,647,611

4,323,806

694,138,390

5,207,297

19,617,531

43,040,599

15,366,901

39,308,238

225,171,022

Over five years

106,774,078

40,932,650

416,870

148,123,598

398,154

199,077

288,140,942

4,638,806

423,348

26,970,921

9,694,899

10,317,324

158,440,922

101,654,864

240,625,173

695,485,265

45,659,602

13,141,191

1,941,942,277

165,134,974

74,190,201

114,991,969

Provisions

(13,851,263)

Grand Total

353,205,228

(13,851,263)

-
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13,084,192

27,660,577

-

(13,851,263)
810,477,233

4(f). Impaired Loans by Industry Segment
Industry Segment

Overdue / Impaired Assets
Overdue

Agriculture, Fishing & Related activities

385

Crude Oil, Gas, Mining & Quarrying

-

Impaired Assets

All numbers in AED 000s
Adjustments

Provisions

Total Funded

1,477

1,862

-

-

IIS

Stage 3
65

1,469

Stage 1 & 2
3,122

-

Writeoffs

Write Backs

430

-

-

-

217,864

452,119

669,983

29,279

268,395

229,710

278,441

-

4,810

80,830

85,640

1,507

30,316

480,057

23,836

-

7,037,297

5,454,386

12,491,683

1,093,327

1,975,713

2,183,630

581,063

-

Trade

335,546

1,491,210

1,826,756

104,921

950,142

250,770

886,533

-

Transport, Storage & Communication

137,559

153,271

290,830

65,301

76,465

73,312

46,220

-

31,629

302,490

334,119

10,713

154,491

243,657

101,836

-

886,928

437,939

1,324,867

68,426

267,794

318,340

526,804

-

8,698

10,080

18,778

395

9,758

2,355

3,581,006

5,044,459

8,625,465

587,615

2,531,765

1,792,066

2,420,053

-

169,095

38,087

207,181

6,465

28,193

11,726

25,330

-

12,410,817

13,466,347

25,877,164

1,968,015

6,294,502

5,588,746

4,890,545

-

Manufacturing
Electricity & Water
Real Estate & Construction

Financial Services
Other Services
Government (including Public Sector)
Retail / Consumer Banking
All Others
Total

-

To mitigate credit risk emanated from impaired loans Bank hold various type of collateral in the form of lien over deposits, cash margins, equities, bank guarantees, machinery &
equipment, mortgaged properties, motor vehicles, shipping vessels, aircrafts etc. As of year end 2018, 60% of impaired loans (AED 8.2B) are covered by a collateral coverage of up to
50%. The remaining 40% (AED 5.3B) impaired loans have a collateral coverage of 50% and above.
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-

4(g). Impaired Loans by Geographical Distribution
Overdue / Impaired Assets
Geographical Region
United Arab Emirates
GCC excluding UAE
Arab League (excluding GCC)
Asia

Overdue

South America
Caribbean
Europe
Australia
Total

IIS

Impaired Assets

Total Funded

11,544,794

12,095,271

23,640,065

1,842,871

5,480,729

4,711,806

4,338,995

686,784

951,652

1,638,437

79,022

584,985

241,111

77,276

72,910

239,866

312,776

44,671

107,264

44,649

2

100,705

123,981

224,686

-

90,873

552,084

376,048

2

-

-

10,142

22,084

15

2,452

-

2

2

Africa
North America

All numbers in AED 000s
Adjustments

Provisions

1,436

3,526

-

2

3,492
687
7
12,410,817

Stage 3

4,962

27

Stage 1 & 2

Writeoffs

2

-

2,165

-

-

3,492

-

-

5,086

-

52,048

52,735

1,424

30,635

19,128

76,139

-

-

13,466,347

- 19-

7
25,877,164

1,968,015

6,294,502

125
5,588,746

4,890,545

Write Backs

-

4(h). Reconciliation of changes in Provisions for Impaired Loans
All numbers in AED 000s
Description
Opening Balance of Provisions for Impaired Loans
Add:

12,728,111

Charge for the year
• Corporate, Retail Specific provisions

1,344,588

• Corporate, Retail and International Division General provisions
• Impact of Accounting Policy alignment
Less:

Write-off of impaired loans

Less:

Recovery of loan loss provisions

Less:

Recovery of loans previously written-off

Less:

Notional Interest on Impaired Loans & Advances

Less:

Write-back of provisions for loans

469,235
3,099,954
(4,872,678)

-

Adjustments of loan loss provisions (acquired in business combination)
Closing Balance of Provisions for Impaired Loans

12,769,210
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4(i). Basel II Portfolio as per Standardized Approach
All numbers in AED 000s
ON BALANCE SHEET

ASSET CLASSES

See Basel II, June 2006, Para 50 to 81, and Central Bank National Discretions
CLAIMS ON SOVEREIGNS
CLAIMS ON NON-CENTRAL GOVERNMENT PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES (PSEs)
CLAIMS ON MULTI LATERAL DEVELOPMENT BANKS
CLAIMS ON BANKS
CLAIMS ON SECURITIES FIRMS
CLAIMS ON CORPORATES
CLAIMS INCLUDED IN THE REGULATORY RETAIL PORTFOLIO
CLAIMS SECURED BY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY
CLAIMS SECURED BY COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE
PAST DUE LOANS
HIGHER-RISK CATEGORIES
OTHER ASSETS
CLAIMS ON SECURITISED ASSETS
CREDIT DERIVATIVES (Banks Selling protection)
TOTAL CLAIMS

GROSS
OUTSTANDING
245,118,675
3,111,700
3,463,337
114,881,241
4,533,508
216,212,766
56,123,185
15,350,549
59,234,395
12,031,244
1,905,592
23,910,516
3,961,436
759,838,142

Interest in
Suspense and
Specific
Provisions
346,257
329,952
82,188
236,424
6,782,305
195
7,777,322

CREDIT RISK MITIGATION (CRM)

OFF BALANCE SHEET
NET
OUTSTANDING
245,118,675
3,111,700
3,463,337
114,881,241
4,533,508
215,866,509
55,793,232
15,268,361
58,997,970
5,248,939
1,905,592
23,910,321
3,961,436
752,060,820

CRM includes collateral in the form of cash, equities and financial guarantees
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NET EXPOSURE AFTER
CREDIT CONVERSION
FACTORS (CCF)
10,200,936
1,948,160
33,683
22,897,705
7,324,862
69,043,260
483,704
1,367,464
772,322
401
114,072,497

EXPOSURE
BEFORE CRM
AFTER CCF*
255,319,610
5,059,860
3,497,020
137,778,946
11,858,369
284,909,770
56,276,936
15,268,361
60,365,435
5,248,939
2,677,914
23,910,722
3,961,436
866,133,317

CRM
3,237,569
56,504,807
8,136,376
12,403,629
2,761,670
62,464
2,169,065
184,876
85,460,457

EXPOSURE
AFTER CRM
AND CCF
252,082,041
5,059,860
3,497,020
81,274,140
3,721,993
272,506,140
53,515,265
15,205,897
58,196,369
5,064,063
2,677,914
23,910,722
3,961,436
780,672,861

Reduction in RWA RISK WEIGHTED
through
ASSETS
Guarantees held
as CRM
10,404,663
716,601
44,699,772
2,155,697
4,080,928
237,986,105
1,276,432
43,595,614
7,437,672
58,196,369
5,987,261
4,016,871
11,074,637
930,104
5,357,360
427,201,365

5. Basel II Portfolio as per Standardized Approach (Rated / Unrated)
All numbers in AED 000s
ON BALANCE SHEET
Asset Class

CLAIMS ON SOVEREIGNS
CLAIMS ON NON-CENTRAL GOVERNMENT PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES (PSEs)
CLAIMS ON MULTI LATERAL DEVELOPMENT BANKS
CLAIMS ON BANKS
CLAIMS ON SECURITIES FIRMS
CLAIMS ON CORPORATES
CLAIMS INCLUDED IN THE REGULATORY RETAIL PORTFOLIO
CLAIMS SECURED BY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY
CLAIMS SECURED BY COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE
PAST DUE LOANS
HIGHER-RISK CATEGORIES
OTHER ASSETS
CLAIMS ON SECURITISED ASSETS
CREDIT DERIVATIVES (Banks Selling protection)
Grand Total

NET EXPOSURE AFTER CREDIT CONVERSION
FACTORS (CCF)

NET

GROSS
Total
245,118,675
3,111,700
3,463,337
114,881,241
4,533,508
216,212,766
56,123,185
15,350,549
59,234,395
12,031,244
1,905,592
23,910,516
3,961,436
0
759,838,142

OFF BALANCE SHEET

Rated
237,039,740
1,564,254
2,293,809
106,635,747
4,108,887
45,795,525
0
0
0
0
0
9,986,194
3,961,436
0
411,385,592

Unrated
8,078,935
1,547,447
1,169,528
8,245,494
424,621
170,070,984
55,793,232
15,268,361
58,997,970
5,248,939
1,905,592
13,924,126
0
0
340,675,229

Total
245,118,675
3,111,700
3,463,337
114,881,241
4,533,508
215,866,509
55,793,232
15,268,361
58,997,970
5,248,939
1,905,592
23,910,321
3,961,436
0
752,060,820

Rated
10,200,936
0
0
20,013,261
7,239,929
13,780,756
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
51,234,882

Unrated
1,948,160
33,683
2,884,444
84,933
55,262,504
483,704
1,367,464
772,322
401
62,837,615

Total
10,200,936
1,948,160
33,683
22,897,705
7,324,862
69,043,260
483,704
0
1,367,464
0
772,322
401
0
0
114,072,497
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EXPOSURE BEFORE CRM

Rated
247,240,675
1,564,254
2,293,809
126,649,009
11,348,816
59,576,281
0
0
0
0
0
9,986,194
3,961,436
0
462,620,474

Unrated
8,078,934.69
3,495,607
1,203,211
11,129,938
509,553
225,333,488
56,276,936
15,268,361
60,365,435
5,248,939
2,677,914
13,924,527
0
0
403,512,843

Total
255,319,610
5,059,860
3,497,020
137,778,946
11,858,369
284,909,770
56,276,936
15,268,361
60,365,435
5,248,939
2,677,914
23,910,722
3,961,436
0
866,133,317

CRM

Total
3,237,569
0
0
56,504,807
8,136,376
12,403,629
2,761,670
62,464
2,169,065
184,876
0
0
0
0
85,460,457

EXPOSURE AFTER CRM

Rated
247,240,675
1,564,254
2,293,809
70,144,202
3,212,440
59,576,281
0
0
0
0
0
9,986,194
3,961,436
0
397,979,291

Unrated
4,841,365
3,495,607
1,203,211
11,129,938
509,553
212,929,859
53,515,265
15,205,897
58,196,369
5,064,063
2,677,914
13,924,527
0
0
382,693,569

Total
252,082,041
5,059,860
3,497,020
81,274,140
3,721,993
272,506,140
53,515,265
15,205,897
58,196,369
5,064,063
2,677,914
23,910,722
3,961,436
0
780,672,861

Reduction in RWA
through
Guarantees held
as CRM
Total
0
0
0
0
0
4,080,928
1,276,432
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5,357,360

RWA

Rated
5,481,425
0
716,601
40,783,536
1,646,143
23,282,191

109,774
930,104
72,949,775

Unrated
4,923,237
0
0
3,916,235
509,553
214,703,914
43,595,614
7,437,672
58,196,369
5,987,261
4,016,871
10,964,863

354,251,591

Total
10,404,663
0
716,601
44,699,772
2,155,697
237,986,105
43,595,614
7,437,672
58,196,369
5,987,261
4,016,871
11,074,637
930,104
0
427,201,365

6. Credit Risk Mitigation - Disclosures for Standardized Approach
All numbers in AED 000s
Quantitative Disclosures

Exposures

Risk Weighted Assets

Gross Exposure prior to Credit Risk Mitigation

866,133,317

Less:

Exposure covered by on-balance sheet netting

20,625,208

Less:

Exposures covered by Eligible Financial Collateral

64,835,249

Less:

Exposures covered by Guarantees

Less:

Exposures covered by Credit Derivatives

7,121,142

1,763,782

-

Net Exposures after Credit Risk Mitigation

775,315,501
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427,201,365

7. Counterparty Credit Risk Exposure
All numbers in AED 000s
FX and Gold
Asset Class
Claims on Sovereigns
Claims on Public Sector Entities
Claims on Multilateral development banks
Claims on Banks
Claims on Securities Firms
Claims on Corporate
Regulatory & Other Retail Exposure

Gross

MTM

273,753
-

37

IRS
Gross Credit
Exposure
2,738

Gross

Equities

MTM

678,343

Gross

MTM
-

-

Gross Credit
Exposure
-

Gross

MTM

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

773,266

5,521

7,733

550,950

17,675

2,755

-

-

-

-

-

439,693,734

1,608,992

5,592,284

626,250,660

3,588,959

3,301,241

7,473

56,808

19,408

660,338,571

4,115,996

3,092,180

-

-

716,910

-

-

145,910

Gross Credit
Exposure
10,175

Commodities

946,445
144,023

2,963,983
1,905,266

69,116
544,467

Gross Credit
Exposure
367,405
-

52,728,642

310,390

1,000,576

146,402,381

2,150,195

1,133,594

1,030

8,641

88,937

98

889

1,151,942

5,252

12,720

-

-

-

25,344

-

197,920
3,434

Residential Retail Exposure

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Commercial Real Estate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Past Due Assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

High Risk Category

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other Assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Claims on Securitised Assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Credit Derivatives (Banks selling protection)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,504

65,449

Grand Total

494,275,241

1,925,039

6,623,627

1,435,372,846

10,023,987
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7,552,664

1,090,469

4,894,593

613,583

568,759

8. Market Risk - Capital Requirements under Standardized Approach
All numbers in AED 000s
Market Risk

Amount

Interest rate risk

1,765,536

Equity position risk

64,380

Foreign exchange risk

386,165

Commodity risk

4,329

Options Risk

874,502

Total Capital Requirement

3,094,912
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9. Equity Position
All numbers in AED 000s
As at 31 December 2017, the bank's total equity investment portfolio amounted to AED 2,400 M, 19.3% of which represents quoted investments. For details of
the accounting policies and valuation methodology, please refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements under 'Significant Accounting Policies'.
Details of cost, market and fair value are reported in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements under "Investments".
b) Quantitative Disclosures
1. QUANTITATIVE DETAILS OF EQUITY POSITION:
Current Year
Type
Publicly Traded
Privately Held
Equities
325,796
146,834
Collective investment schemes
14,257
1,813,065
Any other investment
0
0
Total
340,053
1,959,899

Previous Year
Publicly Traded

Privately Held
234,364
1,703,524
0
1,937,888

450,356
11,743
0
462,099

2. REALISED, UNREALISED AND LATENT REVALUATION GAINS (LOSES) DURING THE YEAR:
Gains (Losses)
Realised gains (losses) from sales and liquidations
*Unrealised gains (losses) recognised in the balance sheet but not through profit and loss account
**Latent revaluation gains (losses) for investment recorded at cost but not recognised in balance sheet or profit and loss account
Total
3. ITEMS IN (2) ABOVE INCLUDED IN TIER 1/TIER 2 CAPITAL:
Tier Capital
Amount included in Tier I capital
Amount included in Tier II capital
Total

Amount
27,576
27,576

Amount
27,576
27,576

4. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS BY EQUITY GROUPINGS:
Grouping
Strategic investments
Available for sale
Held for trading
Total capital requirement

Amount
12,429
59,440
601,680
673,549
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10. Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book
All nos in AED 000s
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the
fair values of financial instruments. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or
gaps in the amounts of interest rate sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive liabilities and off balance
sheet instruments that mature or reprice in a given period. Interest rate risks in the Bank are managed
under a framework comprising Risk Governance and Risk Appetite. The Risk Governance includes the ALM
policy (approved by the Board) within the ambit of ERM policy framework. The Bank uses a combination of
duration gap analysis and scenario analysis pertaining to impact of changes in interest rates on Net Interest
Income and Value of Equity to manage these risks which are reviewed and monitored by ALCO.

Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of defined movements in interest yield curves on
the Bank's net interest income. The following impact on the net interest income and regulatory capital is
for the year in case of an immediate and permanent movement in interest yield curves.
Shift in Yield Curves

Net Interest Income

Regulatory Capital

+200 basis point

1,888,333

(2,131,431)

‐ 200 basis point

(1,888,333)

2,131,431

The above interest rate sensitivities are illustrative only and adopt simplified scenarios. The sensitivities do
not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate the effect of interest rate
movements.
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